

A Comparative Study of European Community Law and the Internal Regulation of the European Institutions in the Spheres of the Physical Working Conditions for Employees, Equality Regarding such Conditions and the Functional Organisation of Work

Authors:

Elaine O'Brien

Michal Kocifaj

Tina Mežnar



Table of Contents

Table of Contents	2
1. INTRODUCTION	c
1. INTRODUCTION	<u>0</u>
1. 1. Purpose of the Report	6
1. 2. Synopsis	8
1. 3. Basic Introduction to European Community Legislative Measures	
<u></u>	
2. PHYSICAL WORKING CONDITIONS	15
2. 1. Introduction.	
2. 2. The Physical Conditions Inherent in the Building	
2. 2. 1. Room Dimensions and Air Space in Rooms: Freedom of Movemen	
Workstation.	<u>19</u>
2. 2. 2. Rest Rooms	
2. 2. 3. First Aid Rooms.	
2. 2. 4. Procedures to be in Place in the Possibility that the Workers are Pu	
Serious and Immediate Danger	27
2. 2. 5. Air Quality	<u>33</u>
2. 3. The Physical Conditions Inside the Building	
2. 3. 1. Room Temperature	41
2. 3. 2. Quality of the Lighting.	<u>43</u>
2. 3. 3. Computer Display Screens	<u>47</u>
_	
	<u>51</u>
3. EQUALITY REGARDING PHYSICAL WORKING CONDITIONS	52
3. 1. Equal Treatment Regarding Physical Working Conditions	52
3. 1. 1. The Basis of Equality law in European Community Law and its Ap	pplication
in the Staff Regulations	-
3. 1. 2. Definition of Direct Discrimination in EC law	54
3. 1. 3. Definition of Indirect Discrimination in EC law	
3. 1. 4. Practical Treatment of Equality Issues in Member States and in the	
Institutions.	-
3. 1. 5. Interim Conclusion.	
3. 2. Equal Treatment Regarding Physical Working Conditions: Disabil	
3. 2. 1. Background to the Inclusion of Disability in Equality Legislation	•
z. z. z. z z z z z z z z z z z z z z z	



3. 2. 2. Definition of the Term "Disability"	<u>60</u>
3. 2. 3. The Duty of the Employer to make "Reasonable Accommodation" for a	
Person with Disability	
3. 2. 4. Interim Conclusion.	
3. 3. Equal Treatment Regarding Physical Working Conditions: Pregnant	
Workers and Workers who have Recently Given Birth	66
3. 3. 1. European Community Law Providing for the Equal Treatment of Pregna	
Workers and Workers who have Recently Given Birth with regards to the Work	
Conditions.	
3. 3. 2. Provisions Regarding European Civil Servants	
3. 3. Interim Conclusions	
3. 4. Equal Treatment Regarding Physical Working Conditions: Religion and	
Place to Worship	
3. 4. 1. The Duty of the Employer to Give Reasonable Consideration to the	
Employees' Religious Needs	74
3. 4. 2. Interim Conclusion.	
5. 1. 2. Interim Conclusion.	
4. FUNCTIONAL ORGANISATION OF WORK	77
WY ON ON THE CHOICE CHOICE CONTROL OF THE CHOICE CONTROL OF THE CO	
4. 1. Introduction	77
4. 2. Functional Organisation of Work: Working Time and Rest Periods	
4. 2. 1. The Scope of Regulation under the European Community Law	
4. 2. 2. Maximum Weekly Working Time	
4. 2. 3. Breaks, Daily and Weekly Rest Periods	
4. 2. 4. Overtime, Shift and Night Work	
4. 2. 5. Part Time Work.	
4. 2. 6. Interim Conclusion.	
4. 3. Functional Organisation of Work: Maternity and paternity leave 96/34/F	
Special directive for United Kingdom 97/75/EC	
4. 3. 1. European Community Law on Parental Leave	
4. 3. 2. Staff Regulations' Provisions on Parental Leave	
4. 3. 3. Interim Conclusion.	
4. 4. Functional Organisation of Work: Annual Leave	
4. 4. 1. European Community Law and its Application in the Staff Regulations	
4. 4. 2. Restriction on "Carry-Over Days" as Provided in the Staff Regulations	
4. 4. 3. Monetary Payment for Annual Leave not used prior to Termination of	
Employment	96
4. 4. Interim Conclusion.	96
4. 5. Sick Leave.	
4. 5. 1. Introductory remarks	
4. 5. 2. Benefits in Cash.	97
4. 5. 3. Sickness Benefits in Kind	98
4. 5. 4. Interim Conclusion	98
4. 6. The Renewal of Fixed-Term Contracts in the Functional Organisation of	
Work	_
4. 6. 1. European Community Law Governing the Renewal of Contracts	



4. 6. 2. Applicable Law to EU Civil Servants on a Fixed-Term Contract	<u>109</u>
4. 6. 3. Interim Conclusion.	
5. GENERAL CONCLUSIONS	116
6. BIBLIOGRAPHY	119
7. TABLE OF LEGISLATION	122
8. TABLE OF LEGISLATION	126
8. 1. European Court of Justice	126
8. 2. European Court of Human Rights	
8. 3. Administrative Tribunal of the International Labour Organisation (I	
Annex I: A Brief Analysis of Article 1e (2) of the EU Staff Regulations	129



1. INTRODUCTION

1. 1. Purpose of the Report

The following report has been prepared by the Amsterdam International Law Clinic upon the request of the Staff Union of the European Patent Office (SUEPO). SUEPO represents the interests of the staff members of the European Patent Office (EPO), which is the executive body of the European Patent Organisation. The EPO has its premises on four locations, namely Berlin, Munich, The Hague and Vienna; and half of their staff is members of SUEPO, which consists of four local sections on the same locations.

The European Patent Organisation was established in 1977 on the basis of the European Patent Convention which was signed four years earlier in Munich.³ It now has 35 Member States.⁴ All of the Member States of the European Union (EU) are also Parties to the European Patent Convention.⁵

As an international organisation, pursuant to the Protocol on Privileges and Immunities, ⁶ the European Patent Organisation has immunity from jurisdiction and execution within the scope of its official activities. ⁷ The legal relationships within international organisations are governed by the internal rules of the organisation and they are not automatically subject to the national legislation of the host States. Accordingly, the employees working for the European Patent Organisation are in a different situation to the workers performing a similar function within the scope of national States. As noted by SUEPO,

¹ The European Patent Office: About Us, *available at:* http://www.epo.org/about-us/office.html (last visited 10 April 2009).

² SUEPO: About US, *available at:* http://www.suepo.org/public/about (last visited 10 April 2009).

³ European Patent Organization: Legal Foundations, *available at:* http://www.epo.org/about-us/epo/legal-foundations.html (last visited 10 April 2009). *See also*: European Patent Convention, *available at:* http://www.epo.org/patents/law/legal-texts/html/epc/1973/e/ma1.html (last visited 10 April 2009).

⁴ *See* European Patent Organization: Legal Foundations, *supra* note 3.

⁵ The European Patent Office: About Us: Member States of the European Patent Organisation, *available at:* http://www.epo.org/about-us/epo/member-states.html (last visited 10 April 2009).

⁶ Protocol on Privileges and Immunities of the European Patent Organisation of 5 October 1973, *available at*: http://www.epo.org/patents/law/legal-texts/html/epc/2000/e/ma5.html (last visited 10 April 2009). ⁷ *Ibid.*, Article 3.



"Unlike similar categories of employees in the national public administration or in private industry, the working conditions of the Staff of the European Patent Office are determined by the Administrative Council of the European Patent Organisation. The result is that a wide range of aspects of labour law normally regulated by national parliaments, is determined by an Administrative Council, which has only limited accountability..."

The European Union is also an international organisation, with the Member States corresponding to the majority of the Member States of the European Patent Organisation which has its offices in three EU Member States, namely Austria, Germany, and the Netherlands. The EU civil servants are similarly not directly governed by the labour law of the Member States in which they work, including labour law provisions of the European Community (EC), but by the Staff Regulations of Officials of the European Communities and Conditions of Employment of other servants of the European Communities (Staff Regulations).

The main purpose of the report is to determine how the EU deals with the discrepancies between the position of the workers in its Member States and the staff of the EU with respect to their working conditions. In accordance with Article 137 of the Treaty Establishing the European Community (EC Treaty),¹² the European Community has significant competences in the field of working conditions.¹³ The Council of the European

⁸ SUEPO: About Us: We Represent Staff Interest, *available at:* http://www.suepo.org/public/about (last visited 10 April 2009).

⁹ SUEPO: About Us: A Union in a patent world, *available at:* http://www.suepo.org/public/about (last visited 10 April 2009).

¹⁰ This affirmation has been the subject of debate (*see for example* Constantin, S. & Jørgensen, N. N., Application of European Community Law to (Staff Members of) The European Patent Organisation, Amsterdam International Law Clinic). However, further analysis of this question is outside of the ambit of this paper and for the purposes of this paper, it will be taken that the EU civil servants are governed solely by the internal regulations. *See also* Annex I of this report for a brief analysis of Article 1 (e) (2) of the Staff Regulations.

¹¹ Regulation No 31 (EEC), 11 (EAEC), laying down the Staff Regulations of Officials and the Conditions of Employment of Other Servants of the European Economic Community and the European Atomic Energy Community (OJ P 45, 14.6.1962, p. 1385), last amended by Council Regulation (EC, Euratom) No 420/2008 of 14 May 2008 adjusting with effect from 1 July 2007 the remuneration and pensions of officials and other servants of the European Communities, *available at:* http://eurlex.europa.eu/LexUriServ/LexUriServ.do?uri=CONSLEG:1962R0031:20080501:EN:PDF (last visited 10 April 2009).

¹² Consolidated Version of the Treaty Establishing the European Community, *available at:* http://eurlex.europa.eu/en/treaties/dat/12002E/pdf/12002E_EN.pdf (last visited 10 April 2009).

¹³ *Ibid.*, Article 137, 1 (b).



Union is entrusted with the power to adopt directives which set minimum requirements and which the Member States have to implement in a prescribed period of time. ¹⁴ The Member States are therefore obliged to respect the minimum standards regarding the working conditions as laid down by the European Community, and they are only allowed to offer a higher – never a lower – level of protection to their workers. Accordingly, the protection demanded by the European Community legislation represents the level of protection common to all the workers in the territory of the EU.

This Report will compare and contrast the relevant EC laws to the regulation of the position of the EU civil servants within the sphere of working conditions. The research aims at addressing those EU civil servants who work within the EU institutions' offices¹⁵ and will include both permanent and fixed-term contract workers in the analysis. The research for this report includes developments up and until 23 April 2009.

¹⁴ *Ibid.*, Article 137, 2.

¹⁵ Those who fall under Article 1 (2) of Directive 89/654/EEC are not included in this research. Article 1 (2) states: "This Directive shall not apply to: (a) means of transport used outside the undertaking and/or the establishment, or workplaces inside means of transport; (b) temporary or mobile work sites; (c) extractive industries; (d) fishing boats; (e) fields, woods and other land forming part of an agricultural or forestry undertaking but situated away from the undertaking's buildings." *See* Council Directive of 30 November 1989 concerning the minimum safety and health requirements for the workplace (first individual directive within the meaning of Article 16 (1) of Directive 89/391/EEC) (89/654/EEC), *available at*: http://eur-lex.europa.eu/smartapi/cgi/sga_doc?smartapi!celexapi!prod! CELEXnumdoc&lg=en&numdoc=31989L0654&model=guichett (last visited 10 April 2009).



1. 2. Synopsis

The report consists of three main parts, each addressing a specific aspect of the regulation of the working conditions as they apply to, on the one hand, the workers in the Member States of the European Union, and on the other hand, to the EU civil servants. Each issue is dealt with in a comparative mode: first, the relevant European Community legislation is presented; and second, if in existence, its equivalent in internal regulations as applied to the EU civil servants. Where possible, reference is also made to the period of time between the release of a particular directive and the incorporation of the same issue in the Staff Regulations. Interim conclusions are given on each issue, establishing the extent to which the regulation regarding EU civil servants corresponds to the EC legislation applicable to the Member States of the EU.

Section 2 looks at the physical working conditions. It is further divided into two subsections, namely the physical working conditions inherent in the building and the physical working conditions inside the building. The first category deals with the physical elements which are part of the building's essential structure and the second category deals with the physical elements which are largely independent of the basic building structure. In the first category, aspects of the physical layout generally have to be planned ahead and established already when the building layout is planned, since they can generally not be regulated once the construction of the building is completed and the purpose of its rooms determined. From this group of physical working conditions, the following categories have been chosen for the comparison: room dimensions and air space in rooms (Section 2. 2. 1.), rest rooms (Section 2. 2. 2.), first aid rooms (Section 2. 2. 3.), procedures to be in place in the possibility that the workers are put in serious and immediate danger (Section 2. 2. 4.) and air quality (Section 2. 2. 5.). The physical working conditions inside the building, on the other hand, are those that can be regulated and adjusted regardless of the layout of the building and its architectural aspects. Examples include room temperature (Section 2. 3. 1.), the quality of the lighting (Section 2. 3. 2.) and computer display screens (Section 2. 3. 3.). It must, however, be noted that

¹⁶ Depending on the issue at hand, such regulation can be found either in the Staff Regulations or in some other relevant documents.



the differentiation between the conditions inherent in the building and those inside the building is not always clear-cut and that therefore certain individual conditions may in practice fall under each of the categories.

Section 3 explores the equality regarding physical working conditions. The reasoning behind this Section is based on the fact that certain categories of workers require different levels of health and safety protection in order for the requirement to maintain appropriate working conditions to be satisfied. Due to the special conditions of these categories of workers, adjustments of the work space may be necessary to grant them the working conditions comparable to those of the other workers and to enable them to perform their job equally well. In this Section, first, a general introduction on the equal treatment regarding physical working conditions is given (Section 3. 1.). Following this, three categories of workers who demand special protection with regards to their physical working conditions are presented: disabled workers (Section 3. 2.), pregnant and breastfeeding workers (Section 3. 3.) and those whose religion necessitates a specific place to worship (Section 3. 4.).

Section 4 presents the functional organisation of work. Some of the selected issues are closely connected to the health and safety of workers, such as the regulation of working time. Other topics take into consideration the functional organisation of work from the perspective of the employer, such as the renewal of fixed-term contracts. This Section outlines a general introduction (Section 4. 1.) and then the provisions dealing with working time and rest periods are first set out (Section 4. 2.). This is followed by an analysis of the regulation of maternity and paternity leave (Section 4. 3.), then annual leave is examined (Section 4. 4.) Subsequently, sick leave is addressed (Section 4. 5.) and finally the issue of the renewal of fixed-term contracts in the functional organisation of work is considered (Section 4. 6.).

In the concluding Section 5, a synopsis of our conclusions from each section is provided. The aim of this Section is to give an overview of the similarities and differences which exist between EC law and the Staff Regulations. Regarding the first Section, the



Commission Manual on Standard Building Specifications globally provides greater and more specific health and safety protection than the equivalent EC legislation. With regard to the other sections, in some areas examined, most notably reasonable accommodation for those with disabilities, organisation of working time, sick leave and annual leave and the limit on the number of successive fixed-term contracts, the Staff Regulations give equivalent and sometimes better protection than EC law. However, *lacunae* were discovered in the areas of the accommodation of pregnant workers and the right to breaks. Also, the justification of the use of fixed-term contracts in the EU Institutions has not been specified in the Staff Regulations while justification is necessary by EC standards. Finally, neither the Staff Regulations nor EC law obliges an employer to provide a place of religious worship for his/her employees.

1. 3. Basic Introduction to European Community Legislative Measures¹⁷

This Section will briefly outline the scope of the EC Treaty¹⁸ and the principal legislative acts used by the EC. The Treaties and secondary legislative acts are the basis of EC law, but their legal standing varies depending on the type of measure. The legislative measures of the EC can be split into measures which are binding on Member States and measures which are not binding on Member States.¹⁹ The legislative acts which have binding force across the Member States (i.e. regulations and directives) do not have binding effect on international organisations within the Community.²⁰ These legislative acts are only binding on the Member States of the Community and the scope of their application is dependent on whether they are directives or regulations. International organisations which are physically present within the EU are not legally bound by these legislative acts.²¹ This includes all of the EU institutions. Any application of EU legislative acts by these bodies is on a voluntary basis and represents an aspiration rather than a legally binding commitment.²²

¹⁷ This is a basic outline of the different forms of EC legislation and it is not exhaustive.

¹⁸ See supra, note 12.

¹⁹ Also known as soft law measures.

²⁰ See supra, note 10.

²¹ Ibid.

²² See Annex I of this report for a brief analysis of Article 1e (2) of the Staff Regulations.



The EC Treaty governs the first pillar of the European Union and is largely supranational.

²³ The Treaty on European Union (EU Treaty)²⁴ governs the second²⁵ and third²⁶ pillars and is based on intergovernmental agreement.

Article 249 EC provides for the secondary legislation which the EC will use in implementing its policies.²⁷ The articles of the EC Treaty have direct effect if they are sufficiently clear and precise.²⁸ The concept of direct effect has sparked much debate both in national and European jurisprudence and scholarship. An in-depth analysis of direct effect is outside the ambit of this study. Still, it is important to understand the basic position of the European Courts regarding direct effect. A broad definition of direct effect was held in the European Court of Justice (ECJ) <u>Van Gend en Loos</u> case,²⁹ where the Court held that Article 12 EC (now Article 25 EC) has direct effect as it does not require any legislative intervention from the Member States and it creates clear rights for the individual which must be protected by the national courts. As pointed out by Craig & De Búrca, "the doctrine of 'direct effect' is applicable at least in principle to all binding Community law including the EC Treaties, secondary legislation..." The meaning of direct effect was further elaborated on:

"The precise meaning of direct effect remains contested. In a broad sense it means that provisions of binding EC law which are clear, precise, and unconditional enough to be considered justiciable can be invoked and relied on by individuals before national courts.

²³ Craig, P. & De Búrca, G., (2003) *EU Law Texts*, *Cases and Materials 3rd Edition*, Oxford: Oxford University Press, pages 3–4. Supranational means that the nation states have transferred powers to another bodies in certain areas..

²⁴ Consolidated Version of the Treaty on European Union, *available at*:

http://eur-lex.europa.eu/en/treaties/dat/12002M/pdf/12002M_EN.pdf (last visited 10 April 2009).

²⁵ Common Foreign and Security Policy. Further discussion of this is outside the scope of this paper.

²⁶ Justice and Home Affairs. Further discussion of this is outside the scope of this paper.

²⁷ EC Treaty, *supra* note 12, Article 249: "In order to carry out their task and in accordance with the provisions of this Treaty, the European Parliament acting jointly with the Council and the Commission shall make regulations and issue directives, take decisions, make recommendations or deliver opinions…"

²⁸ See Case C-26/62, Van Gend en Loos [1963] ECR 13, *available at:* http://eur-lex.europa.eu/LexUriServ/LexUriServ.do?uri=CELEX:61962J0026:EN:HTML (last visited 10 April 2009), para. ii (b). In this case Article 12 of the Treaty Establishing the European Economic Community (EEC Treaty) was held to have direct effect as it contained a clear and unconditional prohibition.

²⁹ Case C-26/62, Van Gend & Loos, *supra* note 28.

³⁰ Craig, P. & De Búrca, G., supra note 23, page 178.



There is also a 'narrower' or classical concept of direct effect which is defined in terms of the capacity of a provision of EC law to *confer rights* on individuals."³¹

Regulations are directly applicable in Member States and have general application.³² They have to be published in the Official Journal and enter into force on the date published therein and in the absence of this, on the twentieth day following publication.³³

Directives are the most commonly used form of EC legislation and may have direct effect in Member States once a period of transposition has passed.³⁴ A notable difference between regulations and directives is that directives are binding as to the objective to be achieved but the choice of national implementation measure is left to the discretion of the Member States. Directives have to be published in the Official Journal.³⁵ A Member State must, as far as possible, interpret its legislation in correspondence with the relevant EC directive.³⁶ This is known as the principle of consistent interpretation. However, as held by the ECJ in <u>Adeneler and Others</u>, the obligation of consistent interpretation only exists after the transposition period.³⁷ Further to previous ECJ case law, directives only have

³¹ *Ibid*.

³² EC Treaty, *supra* note 12, Article 249.

³³ EC Treaty, *supra* note 12, Article 254. As the EC law which is dealt with in this paper consists of directives, a further discussion of regulations is outside of the scope of this paper.

³⁴ This period is specified upon publication of a directive. *See* Case C-148/78, Ratti [1979] ECR 1629, *available at:* http://eur-lex.europa.eu/smartapi/cgi/sga_doc?smartapi!celexplus!prod! CELEXnumdoc&lg=en&numdoc=61978J0148 (last visited 10 April 2009), para. 24.

³⁵ EC Treaty, *supra* note 12, Article 254.

³⁶ Case C-60/02, Rolex [2004] ECR I-00651, *available at*: http://eur-lex.europa.eu/Notice.do? val=287567:cs&lang=en&list=287567:cs,278018:cs,&pos=1&page=1&nbl=2&pgs=10&hwords=&checkte xte=checkbox&visu= (last visited 10 April 2009), para. 59; Case C-91/92, Faccini Dori [1994] ECR I-03325, *available at*: http://eur-lex.europa.eu/smartapi/cgi/sga_doc?smartapi!celexplus!prod! CELEXnumdoc&lg=en&numdoc=61992J0091 (last visited 10 April 2009), para. 26; Joined Cases C-397/01 to C-403/01, Pfeiffer [2004] ECR I-08835, *available at*: http://eur-lex.europa.eu/smartapi/cgi/sga_doc?smartapi!celexplus!prod!

CELEXnumdoc&numdoc=62001J0397&lg=en (last visited 1o April 2009), para. 113. It must be noted here that a provision cannot be interpreted to mean the opposite of what it says.

³⁷ Case C-212/04, Adeneler and Others [2006] ECR I-06057, *available at:* http://curia.europa.eu/jurisp/cgibin/form.pl?lang=en (last visited 13 April 2009), para 115.



vertical direct effect.³⁸ They cannot have horizontal direct effect³⁹ and they cannot have inverse vertical direct effect.⁴⁰ In this report, we will mostly deal with directives.

Decisions are binding in their entirety upon those to whom they are addressed.⁴¹ The addressee needs to be notified⁴² and those which are taken pursuant to Article 251 EC⁴³ must be published in the Official Journal. As with regulations, they take effect from the date specified therein or the twentieth day following their publication.⁴⁴

Soft law measures which are provided for in Article 249 EC are recommendations and opinions.⁴⁵ These have no binding force but are still used to deliver opinions on Treaty matters.⁴⁶ Further to this, other soft law measures which are not provided for in Article 249 EC but are nevertheless used include, *inter alia*, policy guidelines and interinstitutional agreements.⁴⁷

This Section has provided a basic outline of EC law and is not meant to be exhaustive. In consideration of these basic principles, it must be kept in mind that these provisions do not legally bind the EU institutions as regards their own employees. The EU Staff Regulations govern the labour law within the EU institutions and any reference to or application of EC law is on a voluntary basis.⁴⁸

³⁸ Vertical direct effect means direct effect between an individual and the Member State. *See* Case C-148/78, Ratti, *supra* note 34, para. 46.

³⁹ Horizontal direct effect means direct effect between individuals. *See* Case C-91/92, Facini Dori, *supra* note 36, para. 20.

⁴⁰ Vertical direct effect is the direct effect against an individual. *See* Case C-80/86, Kolpinghuis [1987] ECR 03969, *available at:* http://eur-lex.europa.eu/LexUriServ/LexUriServ.do? uri=CELEX:61986J0080:EN:HTML (last visited 10 April 2009), para. 9. *Note:* The direct effect of directives has been the subject of much debate, an elaboration of which is outside the ambit of this report. ⁴¹ EC Treaty, *supra* note 12, Article 249.

⁴² EC Treaty, *supra* note 12, Article 254 (3).

⁴³ This relates to co-decisions taken on the basis of qualified majority voting.

⁴⁴ EC Treaty, *supra* note 12, Article 254 (1). *Note:* Further analysis of Decisions is outside the ambit of this report.

⁴⁵ Further analysis of this is outside the ambit of this report.

⁴⁶ Craig, P. & De Búrca, G., *supra* note 23, p. 116.

⁴⁷ *Ibid.*, p. 84. There has been debate on whether inter-institutional agreements form soft law or not but a further analysis of this and other soft law measures is outside the ambit of this report.

⁴⁸ As mentioned previously, there has been debate on this issue but an elaboration of this is outside of the ambit of this paper. [HEGE: BUT YOU DO BRIEFLY ADDRESS IT IN ANNEX. REFERENCE TO ANNEX.]



2. PHYSICAL WORKING CONDITIONS

2. 1. Introduction

This Section will look at the protection of workers in relation to their physical working conditions. The subsections will analyse the specific physical aspects which principally affect office based workers. The EC law governing the specific areas will be outlined in a comparative way to the non-legally binding document on building specifications in the European Commission, Office for Infrastructure and Logistics Brussels, Manual of Standard Building Specifications.⁴⁹

As specified by the Office for Infrastructure and Logistics in Brussels (OIB), this document is the reference for the Commission services and the external intermediaries in the property market.⁵⁰ It is interesting to note that in the introduction to the section on building systems, it is explicitly stated that "installations must be fully compliant with the relevant standards and regulations, in particular: the relevant EU directives..."⁵¹ The use of imperative language here leaves no doubt to the fact that Community law governing this area is accepted as the basis within the European Commission. Furthermore, the Commission website, in the section on 'Memo Questions and Answers – Commission buildings policy', declares that the Commission is fully compliant with Belgian legislation and does not enjoy any derogation.⁵² However, the Commission Manual on Building Specifications is not a legal document and any statement therein, even if it appears to be a legal assertion, does not have the force of law. This is further evidenced from its explicit description of itself as a reference point.⁵³

⁴⁹ European Commission, Office for Infrastructure and Logistics Brussels, Manual of Standard Building Specifications, *available at:* http://ec.europa.eu/oib/pdf/mit2004_en.pdf (last visited 10 April 2009). *Note:* There is no reference to the specifications for the buildings within the Staff Regulations. It is not certain that further documentation for the other European Institutions exists, but nevertheless if it does, we were not able to obtain it.

⁵⁰ *Ibid.*, p. 4.

⁵¹ *Ibid.*, p. 173.

⁵² Europa Website, Press Office, Communication from the Press RAPID, Memo Questions and Answers – Commission buildings policy, *available at:* http://europa.eu/rapid/pressReleasesAction.do? reference=MEMO/07/341&format=HTML&aged=1&language=EN&guiLanguage=fr (last visited 10 April 2009).

⁵³ Manual of Standard Building Specifications, *supra* note 49, Section A. General, Preface, p. 4.



Despite the fact that this document is not legally binding, it still has importance in this comparative study. Following from the abovementioned statement from the OIB, this document provides the specifications for the Commission's buildings and their internal physical features.

The EC law in the area of physical working conditions for office based workers is primarily based on the Directive 89/391/EEC on the introduction of measures to encourage improvements in the safety and health of workers at work.⁵⁴ The object of this directive is to introduce measures to encourage improvements in the health and safety of

⁵⁴ Council Directive 89/391/EEC of 12 June 1989 on the introduction of measures to encourage improvements in the safety and health of workers at work, *available at:* http://eurlex.europa.eu/smartapi/cgi/sga_doc?smartapi!celexapi!prod!

CELEXnumdoc&lg=en&numdoc=31989L0391&model=guichett (last visited 10 April 2009). There are other EC legislative acts dealing with the protection of employees' health and safety in the workplace. However, these are not as relevant to employees within an office workplace. They include the: Regulation (EC) No 1338/2008 of the European Parliament and of the Council of 16 December 2008 on Community statistics on public health and health and safety at work (Text with EEA relevance); Directive 2008/46/EC of the European Parliament and of the Council of 23 April 2008 amending Directive 2004/40/EC on minimum health and safety requirements regarding the exposure of workers to the risks arising from physical agents (electromagnetic fields) (18th individual Directive within the meaning of Article 16(1) of Directive 89/391/EEC);

Directive 2006/25/EC of the European Parliament and of the Council of 5 April 2006 on the minimum health and safety requirements regarding the exposure of workers to risks arising from physical agents (artificial optical radiation) (19th individual Directive within the meaning of Article 16(1) of Directive 89/391/EEC):

Directive 2004/40/EC of the European Parliament and of the Council of 29 April 2004 on the minimum health and safety requirements regarding the exposure of workers to the risks arising from physical agents (electromagnetic fields) (18th individual Directive within the meaning of Article 16(1) of Directive 89/391/EEC);

Directive 2003/10/EC of the European Parliament and of the Council of 6 February 2003 on the minimum health and safety requirements regarding the exposure of workers to the risks arising from physical agents (noise) (Seventeenth individual Directive within the meaning of Article 16(1) of Directive 89/391/EEC); Directive 2002/44/EC of the European Parliament and of the Council of 25 June 2002 on the minimum health and safety requirements regarding the exposure of workers to the risks arising from physical agents (vibration) (sixteenth individual Directive within the meaning of Article 16(1) of Directive 89/391/EEC) - Joint Statement by the European Parliament and the Council;

Commission Directive 2000/39/EC of 8 June 2000 establishing a first list of indicative occupational exposure limit values in implementation of Council Directive 98/24/EC on the protection of the health and safety of workers from the risks related to chemical agents at work (Text with EEA relevance); Council Directive 98/24/EC of 7 April 1998 on the protection of the health and safety of workers from the risks related to chemical agents at work (fourteenth individual Directive within the meaning of Article 16(1) of Directive 89/391/EEC);

Council Directive 90/269/EEC of 29 May 1990 on the minimum health and safety requirements for the manual handling of loads where there is a risk particularly of back injury to workers (fourth individual Directive within the meaning of Article 16 (1) of Directive 89/391/EEC);

Council Directive 89/656/EEC of 30 November 1989 on the minimum health and safety requirements for the use by workers of personal protective equipment at the workplace (third individual directive within the meaning of Article 16 (1) of Directive 89/391/EEC).



the workers. This directive relies on the broad general principles of prevention, which are defined in the Article 3(d) as "all steps or measures taken or planned at all stages of work in the undertaking to prevent or reduce occupational risks."55 The Directive applies to "workers", which within the meaning of this directive, is any person employed by an employer, including trainees and apprentices but excluding domestic servants.⁵⁶ Article 5(1) contains the demanding obligation that the employer has the duty "to ensure health and safety of workers in every aspect related to the work."57 This duty extends to taking responsibility for services provided by third parties⁵⁸ and is not diminished by the workers' own obligations for their health and safety.⁵⁹

As EC law does not have legal effect on the European Institutions under the international laws on privileges and immunities, ⁶⁰ the relevant aspects of the aforementioned Directive 89/654/EEC do not have direct effect on the European Union Institutions. 61 This Directive will be used as part of a comparative study in this Section. Unfortunately, there is no reference to the specifications for the buildings within the Staff Regulations. However, the European Commission Manual of Standard Building Specifications 2004⁶² which deals solely with European Commission buildings is available on the European Union's official website. 63 It is not certain that there is documentation for the other European Institutions, but nevertheless if such documents exist, we were not able to obtain them.

⁵⁵ Directive 89/391/EEC, *ibid.*, Article 3 (d).

⁵⁶ *Ibid.*, Article 3 (a).

⁵⁷ *Ibid.*, Preamble, para. 5.

⁵⁸ *Ibid.*, Articles 5 (2) and 7 (3).

⁵⁹ *Ibid.*, Article 5 (3).

⁶⁰ Protocol No. 7 on the privileges and immunities of the European Union, available at: http://eurlex.europa.eu/LexUriServ/LexUriServ.do?uri=CELEX:12008M/PRO/07:EN:HTML (last visited 10 April 2009), Preamble: "Considering that, in accordance with Article 343 of the Treaty on the Functioning of the European Union and Article 191 of the Treaty establishing the European Atomic Energy Community ("EAEC"), the European Union and the EAEC shall enjoy in the territories of the Member States such privileges and immunities as are necessary for the performance of their tasks," Note: A further analysis of privileges and immunities of international organisations is outside the scope of this report. As mentioned earlier, this affirmation has been open to much debate which is outside of the ambit of this paper and therefore for the purposes of this study, it is taken that EC law does not have effect on EC civil servants. ⁶¹ See Annex I for a brief analysis of the possible direct effect of EC law by virtue of Article 1e (2) of the

Staff Regulations.

⁶² Manual of Standard Building Specifications, *supra* note 49.

⁶³ *Ibid.*, *available also at:* Europa website, Office for infrastructure and logistics in Brussels, Reference Documents, http://ec.europa.eu/oib/building_policy_en.htm (last visited 10 April 2009).



The Commission Manual of Standard Building Specifications delves into intricate detail on all aspects of the building specifications which will be dealt with in this Section. A comparative analysis will enable us to derive whether European Commission buildings' specifications follow the same rules as in EC law, despite the fact that EC law is not applicable to them. It is explicitly stated in the preamble of this Manual that it is a point of reference and therefore it does not legally bind the European Commission. As mentioned earlier, the reason for its importance in this comparative study is that it has been attested to be the guidelines for building specifications by the OIB.⁶⁴ Furthermore, this Manual acknowledges that: "Any building selected to house Commission departments must conform in every respect to the public-buildings legislation in force in the country where it is located. If such legislation has less binding force than a European directive, then the building must comply with the directive."

What is noteworthy about this acknowledgment is that in principle the European Commission is accepting the obligation to be governed by EC and national law. However, as this is not a legally binding document, such a statement of the binding force of EC and national law is not legally binding upon the European Commission. It is important as it acknowledges that these laws contain the aimed protection but as such an attestation is within a non-legally binding document, it is a political rather than a legal statement.

⁶⁴ Ibid.

⁶⁵ *Ibid.*, Section A, General, A. III Legislation and Standards, p. 9. To note that the reference to less binding force does not imply that national legislation is not in conformity with EC directives. Legislation with less binding force refers to subordinate measures i.e. soft law measures.



2. 2. THE PHYSICAL CONDITIONS INHERENT IN THE BUILDING

2. 2. 1. Room Dimensions and Air Space in Rooms: Freedom of Movement at the Workstation

2. 2. 1. 1. European Community Law Applying to Room Dimensions and Air Space in Rooms

The work place design is one of the explicitly mentioned elements from the principle of adapting the work for the individual.⁶⁶ As stated in the framework Directive 89/391/EEC,⁶⁷ the latter is one of the general principles for prevention, which forms the basis for an employer's obligation to implement health and safety measures for the protection of workers.⁶⁸

The Directive 89/654/EEC⁶⁹ formally distinguishes between the workplace used for the first time after 31 December 1992 and workplaces already in use before 1 January 1993.⁷⁰ The main difference between the two groups is the number of criteria that the workplace is subject to under health and safety requirements. The list of criteria for the workplaces used for the first time is more extensive. Accordingly, the criterion of room dimensions and air space in rooms is one that applies only to the workplaces used for the first time. In Annex I, the Directive lays down the condition that "workrooms must have sufficient surface area, height and air space to allow workers to perform their work without risk to their safety, health or well-being".⁷¹ Furthermore, the workers must have adequate freedom of movement at their workstation, or, if this is not possible, near their workstation.⁷²

⁶⁶ Council Directive 89/391/EEC, supra note 54, Article 6, para. 2 (d).

⁶⁷ Council Directive 89/391/EEC, *supra* note 54.

⁶⁸ *Ibid.*, Article 6.

⁶⁹ Council Directive 89/654/EEC, *supra* note 15.

⁷⁰ According to Article 3 of the Directive 89/654/EEC, "workplaces used for the first time after 31 December 1992 must satisfy the minimum safety and health requirements laid down in Annex I", whereas Article 4 of the same Directive states that "workplaces already in use before 1 January 1993 must satisfy the minimum safety and health requirements laid down in Annex II at the latest three years after that date". An exception is the Portuguese Republic, where the period to satisfy the minimum safety and health requirements appearing in Annex II is four years after 1 January 1993.

⁷¹ Council Directive 89/654/EEC, *supra* note 15, Annex I, Point 15. 1..

⁷² Council Directive 89/654/EEC, *supra* note 15, Annex I, Point 15.2., states as follows: "The dimensions of the free unoccupied area at the workstation must be calculated to allow workers sufficient freedom of movement to perform their work. If this is not possible for reasons specific to the workplace, the worker must be provided with sufficient freedom of movement near his workstation."



2. 2. 1. 2. Internal Regulation of the European Commission Regarding Room Dimensions and Air Space in Rooms

According to the Manual of Standard Building Specifications the buildings occupied by the Commission are subject to the European Directives on health and safety and to the national legislation of the member state where the building is situated, ⁷³ therefore it could be concluded that at least the same requirements regarding the room space apply for the buildings housing the European civil servants as do for the workers under the EC law. However, it must be stressed again, what has been established before, ⁷⁴ namely that the Manual is not a legal document and that therefore such affirmation indicates a factual aspiration rather than a legally binding commitment.

For the purpose of comparison, it must nevertheless be noted that the Manual of Standard Building Specifications⁷⁵ gives more precise recommendations on health and safety for offices and in this context also specifies in great detail the required size of offices in buildings, occupied by the European Commission. *Office space* forms an independent section under the *Health and Hygiene Recommendations* in the Manual. It is explicitly stated that the general health and hygiene standards are dependent on the layout of the office space and that the modular nature of office space can affect the quality of the working environment.⁷⁶ Accordingly, under the Architectural Aspects section, the Manual notes that "the ideal architectural module of office space is 1.20 meters, but could be between 1.20 and 1.40 meters in width".⁷⁷ It also refers to the ISO standard, which sets the width of a module at 1.25 meters.⁷⁸ Furthermore, the Manual also sets the minimum ceiling heights within the buildings, depending on the type of area. For office areas, the ideal minimum height of the ceiling is set at 2.6 meters.⁷⁹

⁷³ Manual of Standard Building Specifications, *supra* note 49, p. 314: "Commission buildings are subject to all the European Directives on health and safety at work, and those located in Belgium are also subject to the provisions of the General Regulation on Labour Protection (RGPT)."

⁷⁴ See Section 2. 1..

⁷⁵ Manual of Standard Building Specifications, *supra* note 49.

⁷⁶ *Ibid.*, Section B.III.7., Health and Hygiene Recommendations, p. 315.

⁷⁷ *Ibid.*, p. 18

⁷⁸ *Ibid.*, Section B.I.2., Architectural Aspects, p. 18.

⁷⁹ *Ibid.*, p. 19.



2. 2. 1. 3. Interim Conclusions

The Manual,⁸⁰ although being a legally non-binding document, provides specified requirements for the dimensions of the office spaces and also relies on the international standards for office spaces. From this point of view, on the voluntary basis of the EU Commission, the protection afforded to the European civil servants is in conformity with the requirements of the EC legislation.

2. 2. 2. Rest Rooms

2. 2. 2. 1. European Community Law Applying to Rest Rooms

Annex I of the Directive 89/654/EEC imposes an obligation for an easily accessible rest room⁸¹ to be established where the safety or health of workers so require.⁸² Annex II, regarding the workplaces already in use, establishes the same obligation, but with the distinction that it does not necessarily demand a specific rest room, but rather sets a requirement for "an easily accessible rest room or appropriate rest area".⁸³ The latter can be understood as meaning that within the existent layout of the building, an area within a certain room can also be designated as a rest area to satisfy the Directive's requirement.

The relevance of these provisions for office-based staff is, however, in both cases minimal. The Directive states that if the workers are employed in offices or workrooms providing equivalent relaxation during breaks, the obligation to provide a rest room or area does not apply.⁸⁴

⁸⁰ Manual of Standard Building Specifications, *supra* note 49.

⁸¹ The meaning of the term 'rest room' as used in the Directive applies to the rooms meant for the relaxation and rest of the workers and is not to be confused with the term 'restroom' which applies to a public toilet.

⁸² Council Directive 89/654/EEC, *supra* note 15, Annex I, Point 16. 1.. According to this provision, the reasons because of which a rest room should be provided for are in particular the type of activity carried out or the presence of more than a certain number of employees.

⁸³ Ibid., Annex II, Point 11. 1..

⁸⁴ *Ibid.*, Annex I, Point 16.1. and Annex II, Point 11.1.. Where the rest room is required, it can be noted that the provisions regarding the workplaces already in use are more lenient when it comes to the conditions that the rest room must fulfil; Annex II merely demands that the rest room or area is equipped with tables and seats with back, whereas Annex I additionally requires that the number of tables and seats is adequate for the number of workers and that the rest room is large enough (*See* Council Directive 89/654/EEC, Annex I, Point 16.2. and Annex II, Point 11.2.). Additionally, Point 16.4. of Annex I contains a provision that "if working hours are regularly and frequently interrupted and there is no rest room, other rooms must



2. 2. 2. Internal Regulation of the European Commission Regarding Rest Rooms

According to the Manual of Standard Building Specifications,⁸⁵ which is not a legally binding document,⁸⁶ buildings occupied by the European Commission are subject to the European Directives and national laws of the host member states⁸⁷ and therefore the Directive 89/654/EEC applies to them as well. However, considering that the majority of EU staff work in offices, its provisions regulating the rest rooms and rest areas are hardly relevant, assuming that equivalent relaxation for the civil servants is provided in offices during breaks.⁸⁸

In the Manual of Standard Building Specifications,⁸⁹ rest rooms are not mentioned in the same sense as in the Directive. There is however some reference to the rest and leisure areas, but the context suggests a different meaning of the term. In the section on the architecture of premises for social services, it is stated that certain areas within Commission buildings may be assigned for use as social centres and/or leisure centres, which may have a diverse purpose, being used, among other purposes, as recreation rooms.⁹⁰ Moreover, the Manual contains a specific section on health and safety recommendations for first-aid posts⁹¹ and rest areas.⁹² However, the meaning of the term *rest area* in this context is specific. Under the description of the role of a first-aid post and rest area, the provision first sets a requirement that good conditions must be provided to accommodate a sick or injured person. It further extends the use of this area to the accommodation of pregnant women and breastfeeding mothers⁹³ who may need to lie

be provided in which workers can stay during such interruptions, wherever this is required for the safety or health of workers". No such condition is put forward in Annex II for the workplaces already in use.

⁸⁵ Manual of Standard Building Specifications, *supra* note 49.

⁸⁶ As stated in its Preface, the Manual of Standard Building Specification serves as "the reference document on buildings used both internally by the Commission departments and by the Commission's external partners on the property market"(*See* Manual of Standard Building Specifications, *supra* note 49, p. 4). *See also*, Section 2. 1..

⁸⁷ *See for example*, Manual of Standard Building Specifications, *supra* note 49, p. 314: "Commission buildings are subject to all the European Directives on health and safety at work, and those located in Belgium are also subject to the provisions of the General Regulation on Labour Protection (RGPT)."

⁸⁸ Council Directive 89/654/EEC, supra note 15, Annex I, Point 16.1. and Annex II, Point 11.1..

⁸⁹ Manual of Standard Building Specifications, *supra* note 49.

⁹⁰ *Ibid*, Section B.I.6.13.2., Social and leisure centres, p. 143.

⁹¹ For more details on the first-aid posts, *see infra*, Section 2. 2. 3..

⁹² Manual of Standard Building Specifications, *supra* note 49, Section B.III.7.8., Health and hygiene recommendations for first-aid posts and rest areas, p. 332.

⁹³ *See* to this point also *infra*, Section 3. 3..



down.⁹⁴ Taking into consideration the required equipment⁹⁵ of the first-aid post,⁹⁶ it is evident that the area is meant to accommodate an individual worker as a result of his/her special condition (the need to receive first aid or, in case of pregnant women and breastfeeding mothers, the need to rest), rather than aiming at providing a place to relax during breaks for a greater number of workers.

2. 2. 2. 3. Interim Conclusions

The meaning of the term *rest rooms* differs in the Manual⁹⁷ from the Directive 89/654/EEC. According to the Directive, the notion of rest rooms is of little relevance for people working in offices, as long as they get equivalent relaxation during breaks. The Manual on the other hand, uses the term rest rooms in the context a room available for injured workers or pregnant and breastfeeding workers who might need to take a rest during their working time. Rest rooms as required by the Directive are meant to accommodate all the employed workers, whereas the European Commission's requirement for the rest room is to accommodate an individual or at most just a few workers at the same time.

the Commission has concluded an agreement.

Where there are several long seats or low beds, these must be separated by curtains.

⁹⁴ Manual of Standard Building Specifications, *supra* note 49, Section B.III.7.8., Health and hygiene recommendations for first-aid posts and rest areas, p. 332.

⁹⁵ According to Point 8. 4. of Section B.III.7.8. of the Manual of Standard Building Specifications, the first-aid post must be equipped with the following items:

[•] a first-aid box,

[•] means of transporting a sick or injured person, i.e. a wheelchair and/or stretcher,

[•] one woollen blanket,

[•] one thermal insulation blanket,

[•] one long seat or low bed on which a sick or injured person can be laid,

[•] one cabinet with additional equipment/first-aid box,

[•] one table and one or two chairs,

[·] one washbasin with hot and cold water, and

[•] one telephone and a list of emergency numbers, such as 52222, the number of the Poison Centre, the medical service and the nearest clinic or hospital with which

⁹⁶ Manual of Standard Building Specifications, *supra* note 49, Section B.III.7.8., Health and hygiene recommendations for first-aid posts and rest areas, p. 333.

⁹⁷ Manual of Standard Building Specifications, *supra* note 49.



2. 2. 3. First Aid Rooms

2. 2. 3. 1. European Community Law Applying to First Aid Rooms

The topic of first aid rooms in workplaces used for the first time after 31 December 1992 is dealt with in the Article 3 of the Directive 89/654/EEC. They must satisfy the minimum safety and health requirements laid down in Article 19, Annex I of the Directive 89/654/EEC. One or more first aid rooms must be provided where the size of the premises, type of activity being carried out and frequency of accidents so dictate. First aid rooms must be fitted with essential first aid installations and equipment and are to be easily accessible to stretchers. They must be signposted in accordance with the national regulations transposing Directive 77/576/EEC. In addition, first aid equipment must be available in all places where working conditions require it. This equipment must be suitably marked and easily accessible.

Article 4 of the Directive 89/654/EEC¹⁰² deals with workplaces which were already in use before 1 January 1993. They must satisfy the minimum safety and health requirements laid down in Annex II within a maximum period of three years from this date.¹⁰³ The obligations laid down in this Annex apply wherever so required by the features of the workplace, the nature of the activities, where the circumstances necessitate it or when there is a hazard.¹⁰⁴ The temperature in rest areas, rooms for duty staff, sanitary facilities, canteens and first aid rooms must be appropriate to the particular purpose of such areas.¹⁰⁵

⁹⁸ Council Directive 89/654/EEC, *supra* note 15.

⁹⁹ *Ibid.*, Annex I, Article 19 (1).

¹⁰⁰ Council Directive 89/654/EEC, *supra* note 15, Annex I, Article 19 (2), Council Directive 77/576/EEC of 25 July 1977 on the approximation of the laws, regulations and administrative provisions of the Member States relating to the provision of safety signs at places of work, *available at:* http://eurlex.europa.eu/smartapi/cgi/sga doc?smartapi!celexplus!prod!

DocNumber&lg=en&type_doc=Directive&an_doc=1977&nu_doc=576 (last visited 10 April 2009).

¹⁰¹ Council Directive 89/654/EEC, supra note 15, Annex I, Article 19 (3).

¹⁰² Council Directive 89/654/EEC, *supra* note 15.

¹⁰³ The only exception regards the Portuguese Republic, where workplaces used before 1 January 1993 must satisfy, at the latest four years after that date, the minimum safety and health requirements appearing in Annex II, but this exception has not much relevance since this period has already passed.

¹⁰⁴ *Ibid.*, Annex II.

¹⁰⁵ Ibid., Annex II, Article 7 (2).



Additionally, workplaces must be fitted with first aid equipment. The equipment must be suitably marked and easily accessible. 106

2. 2. 3. 2. Internal Regulation of the European Commission Regarding First Aid Rooms

Buildings with a large number of occupants must have a first-aid post. First-aid posts must be accessible and easy to find. The door must be at least one metre wide to allow stretchers to pass through comfortably. The floor and wall coverings must be suitable for washing with water and being thoroughly disinfected. First-aid posts must be equipped with a sink which has a hot water supply and medical-type furnishings. The soundproofing in first-aid posts must be superior to that of offices.¹⁰⁷

The role of a first-aid post must provide good conditions in which a sick or injured person from the building or its immediate vicinity can be accommodated for the purpose of receiving first aid. This area can also accommodate pregnant women and breastfeeding mothers who may need to lie down. The post must be located on the ground floor or one of the lower floors of the building, near a lift for disabled persons or alternatively a goods or passenger lift and near a toilet. It must be easily accessible by lift or stairs from any point in the building. It must also be in a location from which an injured person can easily be taken to an ambulance through a ground-floor exit or via the underground car park, if this is accessible to the ambulance. The provided person is a single person to the sample of the purpose of the pur

The location of the first-aid post must be indicated by the pictograms laid down by health and safety legislation. These signs must be displayed along a route leading from the entrance foyer to the first-aid post in the form of direction indicators, and at the level of the building on which the post is located, particularly from the lift lobbies and stair

¹⁰⁶ Ibid., Annex II, Article 14.

¹⁰⁷Manual of Standard Building Specifications, *supra* note 49, B.I, Architecture, Section 11, Health and Hygiene Recommendations for First-Aid Posts and Rest Areas, p. 120.

¹⁰⁸ Manual of Standard Building Specifications, *supra* note 49, B.IV, Security and protection of property, Section 8.1., Health and Hygiene Recommendations for First-Aid Posts and Rest Areas, p. 332. ¹⁰⁹ *Ibid.*, Section 8.2, p. 332.



landings. A 'no smoking' sign must be displayed inside the first-aid post. ¹¹⁰ The first-aid post must be equipped with the following: a first-aid box; means of transporting a sick or injured person i.e. a wheelchair and/or stretcher; one woollen blanket; one thermal insulation blanket; one long seat or low bed on which a sick or injured person can be laid; one cabinet with additional equipment/first-aid box; one table and one or two chairs; one washbasin with hot and cold water; and one telephone and a list of emergency numbers, such as 52222, the number of the Poison Centre, the medical service and the nearest clinic or hospital with which the Commission has concluded an agreement. Where there are several long seats or low beds, these must be separated by curtains and finally the door to the first-aid post must be one metre wide. ¹¹¹

2. 2. 3. 3. Interim Conclusion

According to Directive 89/654/EEC one or more first aid rooms must be provided where the size of the premises, type of activity being carried out and frequency of accidents so dictate or wherever first aid rooms are required by the features of the workplace, the nature of the activity, the circumstances or where a hazard exists. EC Legislation imposes requirements on the equipment of the first aid rooms and the signs. The Manual requires first aid rooms in buildings with a large number of occupants and addresses the issues of equipment, position within the building and signs into greater detail than the EC legislation. This is, however, caused by the nature of the Directives and their reliance on domestic legislation of the Member States.

¹¹⁰ *Ibid.*, Health and Hygiene Recommendations for First-Aid Posts and Rest Areas, Section 8.3, p. 333.

¹¹¹ *Ibid.*, Section 8.4, p. 333.



2. 2. 4. Procedures to be in Place in the Possibility that the Workers are Put in the Serious and Immediate Danger

2. 2. 4. 1. European Community Law Applying to Procedures to be in Place in the Possibility that the Workers are Put in the Serious and Immediate Danger

Article 6 of the Council Directive 89/391/EEC¹¹² states that the wide-ranging general obligations on employers must not only take the measures necessary for safety and health protection of workers, but they must also prevent the occurrence of occupational risks, provide information and training and establish the necessary organisation and means. 113 These measures must be further adjusted to take account of changing circumstances. 114 Article 6 (2) lists general principles of prevention¹¹⁵ designed to guide the employer. These are: avoiding risks;¹¹⁶ evaluating the risks which cannot be avoided;¹¹⁷ combating the risks at source;¹¹⁸ developing a coherent overall prevention policy which covers technology, organisation of work, working conditions, social relationships and the influence of factors related to the working environment; 119 giving collective protective measures priority over individual protective measures; 120 and giving appropriate instructions to the workers. 121 Under Article 6 (3) (a), the employer has a duty to evaluate risks to the health and safety of workers and assure improvement in the level of protection afforded to workers with regard to health and safety. And under Article 6 (3) (d) the employer has a duty to take appropriate steps to ensure that only workers who have received appropriate instructions may have access to areas where there is a serious and specific danger.

Article 9 (1) (a) gives employer the "duty of awareness and evaluation", which requires the employer to conduct an assessment of health and safety risks and to be aware of the

¹¹² Council Directive 89/391/EEC, *supra* note 54.

¹¹³ *Ibid.*, Article 6 (1).

¹¹⁴ *Ibid*.

¹¹⁵ Defined in Article 3 (d) of the Directive 89/391/EEC as meaning all steps and measures taken or planned at all stages of work in the undertaking to prevent or reduce occupational risks.

¹¹⁶ Council Directive 89/391/EEC, supra note 54, Article 6 (2) (a).

¹¹⁷ *Ibid.*, Article 6 (2) (b).

¹¹⁸ *Ibid.*, Article 6 (2) (c).

¹¹⁹ *Ibid.*, Article 6 (2) (g).

¹²⁰ *Ibid.*, Article 6 (2) (h).

¹²¹ *Ibid.*, Article 6 (2) (i).



situation of groups of workers who are exposed to particular risks. This directive prescribes objectives but allows Member States to decide how these are to be achieved. There is no guidance as to how risk assessment is to be carried out or any indication of the minimum assessment levels which are necessary. Employers must evaluate the risks to the safety and health of workers, *inter alia*, regarding their choice of work equipment, chemical substances or preparations used and also the fitting out of the workplace. They are to decide on the appropriate protective measures and the equipment needed.

Having completed the assessment the employer has a duty to plan and take action, where the employer must, where necessary, introduce preventive measures and possible changes to working conditions and to improve the health and safety of workers. Any steps taken must form part of a coherent prevention policy¹²⁴ and be integrated into all activities of the undertaking at all hierarchical levels.¹²⁵ In addition, particularly sensitive risk groups must be protected against the dangers which specifically affect them.¹²⁶ The framework directive when read in conjunction with various subsequent directives, envisages a hierarchy of control measures which include elimination of risks from the workplace, which might not be feasible in practice. In such a case, employers must consider possible means by which those risks can be reduced.¹²⁷

As far as emergency procedures are mentioned, such as first aid, fire-fighting, and the evacuation of the workers, Article 8 (1) allows the employer to take necessary measures, adapted to the nature of the activities, and the size of the undertaking, while Article 8 (2) provides that the employer can designate workers who are required to implement such measures. However, the most significant feature of Article 8 is the right to stop work. Article 8 (3) provides that the employer must also give instructions to enable workers in the event of serious imminent and unavoidable danger to stop work and/or immediately

¹²² *Ibid.*, Article 6 (3) (a).

¹²³ *Ibid.*, Article 9 (1) (b).

¹²⁴ Ibid., Article 6 (2) (g).

¹²⁵ *Ibid.*, Article 6 (3) (a), para. 2.

¹²⁶ *Ibid.*, Article 15

¹²⁷ Barnard, C., (2006) *EC Employment Law*, Third Edition, Oxford University Press, p. 555.

¹²⁸ *Ibid.*, p. 557.

¹²⁹ *Ibid*.



leave the workplace and proceed to the place of safety. If, in these circumstances workers do leave their workplace under instruction of the employer or at their own initiative because a superior cannot be contacted, they must not be placed at any disadvantage because of their action and must be protected against any harmful unjustified conduct. Therefore they should be protected against dismissal or any lesser disciplinary measure. Furthermore, where workers have acted on their own initiative when a superior could not be contacted and have subsequently taken appropriate steps in the face of serious and imminent danger, a subjective test is applied and account is taken of their knowledge and the technical means at their disposal. The employer must also refrain from asking for workers to resume work where a serious and imminent danger still exists, save in exceptional cases for reasons duly substantiated.

Adding to this topic, the employer has also the "duty to train and direct the workforce", where under Article 6 (2) (i) employer should give "appropriate instructions to the workers" and where there are specific danger areas the employer must ensure that only workers who have received adequate instructions may have access to them.¹³³

Additionally, an employer has a "duty to inform workers and workers' representatives, to consult, and to encourage participation of the workforce," which extends to temporary and hired workers currently working in the enterprise or establishment ¹³⁴ and workers from any outside undertakings working in the employer's establishment. ¹³⁵ Furthermore, depending on the size of the undertaking, and in accordance with national laws and/or practices, the employer must, according to Article 10, provide all necessary information concerning the safety and health risks and protective and preventive measures and activities in respect of both the undertakings and/or the establishments in general, each

¹³⁰ Council Directive 89/391/EEC, supra note 54, Article 8 (4) and (5).

¹³¹ Barnard, C., *supra* note 127, p. 557.

¹³² Council Directive 89/391/EEC, supra note 54, Article 8 (3) (c).

¹³³ *Ibid.*, Article 6 (3) (d). This provision may be read in conjunction with Article 8 (3) (c).

¹³⁴*Ibid*, Article 10 (2). *See also* Council Directive 91/383/EEC of 25 June 1991 supplementing the measures to encourage improvements in the safety and health at work of workers with a fixed- duration employment relationship or a temporary employment relationship, *available at:* http://eur-

lex.europa.eu/LexUriServ/LexUriServ.do?uri=CELEX:31991L0383:EN:HTML (last visited 10 April 2009), Articles 3 and 7.

¹³⁵ *Ibid*.



type of work station and job¹³⁶ and the measures taken to deal with first-aid, fire-fighting and evacuation.¹³⁷

2. 2. 4. 2. Internal Regulation of the European Commission Regarding Procedures to be in Place in the Possibility that the Workers are Put in the Serious and Immediate Danger

Since May 2004, specific health and safety provisions have been included in the new Staff Regulations. In particular, according to Article 1e of the Staff Regulations of Officials of the European Communities and Articles 10 and 80 of the Conditions of Employment of other servants of the European Communities, EU staff "shall be accorded working conditions complying with appropriate health and safety standards, at least equivalent to the minimum requirements applicable under measures adopted in these areas pursuant to the Treaties". Those new Articles therefore constitute both the legal basis and the obligation for the Commission to establish a harmonised health and safety policy for its staff. ¹³⁸ By adopting the proposal for a Decision, the Commission has made a commitment to produce detailed and internally binding Health and Safety Rules, in order to set up a standard at least equivalent to the minimum requirements of Council Directive 89/391/EEC of 12 June 1989 and other measures adopted in the areas of health and safety at work pursuant to the Treaties, within two years of the date of adoption of this Decision, as well as to undertake, for the first time, an evaluation of the health and safety risk associated with each post in every Commission workplace within three years of the adoption of this Decision. ¹³⁹

According to Commission Decision establishing a Harmonised Policy for Health and Safety at Work for all Commission staff, Health and Safety Rules, Article 4 (1),¹⁴⁰ the

¹³⁶ *Ibid.*, Article 10 (1) (a).

¹³⁷ *Ibid.*, Article 10 (1) (b): "the measures taken pursuant to Article 8 (2)", namely dealing with first aid, fire-fighting and evacuation of workers, serious and imminent danger.

¹³⁸ Communication from the Commission, Draft, Commission Decision Establishing a Harmonised Policy for Health and Safety at Work for all Commission Staff, Explanatory Memorandum, The European Commission as a Workplace, p. 2. Document provided by the client.

¹⁴⁰ Draft, Commission Decision Establishing a Harmonised Policy for Health and Safety at Work for all Commission Staff, Health and Safety Rules (*see supra*, note 138), Article 5: "The Commission shall



measures to ensure health and safety at work for all Commission staff shall accord a harmonised system of working conditions for all Commission sites, complying with appropriate health and safety standards at least equivalent to the minimum requirements pursuant to Directive 89/391/EEC, individual Directives and other Community measures adopted in the areas of health and safety at work, including the Commission Decision of 10 April 1996 C(1996)0931/1, on the reorganisation of the Joint Research Centre. Without prejudice to the Protocol on the Privileges and Immunities of the European Communities and other relevant international instruments applicable ("accords de siège"), for the purpose of this decision, the Health and Safety Rules may refer to host country legislation for a Commission site. The competent local or national bodies may be invited to assist to maintain high level of health and safety standards as well as the well-being at the workplace in the Commission's premises. The rest of the proposal, especially Article 12¹⁴⁴ in relation to first aid, fire-fighting and evacuation of workers and

implement the measures referred to in Article 4, paragraph 1, on the basis of the following general principles of prevention:

⁽a) avoiding risks;

⁽b) evaluating the risks which cannot be avoided:

⁽c) combating the risks at source;

⁽d) adapting the work to the individual, especially as regards the design of work places, the choice of work equipment and the choice of working and production methods, with a view, in particular, to alleviating monotonous work and work at a predetermined work-rate and to reducing their effect on health;

⁽e) adapting to technical progress;

⁽f) replacing the dangerous by the non-dangerous or the less dangerous;

⁽g) developing a coherent overall prevention policy which covers technology, organization of work, working conditions, social relationships and the influence of factors related to the working environment;

⁽h) giving collective protective measures priority over individual protective measures;

⁽i) giving appropriate instructions to the Staff."

¹⁴¹ *Ibid.*, Article 4 (1).

¹⁴² Protocol (36) on the Privileges and Immunities of the European Communities (1965), attached to the Treaty establishing the European Community.

¹⁴³ Draft, Commission Decision establishing a Harmonised Policy for Health and Safety at Work for all Commission staff, Health and Safety Rules (*see supra* note 138), Article 4 (3).

¹⁴⁴ Draft, Commission Decision Establishing a Harmonised Policy for Health and Safety at Work for all Commission Staff, Health and Safety Rules (*see supra*, note 138), Article 12:

[&]quot;1. The Health and Safety Managers shall:

a) take the necessary measures for first aid, fire-fighting and evacuation of workers, adapted to the nature of the activities establishment and taking into account other persons present,

b) arrange any necessary contacts with external services, particularly as regards first aid, emergency medical care, rescue work and fire-fighting.

^{2.} Pursuant to paragraph 1, the Health and Safety Managers shall, *inter alia*, for first aid, fire-fighting and the evacuation of Staff, designate the workers required to implement such measures.

The number of such workers, their training and the equipment available to them shall be adequate, taking account of the size and/or specific hazards of the locations."



Article 13¹⁴⁵ in relation to serious and imminent dangers involves exact replicas of corresponding EC legislation in this matter.

2. 2. 4. 3. Interim Conclusion

It is important to mention that the Commission Decision does not have a binding character. This decision has been provided to us by the client himself as a source of information, since the current Staff Regulations do not refer to this issue. Therefore, taking into account the Commission Decision, it is possible that the EC legislation and the Staff Regulations addressing procedures in place for serious and imminent danger could become more similar. This would be upon the Commission's recognition of its legal obligation under Article 1e of the Staff Regulations and Articles 10 and 80 of the Conditions of Employment of other servants of the European Communities. Thus, it would be reasonable to expect that Staff Regulations will eventually evolve to the point that the Civil Servants will be provided at least the same amount of protection under the Staff Regulations that is provided for in the EC legislation.

¹⁴⁵ Draft, Commission Decision Establishing a Harmonised Policy for Health and Safety at Work for all Commission Staff, Health and Safety Rules (*see supra*, note 138), Article 13:

[&]quot;1. The Health and Safety Managers shall:

⁽a) as soon as possible, inform all staff who are, or may be, exposed to serious and imminent danger of the risk involved and of the steps taken or to be taken as regards protection;

⁽b) take action and give instructions to enable staff in the event of serious, imminent and unavoidable danger to stop work and/or immediately to leave the work place and proceed to a place of safety;

⁽c) save in exceptional cases for reasons duly substantiated, refrain from asking staff to resume work in a working situation where there is still a serious and imminent danger.

^{2.} The Commission staff who, in the event of serious, imminent and unavoidable danger, leave their workstation and/or a dangerous area may not be placed at any disadvantage because of their action and must be protected against any harmful and unjustified consequences.

^{3.} The Health and Safety Managers shall ensure that all staff are able, in the event of serious and imminent danger to their own safety and/or that of other persons, and where the immediate superior responsible cannot be contacted, to take the appropriate steps in the light of their knowledge and the technical means at their disposal, to avoid the consequences of such danger. Their actions shall not place them at any disadvantage, unless they acted carelessly or there was negligence on their part."



2. 2. 5. Air Quality

This Section will be subdivided into two parts: The first subsection will look at ventilation of enclosed workplaces which will involve an analysis of the EC law which governs air quality and the Commission Manual on Standard Building Specifications. The second subsection will deal with the more specialised subject of the protection of workers from the risks relating to exposure to asbestos at work. Special attention will be given to this as it has its own directive and cases of exposure in the European Institutions have arisen before the European Courts.

2. 2. 5. 1. Ventilation of Enclosed Workplaces

2. 2. 5. 1. 1. European Community Law Applying to Ventilation of Enclosed Workplaces

In EC law, ventilation of enclosed workplaces is governed by Articles 6 of Annexes I and II of Directive 89/654/EEC concerning minimum safety and health requirements for the workplace. Annex I deals with workplaces which are being used for the first time after 31 December 1992¹⁴⁶ and Annex II deals with workplaces which were already in use before 1 January 1993.¹⁴⁷

Article 6.1 of Annex I and Article 6 of Annex II read as follows: "Steps shall be taken to see to it that there is sufficient fresh air in enclosed workplaces, having regard to the working methods used and the physical demands placed on the workers. If a forced ventilation system is used, it shall be maintained in working order. Any breakdown must be indicated by a control system where this is necessary for workers' health." ¹⁴⁸

¹⁴⁶ Defined in Directive 89/654/EEC, *supra* note 15, Article 3: Workplaces used for the first time: "Workplaces used for the first time after 31 December 1992 must satisfy the minimum safety and health requirements laid down in Annex I."

¹⁴⁷ Defined in Directive 89/654/EEC, *supra* note 15, Article 4; "Workplaces already in use before 1 January 1993 must satisfy the minimum safety and health requirements laid down in Annex II at the latest three years after that date…"

¹⁴⁸ Directive 89/654/EEC, *supra* note 15, Article 6.1. of Annex I and Article 6 of Annex II.



Additionally, buildings which are being used for the first time have a further obligation regarding maintenance of air-conditioning systems: "If air-conditioning or mechanical ventilation installations are used, they must operate in such a way that workers are not exposed to draughts which cause discomfort. Any deposit or dirt likely to create an immediate danger to the health of workers by polluting the atmosphere must be removed without delay."¹⁴⁹

2. 2. 5. 1. 2. Internal Regulation of the European Commission

The European Institutions are not under a legal obligation to adhere to the aforementioned legislation. As in the previous sections, the Commission Manual of Standard Building Specifications which "...has served since 1992 as the reference document on buildings used ... internally by the Commission departments..." will be addressed. The Commission is not legally bound to follow these specifications, but they provide an extensive practical infrastructural grounding which is nevertheless of importance in this comparative study. As regards air quality, the Commission Manual includes the general statement that "...air quality is a key element in the health standard of work stations. The greatest care must be taken, in both the design and the everyday operation of the air-conditioning system, to guarantee excellent air quality." ¹⁵³

In the building systems section of the Commission Manual, in a subsection called 'Description of Equipment', this is supplemented by technical characteristics for the

¹⁴⁹ *Ibid.*, Annex I, Article 6. 2..

¹⁵⁰ *See* Section 1. 1. for a further discussion of the relationship between EC law and EU Institutions.

¹⁵¹ Manual of standard building specifications, *supra* note 49, Preface, p. 4.

¹⁵² *See* Section 2. 1. for an analysis of the legal nature of the Commission Manual on building specifications.

¹⁵³ Manual of Standard Building Specifications, *supra* note 49, Section B.IV, Security and the Protection of Property, Health and Hygiene recommended for offices, Section 2.4 ventilation and air-conditioning, p. 315.



ventilation devices. The specifications are given for air-conditioning units,¹⁵⁴ fans,¹⁵⁵ humidifier casing,¹⁵⁶ humidifier,¹⁵⁷ dehumidifier,¹⁵⁸ air filtration for supply units¹⁵⁹ and heat recovery.¹⁶⁰ Further to this, detailed specifics are provided regarding the ventilation of the following: interpreters' booths,¹⁶¹ workplaces for catering services,¹⁶² print-shops using offset presses¹⁶³ and car parks.¹⁶⁴

2. 2. 5. 1. 3. Interim Conclusions

¹⁵⁴ *Ibid*, Section B.II Building Systems, Section 4 (Description of Equipment), Section 4.13.1 – Ventilation Air-conditioning unit: "The air-conditioning units must be modular, with standard components and must be delivered in one piece or in several modules for assembly on site. The casing must be double-walled panels at least 50 mm thick. The panels must be assembled using an interlocking system and be completely sealed, with fireproof internal insulation (DIN 4102/Class A1). They must be silenced to a minimum value of RW = 44 dB."

¹⁵⁵ *Ibid*, Section 4.13.2 – Ventilation Fans: "The fans must operate silently. They must be centrifugal fans in volute-shaped casing, statically and dynamically balanced according to DIN ISO 1940. They must have backward-curved vanes. Preference must be given to a direct drive rather than a belt drive. The fan and its casing must be assembled so as to produce as little vibration or noise as possible. A report from an official body, certifying the acoustic power spectrum of each fan, must be provided to the Commission before an order is placed with the constructor. Each unit must be equipped with a safety switch. The bottom of the drive unit must be constructed so as to prevent the water from stagnating. Lighting must be provided inside the casing. The internal walls of the air ducts must be smooth (no internal insulation)."

¹⁵⁶ *Ibid*, Section 4.13.3 – Ventilation, Humidifier casing: "The humidifier casing must be designed to ensure the greatest possible ease of regular maintenance and minimise the concentration of bacteria and pollutants in the water. The tray must be designed to prevent water stagnation and consequent bacteria development (Legionella, etc.). It must be equipped with a tap so it can be completely drained. The design of the condensate outlets must ensure that contamination of the air conditioned in the units is impossible. The spray pump (where installed) must be controlled by a humidity sensor in the recovery inlet."

¹⁵⁷ *Ibid.*, Section 4.13.4 – Ventilation, humidifier: "The function of a humidifier is to raise the absolute humidity of the air in the building by increasing its water-vapour content.

The humidification system must be one of the following:

- Types preferred:
- Individual steam humidifiers (direct injection of steam produced by boiling water in the unit) (power less than 180 kg/h of steam).
- Central steam humidification (direct injection of steam produced centrally for the whole building).
- Types accepted:
- Air-washer humidifiers (only for units with air flows over 10 000m³/h; such systems must always include a droplet separator and ultraviolet capacity for treating the humidifier water).
- Fixed-nozzle compressed-air cool mist spray humidifiers (only for units with large air flows).
- Ultrasonic mist spray humidifiers (not advised).
- Evaporation/mist spray humidifiers (not advised).
- · Types not accepted:
- Rotating nozzle mist spray humidifiers (not accepted).
- Centrifugal mist spray humidifiers (not accepted).
- Steam-injection humidifier using steam produced by an evaporation humidifier (e.g. "*Amazone*" humidifiers) (not accepted).
- Mist injector humidifiers (not accepted).

The humidifiers must be corrosion-proof and as resistant to clogging as possible. Minimum useful life of ten years."



The detailed specifications regarding air quality in the Commission Manual of Standard Building Specifications are in conformity with the minimum EC law standards. However, it must be borne in mind that this Manual does not legally bind the European Commission.¹⁶⁵

The artificial ventilation system must meet the following conditions:

¹⁵⁸ *Ibid.*, Section 4.13.5, Ventilation, dehumidifier: "Dehumidifiers are not accepted, except in the following cases:

[•] to regulate relative humidity in the area housing the historical archives. Such systems must be adsorption dehumidifiers with an electrically heated air outflow. Refrigerant or absorption dehumidifier systems are not accepted.

[•] to regulate relative humidity in specialised rooms, using cabinet air conditioning (see Section B.II.7).

[•] to regulate relative humidity in specific areas genuinely in need of such conditioning."

¹⁵⁹ *Ibid.*, Section 4.13.6, Ventilation, air filtration for supply units: "F7 synthetic filter compliant with EN779; 80-90% opacimetric effectiveness; measurement of dirt accumulation by means of pressure difference."

¹⁶⁰ *Ibid.*, Section 4.13.7, Ventilation – heat recovery: "A system of heat recovery must be installed on the units' outbound airflow. It must be one of the following systems: run-around heat-recovery coils; heat-recovery wheels; mixture of vitiated and fresh air as a function of the enthalpy, but always in compliance with the prescribed minimum intake of fresh air (this method is not permissible for interpreting booths). However, preference should be given to a method of energy recovery other than recycling air; transfer of office air to the indoor car park after heat recovery by one of the abovementioned systems.

¹⁶¹ Manual of Standard Building Specifications, *supra* note 49, Section B.I Architecture, Special facilities for DG SCIC (Directorate General for Interpretation): "As booths are occupied throughout the day, adequate ventilation is required. The air supply should be 100% fresh (i.e. not recycled). The air-conditioning system must be independent from that of the rest of the building and of the conference chamber. This is the crucial point for the air-conditioning system. Air renewal must be seven times per hour or 75m³/h per person and the carbon dioxide concentration must not exceed 0.1%. The temperature must be controllable between 19°C and 23°C by means of an individual regulator in each booth. Relative humidity must be between 45% and 65%. Air velocity must not exceed 0.2 m/s. Air inlets and outlets must be placed in such a way that interpreters are not exposed to draughts. Good results can be obtained by introducing the air through a perforated ceiling and extracting it through vents at the rear of the booth, in the floor or the rear wall."

¹⁶² *Ibid.*, Section B.I Architecture, 12 (Premises designated for use by catering services), Section 12.1.4.8 Ventilation: "The work areas must be adequately ventilated in order to avoid excess heat, steam, condensation and dust, and to clear polluted air. The air flow must never be directed from a dirty area towards a clean area.

[•] the aerator must be fitted with a grill or some other form of protection in a corrosion-resistant material,

[•] the filters and other parts of the installation must be easily accessible for maintenance and cleaning purposes.

An extractor fan above the cooking appliances must effectively remove steam and greasy vapours. No condensation or fat must fall back onto the hob."

¹⁶³ *Ibid.*, Section B.IV Security and Protection of Property, 3.2.6 Printshops using offset presses: "Solvent vapours must be extracted via a ventilation system that is separate from the circuit used for extracting air from the building. The circulation of fresh air must be guaranteed. The extraction system for solvent vapours and other pollutants must fulfil the criteria listed in point 2.2."



2. 2. 5. 2. Protection of Workers from the Risks Related to Exposure to Asbestos at Work

2. 2. 5. 2. 1. European Community Law Governing the Exposure of Workers to Asbestos

Prior to 2003, the protection of workers from the exposure to asbestos was governed at an EC level by Directive 83/477/EEC. Following a session initiated by the Senior Labour Inspectors Committee (SLIC)¹⁶⁶ in 2000 on the hazards of the handling of asbestos, the Asbestos Conference of 2003 was organised. This led to the Dresden declaration on the Protection of Workers against Asbestos which came out the same year as this amended directive¹⁶⁷ and drew attention to the dangers of exposure to asbestos.¹⁶⁸ While this directive deals largely with the protection of those who work in the construction industry and in close contact with asbestos, it also has some relevant provisions for those who work in offices which are insulated with asbestos. Article 7 of this directive provides for the regular testing of the air in a workplace for asbestos fibres.¹⁶⁹ Furthermore, an

¹⁶⁴ *Ibid*, Section B.IV Security and protection of property, 4 (Health and Safety in Underground car parks), Section 4.1.2, Car park ventilation: "The car-park ventilation system must be designed to extract vehicle exhaust fumes efficiently under normal conditions and to be capable of evacuating smoke in the event of a vehicle fire. A manual control switch for this extraction system must be provided for the use of the fire brigade."

¹⁶⁵ *See* Section 2. 1. for an analysis of the legal stature of the Commission Manual on Building specifications.

¹⁶⁶ The Senior Labour Inspectors Committee (SLIC) was officially started in July 1995 by Commission decision 95/319/EC. It consists of two representatives from each member state who are from the labour inspection service of their national state. The Committee gives its opinion to the Commission regarding health and safety at work. The Commission decision (95/319/EC) which enacted the SLIC was published in the Official Journal L 188 of 09.08.95

¹⁶⁷ Directive 2003/18/EC of the European Parliament and of the Council of 27 March 2003 amending Council Directive 83/477/EEC on the protection of workers from the risks related to exposure to asbestos at work, *available at:* http://eur-lex.europa.eu/smartapi/cgi/sga_doc?smartapi!celexapi!prod! CELEXnumdoc&lg=EN&numdoc=32003L0018&model=guichett (last visited 13 April 2009).

¹⁶⁸Senior Labour Inspectors Committee, Dresden Declaration on the Protection of Workers against Asbestos, Doc. 2317/03.

¹⁶⁹ Directive 2003/18/EC, *supra* note 167, Article 7:

[&]quot;1. Depending on the results of the initial risk assessment, and in order to ensure compliance with the limit value laid down in Article 8, measurement of asbestos fibres in the air at the workplace shall be carried out regularly.

^{2.} Sampling must be representative of the personal exposure of the worker to dust arising from asbestos or materials containing asbestos.

^{3.} Sampling shall be carried out after consultation of the workers and/or their representatives in undertakings.

^{4.} Sampling shall be carried out by suitably qualified personnel. The samples taken shall be subsequently analysed, in accordance with paragraph 6, in laboratories equipped for fibre counting.

^{5.} The duration of sampling must be such that representative exposure can be established for an eight-hour reference period (one shift) by means of measurements or time-weighted calculations.



employer is obliged to ensure that "no worker is exposed to an airborne concentration of asbestos in excess of 0, 1 fibres per cm³ as an eight-hour time-weighted average (TWA)." ¹⁷⁰ In doing this, they must inform any person who may have been exposed to asbestos in excess of the limit in article 8, as soon as possible. ¹⁷¹ Following this, an exposed person is to be given: "...advice regarding the assessment of their health which they may undergo following the end of exposure..." and "the doctor or authority responsible for the medical surveillance of workers may indicate that medical surveillance must continue after the end of exposure for as long as they consider it necessary to safeguard the health of the person concerned." ¹⁷²

In accordance with the practices and principles of occupational medicine, specific recommendations are given for the subsequent medical care of those who have been exposed.¹⁷³ Additionally all Member States are under the obligation to implement sanctions for the infringement of the national legislation which transposes this directive. These sanctions must be "…effective, proportionate and dissuasive."¹⁷⁴

2. 2. 5. 2. Regulation of Exposure to Asbestos in the European Commission¹⁷⁵

^{6.} Fibre counting shall be carried out wherever possible by PCM (phase-contrast microscope) in accordance with the 1997 WHO (World Health Organisation) recommended method(16) or any other method giving equivalent results.

For the purpose of measuring asbestos in the air, as referred to in the first subparagraph, only fibres with a length of more than five micrometres, a breadth of less than three micrometres and a length/breadth ratio greater than 3:1 shall be taken into consideration."

¹⁷⁰ *Ibid.*, Article 8.

¹⁷¹ *Ibid.*, Article 15 which replaces Article 14 (2) (b).

¹⁷² *Ibid.*, Article 16 which replaces Article 15 (3).

¹⁷³ *Ibid.*, Article 21, replacement of Annex II, Point 3: "Health examination of workers should be carried out in accordance with the principles and practices of occupational medicine. It should include at least the following measures:

⁻ keeping records of a worker's medical and occupational history,

⁻ a personal interview,

⁻ a general clinical examination, with particular reference to the chest,

⁻ lung function tests (respiratory flow volumes and rates).

The doctor and/or authority responsible for the health surveillance should decide on further examinations, such as sputum cytology tests or a chest X-ray or a tomodensitometry, in the light of the latest occupational health knowledge available."

¹⁷⁴ *Ibid.*, Article 19 which adds an Article 16 (a) to Directive 83/477/EEC.

¹⁷⁵ *See* Section 2. 1. for analysis of the legal nature of the Commission Manual of Standard Building Specifications.



The European Institutions are neither subject to these directives nor the sanctions of the Member States on infringement of such legislation. As previously mentioned, the Commission Manual of Standard Building Specifications underlines the necessity to adhere to the minimum requirements of EU law but it must be kept in mind that this is not a legally binding document. However, the Office for Infrastructure and Logistics (OIB) has attested that this is the working document in the European Commission regarding building specification and therefore it is still important in this comparative study.

According to the Commission Manual of Standard Building Specifications, one of the administrative legal documents which each Commission building needs to possess is "a certificate attesting that the building is asbestos free or that all the elements listed in the building's asbestos inventory have been removed"¹⁷⁹ and asbestos is listed as one of the prohibited materials. ¹⁸⁰ In the event that the building is already in existence, an asbestos inventory and management plan needs to be drawn up in accordance with the national law (in this case Belgian Royal Decree of 22 July 1991 and Ministerial Decree of 22 December 1993). ¹⁸¹

The Commission has voluntarily attested here that their buildings are to be completed in accordance with external laws. However, this declaration is not in a legally binding document and therefore this statement does not have the force of law. Cases have arisen before the European Courts regarding EU Institutions employees' illness from alleged exposure to asbestos. In Angeletti v Commission, the applicant called, *inter*

¹⁷⁶ See Section 1. 1. for a further analysis of the relationship between the EU Institutions and EC law.

¹⁷⁷ *See* Section 2.1 for a further analysis of the legal nature of the Commission Manual of Standard Building Specifications.

¹⁷⁸ Manual of Standard Building Specifications, *supra* note 49.

¹⁷⁹ *Ibid*, Section A.IV.1 Administrative documentation, p. 11 *and also* Section BI, Architecture, BI3 Structural aspects, Subsection 1, General: "The materials used to construct buildings may not contain asbestos. The owner of the building must confirm this by providing the Commission with an "asbestosfree" certificate issued by an appropriate approved inspection body."

¹⁸⁰ *Ibid*, Annex 1, p. 395.

¹⁸¹ *Ibid* Section B.I Architecture, BI3 Structural aspects, Subsection 1.

¹⁸² *See* section 2.1 for a further analysis of the legal nature of the Commission Manual of Standard Building Specifications

¹⁶³ Case T-394/03, Angeletti v. Commission [2006] ECR Staff Cases I-A-2-00095, II-A-2-00441, *available at:* http://eur-lex.europa.eu/LexUriServ/LexUriServ.do?uri=CELEX:62003A0394:FR:HTML (last visited



alia, for the annulment of a report from the medical committee of the Commission which did not recognise the occupational origins of her illness which was due to exposure to asbestos. The applicant based her argument on the irregularity of the opinion of the medical committee¹84 and the decisions and acts relating to a breach of the duty to have regard for the welfare of officials regarding the time that it took to make the decision.¹85 Also, a breach of the principle of sound administration was inferred.¹86 The Court subsequently ordered the Commission to pay €12,000 in compensation and ordered them to pay half of the applicant's costs incurred. The Commission's contested decision and the medical committee's report were not annulled. Other cases regarding appeals of medical reports relating to exposure to asbestos have relied on Article 73¹87 and Article 78¹88 of the Staff Regulations.

2. 2. 5. 2. 3. Interim Conclusions

Under the European Commission's Manual, asbestos is a prohibited substance and therefore the building specifications are in line with EC law. It is noteworthy that cases which have arisen in this area have relied upon the Staff Regulations as a basis for cases as they have related to a contested medical report from the Commission appointed medical experts. The appeals procedure regarding medical reports is outside the ambit of this study and will not be discussed further. However, the use of these articles as the legal basis for appeals underlines that it is the Staff Regulations that are binding upon the European Commission and not the Commission Manual of Standard Building Specifications or the EC directives.¹⁸⁹

¹³ April 2009).

¹⁸⁴ *Ibid.*, para. 37.

¹⁸⁵ *Ibid.*, para. 149.

¹⁸⁶ *Ibid.*, paras. 148–161.

¹⁸⁷ Case C-180/03 P, Latino v Commission, Order of the Court [2004] ECR I-01587, *available at:* http://curia.europa.eu/jurisp/cgi-bin/form.pl?lang=en (last visited 13 April 2009), para. 24.

¹⁸⁸ Case C-181/03 P, Nardone v Commission [2005] ECR I-00199, available at:

http://curia.europa.eu/jurisp/cgi-bin/form.pl?lang=en (last visited 13 April 20099), paras. 28 and 32.

¹⁸⁹ *See* Section 2. 1. for further analysis of the legal nature of the Commission Manual of Standard Building Specifications.



2. 3. THE PHYSICAL CONDITIONS INSIDE THE BUILDING

2. 3. 1. Room Temperature

2. 3. 1. 1. European Community Law Applying to Room Temperature

The EC law governing the regulation of room temperature is specified in Council Directive 89/654/EEC Annex I and II. Parallel to the previous sections, Annex I deals with workplaces which are being used for the first time after 31 December 1992¹⁹⁰ and Annex II deals with workplaces which were already in use before 1 January 1993.¹⁹¹ For both building types, "during working hours, the temperature in rooms containing workplaces must be adequate for human beings, having regard to the working methods being used and the physical demands placed on the workers".¹⁹²

Furthermore, the moderation of temperature outside of the principle areas of work is dealt with in both Annexes by Article 7.2 which states that "the temperature in rest areas, rooms for duty staff, sanitary facilities, canteens and first aid rooms must be appropriate to the particular purpose of such areas." ¹⁹³

In order to regulate the room temperature by the building structure of new buildings, Annex I includes rules on the control of sunlight in a workplace. Article 7.3 states that "windows, skylights and glass partitions should allow excessive effects of sunlight in workplaces to be avoided, having regard to the nature of the work and of the workplace."

¹⁹⁰ Defined in Directive 89/654/EEC, *supra* note 15, Article 3: Workplaces used for the first time: "Workplaces used for the first time after 31 December 1992 must satisfy the minimum safety and health requirements laid down in Annex I."

¹⁹¹ Defined in Directive 89/654/EEC, *supra* note 15, Article 4: "Workplaces already in use before 1 January 1993 must satisfy the minimum safety and health requirements laid down in Annex II at the latest three years after that date..."

¹⁹² Directive 89/654/EEC, supra note 15, Article 7.1 of Annexes I and II.

¹⁹³ *Ibid.*. Article 7.2 of Annexes I and II.

¹⁹⁴ *Ibid.*, Annex I, Article 7.3.



2. 3. 1. 2. Internal Regulation of the European Commission Regarding Room Temperature

The aforementioned EC law is not applicable to the internal regulation of the European Institutions. As room temperature is not regulated within the Staff Regulations, this comparative study will look at the European Commission's Manual of Standard Building Specifications. Specifications.

The specifications regarding the room temperature of various rooms such as the kitchen, dishwashing area and dining room are outlined in section 12 of this Manual.¹⁹⁷ In the section on Building Management Systems, the specifications of temperature sensors are provided.¹⁹⁸ In addition, the specifications of the preferred temperature in all different types of rooms are given in the section on Heating Ventilation and air conditioning.¹⁹⁹

An overlap between the regulation of air quality and the regulation of room temperature occurs with regard to the interpreters' booths.²⁰⁰ The Commission Manual of Standard Building Specifications states that "the air-conditioning must be fully adjustable for each booth from a central control unit. In addition, the temperature must be adjustable from within each booth."²⁰¹ Additionally, the heights of the interpreters' booths are addressed for the control of draughts and therefore the control of temperature.²⁰² The specific temperature at which the interpreters' booths should be controlled is specified at between 19 °C and 23 °C.²⁰³

¹⁹⁵ *See* Section 1. 1. for a further analysis of the relationship between EC law and the EU Institutions.

¹⁹⁶ Manual of standard building specifications, *supra* note 49. *See* Section 2. 1. for an analysis of the legal nature of the Commission Manual of Standard Building Specifications.

¹⁹⁷ *Ibid.*, Section 12, Premises designated for use by catering staff, pp. 121-144.

¹⁹⁸ *Ibid.*, Section 3. 2. 1, Temperature sensors, p. 148, *and* Section 3.4, Safety thermostats, p. 149.

¹⁹⁹ *Ibid.*, Section 2. 2, Interior conditions, p. 174.

²⁰⁰ *See* Section 2. 2. 5. of this report for a further analysis of air quality.

²⁰¹ Manual of Standard Building Specifications, *supra* note 49, Section B.I.6, Point 1.2, Interpreting booths, p. 51.

²⁰² *Ibid.*, Section B.I.6, Point 4.3.6, Minimum dimensions of booths, p. 63: "Where feasible, additional height can be an advantage for draught and temperature control."

²⁰³ *Ibid.*, Section B.I.6, Point 4.3.10, Air conditioning, p. 66: "The temperature must be controllable between 19°C and 23°C by means of an individual regulator in each booth. Relative humidity must be between 45% and 65%."



2. 3. 1. 3. Interim Conclusions

The Commission Manual of Standard Building Specifications delves into more detail than the EC law regarding the specifications needed to maintain the room temperature for European Commission employees.²⁰⁴ The EC law in this area is broader and the specifics which would be needed to obtain their objectives are left to the discretion of the Member States. The implementation of the specifications as outlined in the Commission Manual of Standard Building Specifications would accord the European Commission employees with adequate room temperature regulation in comparison to the EC law despite the fact they are regulated by their internal regulations and not EC law.²⁰⁵

2. 3. 2. Quality of the Lighting

2. 3. 2. 1. European Community Law Applying to the Quality of Lighting

The EC law on the quality of lighting in the workplace is to be found in Council Directive 89/654/EEC.²⁰⁶ As with other subject matters referred to above, the requirements are divided into new buildings²⁰⁷ and buildings which are already in use.²⁰⁸ In both annexes the article which deals with natural and artificial room lighting is Article 8. Article 8.1 of both Annexes states that "workplaces must as far as possible receive sufficient natural light and be equipped with artificial lighting adequate for the protection of workers' safety and health".

Article 8.3 of Annex I and Article 8.2 of Annex II state that "workplaces in which workers are especially exposed to risks in the event of failure of artificial lighting must be provided with emergency lighting of adequate intensity". A further obligation on

 $^{^{204}}$ It must be noted that EC law is not applicable to the EU Institutions. *See* Section 1 for a further analysis. 205 *Ibid*

²⁰⁶ Council Directive 89/654/EEC, supra note 15.

²⁰⁷ Defined in Directive 89/654/EEC, *supra* note 15, Article 3: Workplaces used for the first time:

[&]quot;Workplaces used for the first time after 31 December 1992 must satisfy the minimum safety and health requirements laid down in Annex I."

²⁰⁸ Defined in Directive 89/654/EEC, *supra* note 15, Article 4; "Workplaces already in use before 1 January 1993 must satisfy the minimum safety and health requirements laid down in Annex II at the latest three years after that date…"



employers who operate in buildings which are in use for the first time is that "…lighting installations in rooms containing workplaces and in passageways must be placed in such a way that there is no risk of accident to workers as a result of the type of lighting fitted". No such obligation is put on an employer where the building is already in use.

2. 3. 2. 2. Internal Regulation of the European Commission regarding the Quality of Lighting

The aforementioned EC Directive does not legally bind the European Institutions²⁰⁹ and as in the previous sections, this Section will compare the EC legislation to the Commission Manual of Standard Building Specifications.²¹⁰ Despite the fact that the Commission is not legally bound by the health and safety Directive,²¹¹ it has very extensive lighting requirements which coincide with Article 8 of the annexes to Directive 89/654/EEC. Another interesting point is that the minimum lighting level which is followed in the building standards document is that of the Belgian Royal Decree of 19 December 1997 which governs fireproofing standards.²¹² In Section 2.1. it was pointed out that this Manual is not a legal document and therefore any statement therein does not have the force of law. However, its citation of Belgian law is still important from a theoretical perspective.²¹³

Firstly, in the section on building systems, the Manual explicitly states that lighting must be sufficient to avoid staff eye fatigue.²¹⁴ Furthermore, in the section on architecture, the

 $^{^{209}}$ *See* Section 1. 1. for a further discussion of the legal relationship between EC law and the EU Institutions.

²¹⁰ There is no reference to the specifications for the buildings within the Staff Regulations. It is not certain that further documentation for the other European Institutions, but nevertheless if such documents exist, we were not able to obtain them.

²¹¹ See Section 1. 1. for further analysis of the relationship between EC law and the EU Institutions.

²¹² Manual of Standard Building Specifications, *supra* note 49, Section BII Building Systems, 3.12, Emergency lighting for escape routes, corridors and stairways, p. 200: "These appliances will not be taken into account when calculating the minimum lighting level stipulated by the Royal Decree of 19 December 1997"

²¹³ *See* Section 2.1. for a further analysis of this point.

²¹⁴ Manual of Standard Building Specifications, *supra* note 49, Section BII, Building systems, 1.8, Lighting, p. 255: "The lighting must be sufficient to avoid staff eye fatigue (for lighting level, *see* Section B.II.3.1.2.). It must be connected to an emergency power supply."



building standards document provides that "the building as a whole and each of its parts should be as harmonious and cohesive as possible in terms of the various elements used in its construction, which should make use of the play of volume and natural light to create an impression of spacious harmony".²¹⁵

It is expressly stated that natural lighting is not necessary in meeting rooms and the specifications for artificial lighting are given with regard to staff health. Regulation of artificial lighting can be controlled by the people within the room but there is also a requirement to install sensors which adjust light to a pre-determined level. 217

Subsequent to these blanket buildings specifications for lighting, the Commission Manual details the lighting requirements of various different workplaces within the Commission,

²¹⁵*Ibid.*, Section BI 7.1, General appearance of the buildings, p. 20.

²¹⁶*Ibid.*, Section B.IV, Security and protection of property, 3.2, Health and Hygiene, Visual comfort – lighting, p. 322: "Avoid powerful lighting units which create an uneven light flux in the body of the conference room. Preference should be given to lighting systems which provide a good even spread of light, such as luminaries with fluorescent tubes or bulbs. It is recommended that dimmer switches be provided to adjust the intensity of the lighting, if possible by distinct areas: wall lighting, ceiling lighting, etc. The lighting level must conform to the specifications that are customary for such premises. Natural lighting (windows, cupolas) is not required for meeting rooms and conference chambers." ²¹⁷ *Ibid.*, BII, Building systems, Section 3.10.3, Light sensors, p. 199; The sensors are to function either in on-off mode (with an upper threshold and a lower threshold), or in continuous-adjustment mode (automatically adjusting the lighting to a pre-set level of brightness).



including the interpreters' booths,²¹⁸ the mail sorting office,²¹⁹ areas in which foodstuffs are prepared and stored,²²⁰ exhibition rooms²²¹ and flat roofs in the event of maintenance work.²²² In addition to the specifications on the level and maintenance of lighting, the Commission Manual includes specifications on emergency lighting in the event that power is cut.²²³

²¹⁸ *Ibid.*, Section 4.3.12.2., The lighting in the booths must be independent of that in the hall, as the latter may have to be darkened for the projection of films or slides. The booths must be provided with two different lighting systems: one for work and the other for general purposes. Both systems must have an on/off dimmer switch. The general lighting will be on the ceiling in the rear third of the booth. The lighting for the working surface will be on the ceiling in the front part of the booth.

The working surface must be lit by non-fluorescent lighting, for which a switch should be available by the booth door. The dimmer switches should be within reach. The light source must not cause reflections on booth windows. The lighting systems, including dimmers and transformers, must not cause magnetic interference or audible noise.

The working surface available to each interpreter must have an individual adjustable compact table lamp of a least 300 lux, connected to a low voltage circuit.

Its switch, within easy reach of the interpreter, should give continuous intensity control over a minimum range from 100 lux to 500 lux (all values to be achieved at working surface level).

Table lamps and the range of tilt of their reflectors must be so designed as to avoid glare in adjacent working positions or into the hall and to allow them to be handled without the risk of burns. The combined work-lighting must provide coverage of the required intensity over the whole working surface of the booth, taking account, in particular, of the increasing use of grey, recycled paper.

All light sources must generate as little heat as possible and be of a suitable colour.

Lighting systems, including dimmers, must cause no inductive electrical interference in neighbouring microphone circuits. Switches should be mechanically silent.

The overhead work-lighting must be so positioned as to avoid shadows being cast by the working interpreter on the working surface, documents, equipment, fixtures, etc.

The lights on both circuits must be switched off automatically after a freely programmable period.

²¹⁹ *Ibid.*, B I, Architecture, Section 10.4, p. 119; Special care must be paid to the quality of the lighting, both natural and artificial, in these rooms and at work stations.

²²⁰ *Ibid.*, BI, Architecture, Section 12.1.4.9, Lighting, p. 127; Good lighting throughout the working area is extremely important. Lighting must meet the following requirements: Direct natural or artificial lighting which does not throw shadows on the worktops. See the requirements set out in B.II.3, point 2.2. All light fittings must be protected to avoid any contamination of foodstuff in the event of the glass breaking.

²²¹ *Ibid.*, BI, Architecture, Section 14.2, Exhibition Rooms, p. 144; The electrical lighting in these rooms must be flexible and powerful enough to do justice to the exhibited works. Lamps within reach of visitors must be of low voltage.

²²² *Ibid.*, Section B.I, Security and Protection of Property, 10, Safety of Terraces and Roofs, p. 355: "Flat roofs which are accessible by maintenance staff must be equipped with lighting points designed to make their work safe."

²²³ *Ibid*, Section BII, Building Systems, 3.12, Emergency lighting for escape routes, corridors and stairways: "In Commission buildings, emergency lighting must operate in the event of a power cut. When the normal power supply is working, it also supplies the emergency lighting. If that power is cut, the emergency lighting must come on again within a few seconds by switching automatically to current from an emergency generator while autonomous emergency units are turned off in order to maintain their autonomy.



2. 3. 2. 3. Interim Conclusions

Also for this subject-matter relating to lighting, the EC law gives the Member States the choice of methods to obtain the Directive's objective. The Manual affords the Commission employees with the same standards of protection which are in place in EC law.²²⁴

2. 3. 3. Computer Display Screens

2. 3. 3. 1. European Community Law Applicable to Computer Display Screens

Article 6 (3) of Council Directive 89/391/EEC²²⁵ continues the obligation that the employer shall, taking into account the nature of the activities of the enterprise and/or establishment, evaluate the risks to the safety and health of workers, *inter alia*²²⁶ in the choice of work equipment and the fitting out of work places. Furthermore the employer has a duty to assure improvement in the level of protection afforded to workers with regard to health and safety.²²⁷ Furthermore, under the Article 6 (3) (c)²²⁸ the employer has a duty to ensure that the planning and introduction of new technologies is the subject of consultation with the workers and/or their representatives as regards the consequences of the choice of the equipment, the working conditions and the working environment for the safety and health of the workers.

One appliance (fluorescent tube) in four is to be connected to this network. If the emergency network is down, the emergency autonomous units are put back into operation." *Note*: This also has relevance to the section on Procedures to be in Place in the Possibility that the Workers are put in Serious or Immediate Danger. *See* to this point also Section 2.2.4..

²²⁴ It must be kept in mind that EC law does not apply to the EC Institutions. *See* Section 1.3. for further analysis of the relationship between EC law and EU Institutions.

²²⁵ Directive 89/391/EEC, *supra* note 54.

²²⁶ This is a non-exhaustive list: *See* Case C-49/00 Commission v Italy [2001], ECR I-08575, *available at:* http://curia.europa.eu/jurisp/cgi-bin/form.pl?lang=en (last visited 13 April 2009), para. 12.

²²⁷ Directive 89/391/EEC, *supra* note 54, Article 6 (3) (a), para. 1.

²²⁸ Directive 89/391/EEC, *supra* note 54.



This topic is dealt with further in Directive 89/655/EEC, ²²⁹ concerning the minimum health and safety requirements for the use of work equipment by workers. This obliges the employers to ensure that the work equipment made available to workers is suitable for the work to be carried out, or properly adapted for that purpose and may be used by workers without impairment to their health and safety. ²³⁰ Three directives supplement Directive 89/655/EEC including Directive 90/270/EEC²³¹ which lays down minimum health and safety requirements for work with display screen equipment (VDUs). ²³² The directive applies to any worker, as defined in Article 3(a) of Directive 89/391/EEC, ²³³ "who habitually uses display screen equipment as a significant part of his normal work". ²³⁴ However neither the term 'habitual' nor 'significant' is defined. In <u>Criminal Proceedings against X</u>, ²³⁵ the Court ruled that Article 3 (a) of Directive 89/391/EEC ²³⁶ could not be defined in the abstract and that it was for the Member States who, given the vagueness of the phrase, had a broad discretion to specify its meaning when adopting national implementing measures. ²³⁷

²²⁹ Council Directive 89/655/EEC of 30 November 1989 concerning the minimum safety and health requirements for the use of work equipment by workers at work (second individual Directive within the meaning of Article 16 (1) of Directive 89/391/EEC), *available at:* http://eur-lex.europa.eu/smartapi/cgi/sga doc?smartapi!celexapi!prod!

CELEXnumdoc&lg=en&numdoc=31989L0655&model=guichett (last visited 13 April 2009). This has been amended by Council Directive 95/63/EC of 5 December 1995 amending Directive 89/655/EEC concerning the minimum safety and health requirements for the use of work equipment by workers at work (second individual Directive within the meaning of Article 16 (1) of Directive 89/391/EEC), *available at:* http://eur-lex.europa.eu/smartapi/cgi/sga_doc?smartapi!celexapi!prod!

CELEXnumdoc&numdoc=31995L0063&model=guichett&lg=en (last visited 13 April 2009); *and* by Directive 2001/45/EC of the European Parliament and of the Council of 27 June 2001 amending Council Directive 89/655/EEC concerning the minimum safety and health requirements for the use of work equipment by workers at work (second individual Directive within the meaning of Article 16(1) of Directive 89/391/EEC), *available at:* http://eur-lex.europa.eu/LexUriServ/LexUriServ.do? uri=CELEX:32001L0045:EN:HTML (last visited 13 April 2009).

²³¹ Council Directive 90/270/EEC of 29 May 1990 on the minimum safety and health requirements for work with display screen equipment (fifth individual Directive within the meaning of Article 16 (1) of Directive 89/391/EEC), *available at:* http://eur-lex.europa.eu/smartapi/cgi/sga_doc?smartapi!celexapi! prod!CELEXnumdoc&lg=en&numdoc=31990L0270&model=guichett (last visited 13 April 2009).

²³² *Ibid.*

²³³Directive 89/391/EEC, *supra* note 54, Article 3 (a) defines 'worker' as any person employed by an employer, including trainees and apprentices but excluding domestic servants.

²³⁴ Directive 90/270/EEC, *supra* note 231, Article 2 (c).

²³⁵ Joined Cases C-74/95 and C-129/95, Criminal Proceedings against X [1996] ECR I-06609, *available at:* http://eur-lex.europa.eu/smartapi/cgi/sga_doc?smartapi!celexplus!prod!

CELEXnumdoc&lg=en&numdoc=61995J0074 (last visited 13 April 2009), para. 30.

²³⁶ Directive 89/391/EEC, supra note 54.

²³⁷ Barnard, C., *supra* note 127, p.568.



The specific obligations imposed on employers are fivefold. First, they must analyse the workstations²³⁸ to evaluate the health and safety conditions affecting their workers, particularly as regards possible risks to eyesight, physical problems, and mental stress, and to take measures to remedy risks found. 239 Secondly, they must ensure that workstations comply with the minimum requirements set out in the Annex of the Directive.²⁴⁰ Thirdly, the employee must receive training on the use of the workstation before commencing work and further training whenever the organisation of the workstation is substantially modified.²⁴¹ Fourthly, employers are obliged to keep themselves informed of the latest advances in technology and scientific findings concerning workstation design so they can make any changes necessary to guarantee better levels of health and safety protection.²⁴² Fifthly, the employer must plan the workers' activities in such a way that daily work on display screen is periodically interrupted by breaks or changes of activity reducing the workload at the display screen. 243 In addition, workers are entitled to appropriate evesight tests carried out by a person with necessary skills. This is to take place before commencing work on a display screen and is to continue at regular intervals thereafter, and also whenever they experience visual difficulties which may be due to display screen work.²⁴⁴ If, as a result of this examination, workers need further assistance they are entitled to an ophthalmological examination and, if need be, they must be provided with "special corrective appliances appropriate for the work concerned' if normal appliances cannot be used."245 The protection of workers' eyes and eyesight may be provided as part of

²³⁸ Directive 90/270/EEC, *supra* note 231, Article 2 (b) defines 'workstation' as "an assembly comprising display screen equipment, which may be provided wit a keyboard or input device and/or software determining the operator/machine interface, optional accessories, peripherals including the diskette drive, telephone, modem, printer, document holder, work chair and work desk or work surface and the immediate work environment".

²³⁹ Directive 90/270/EEC, *supra* note 231, Article 3.

²⁴⁰ *Ibid.*, Articles 4 and 5 respectively. These requirements apply to all workstations and not just those used by 'habitual users'. *See* Case Criminal Proceedings against X, *supra* note 235, para. 41.

²⁴¹ Directive 90/270/EEC, *supra* note 231, Article 6 (2).

²⁴² *Ibid.*, Preamble.

²⁴³ *Ibid.*, Article 7.

²⁴⁴ *Ibid.*, Article 9 (1). According to Case Criminal Proceedings against X, *supra* note 235, para. 36, regular eye tests are carried out on all workers to whom the Directive applies and not just to certain categories of workers.



the national health system²⁴⁶ but in any case, measures taken pursuant to this article may "in no circumstances involve workers in additional financial costs".²⁴⁷

2. 3. 3. 2. Internal Regulation of the European Commission Regarding the Computer Display Screens

According to the Draft Commission Decision Establishing a Harmonised Policy for Health and Safety at Work for all Commission staff, the measures to ensure health and safety at work for all Commission staff shall accord a harmonising system of working conditions for all Commission sites, complying with appropriate health and safety standards at least equivalent to the minimum requirements pursuant to Directive 89/391/EEC, individual Directives and other Community measures adopted in the areas of health and safety at work. 248 Without prejudice to the Protocol on the Privileges and Immunities of the European Communities²⁴⁹ and other relevant international instruments applicable ("accords de siège"), for the purpose of the Commission Decision, 250 the Health and Safety Rules may refer to host country legislation for a Commission site. The competent local or national bodies may be invited to assist to maintain high levels of health and safety standards as well as the protection of the well-being at the workplace in the Commission's premises.²⁵¹ The Commission shall implement the measures referred to in Article 4, paragraph 1, on the basis of the general principles of prevention such as adapting the work to the individual (especially as regards the design of work places), the choice of work equipment and the choice of working and production methods, with a view, in particular, to alleviating monotonous work and work at a predetermined work-

²⁴⁵ Directive 90/270/EEC, *supra* note 231, Article 9 (3). *See further* Case C-455/00, Commission v Italy [2002] ECR I-9231, *available at:* http://eur-lex.europa.eu/smartapi/cgi/sga_doc?smartapi!celexplus!prod! CELEXnumdoc&lg=en&numdoc=62000J0455 (last visited 13 April 2009).

²⁴⁶ Directive 90/270/EEC, *supra* note 231, Article 9 (5).

²⁴⁷ *Ibid.*, Article 9 (4).

²⁴⁸ Draft, Commission Decision establishing a Harmonised Policy for Health and Safety at Work for all Commission Staff, *supra* note 138, Article 4 (1). Document provided by the client.

²⁴⁹Protocol (36) on the Privileges and Immunities of the European Communities (1965), attached to the Treaty establishing the European Community.

²⁵⁰ Draft, Commission Decision establishing a Harmonised Policy for Health and Safety at Work for all Commission staff, *supra* note 138. Document provided by the client.

²⁵¹ *Ibid.*, Article 4 (3).



rate and to reducing their effect on health;²⁵² adapting to technical progress²⁵³ and replacing the dangerous by the non-dangerous or the less dangerous.²⁵⁴ Furthermore, the Commission shall provide necessary and adequate health and safety information and/or training to every member of Commission staff²⁵⁵ and all Commission staff under an identified health and safety risk shall receive health surveillance at regular intervals, appropriate to the degree of health and safety risks to which they are exposed to in their workplace.²⁵⁶ However, there is no existing binding EC legislation, therefore there are no guidelines having mandatory character.

2. 3. 3. Interim conclusion

The Draft of the Commission Decision²⁵⁷ has been used as a main point of reference. An important issue, however, is that the Decision does not have a binding character and therefore can be used only for the purpose of describing the tendency for the future since the valid Staff Regulations currently do not directly address the issue of health and safety in regards of computer display screens. Thus, it is clear that at this time EC legislation is affording EU workers better protection under the Directive 90/270/EEC than the protection which is afforded to Civil Servants by the Staff Regulations.

²⁵² *Ibid.*, Article 5 (d).

²⁵³ *Ibid.*, Article 5 (e).

²⁵⁴ *Ibid.*, Article 5 (f).

²⁵⁵ *Ibid.*, Article 10.

²⁵⁶ *Ibid.*, Article 14.

²⁵⁷ *Ibid*.



3. EQUALITY REGARDING PHYSICAL WORKING CONDITIONS

3. 1. Equal Treatment Regarding Physical Working Conditions

3. 1. 1. The Basis of Equality law in European Community Law and its Application in the Staff Regulations

In the course of this Section, the difference between implementation of equality provisions in the Member States and the EU institutions will be analysed and direct and indirect discrimination will be defined. The importance of this definition is that they can both occur in the workplace and it is only by use of these definitions that a discriminatory act can be identified.

The development of anti-discrimination law in the European Community can be defined by an increased emphasis on equality as a fundamental right.²⁵⁸ Article 13 (1) EC implemented by the Treaty of Amsterdam and amended by the Treaty of Nice, permits the EU institutions to take action regarding specific discriminatory grounds.²⁵⁹ Furthermore, Article 141 EC explicitly establishes the principle of equal pay between men and women.²⁶⁰ Article 1 of Directive 2000/78 EC (the Framework Directive) formally sets out that discrimination on the basis of religion or belief; disability; age or sexual orientation, are prohibited in employment and occupation.²⁶¹ Furthermore,

²⁵⁸ Brun, N., 'The New Legal Framework for Equality in the European Union', *The Changing Face of European Labour Law and Social Policy* (2004), The Hague: Kluwer Law International, p. 90. ²⁵⁹ EC Treaty, *supra* note 12, Article 13 (1): "Without prejudice to the other provisions of this Treaty and within the limits of the powers conferred by it upon the Community, the Council, acting unanimously on a proposal from the Commission and after consulting the European Parliament, for the community of the power action."

proposal from the Commission and after consulting the European Parliament, may take appropriate action to combat discrimination based on sex, racial or ethnic origin, religion or belief, disability, age or sexual orientation."

²⁶⁰ EC Treaty, *supra* note 12, Article 141 (1): Each Member State shall ensure that the principle of equal pay for male and female workers for equal work or work of equal value is applied.

Touncil Directive 2000/78/EC of 27 November 2000 establishing a general framework for equal treatment in employment and occupation, *available at:* http://eur-lex.europa.eu/smartapi/cgi/sga_doc? smartapi!celexapi!prod!CELEXnumdoc&numdoc=32000L0078&model=guichett&lg=en (last visited 13 April 2009), Article 1: "The purpose of this Directive is to lay down a general framework for combating discrimination on the grounds of religion or belief, disability, age or sexual orientation as regards employment and occupation, with a view to putting into effect in the Member States the principle of equal treatment".



discrimination on the basis of sex is prohibited by Directive 2006/54 EC,²⁶² which was the accumulation and recasting of previous legislation.²⁶³

The Staff Regulations includes these conditions with the supplementary categories of: race; colour; ethnic or social origin; genetic features; language political or other opinion; membership of a national minority; property and birth.²⁶⁴ Under the aforementioned EC Directives the formulation of the principle of equal treatment prohibits both direct and indirect discrimination.²⁶⁵ A prohibition on both types of discrimination has been incorporated into the Staff Regulations in Article 1d (5).²⁶⁶

 $lex.europa.eu/smartapi/cgi/sga_doc?smartapi!celexapi!prod!$

CELEXnumdoc&numdoc=31986L0378&model=guichett&lg=en (last visited 13 April 2009); Council Directive 75/117/EEC of 10 February 1975 on the approximation of the laws of the Member States relating to the application of the principle of equal pay for men and women, *available at:* http://eurlex.europa.eu/smartapi/cgi/sga_doc?smartapi!celexapi!prod!

CELEXnumdoc&lg=EN&numdoc=31975L0117&model=guichett (last visited 13 April 2009); and Council Directive 97/80/EC of 15 December 1997 on the burden of proof in cases of discrimination based on sex, *available at*: http://eur-lex.europa.eu/smartapi/cgi/sga_doc?smartapi!celexapi!prod!

CELEXnumdoc&numdoc=31997L0080&model=guichett (last visited 13 April 2009).

²⁶² Directive 2006/54/EC of the European Parliament and of the Council of 5 July 2006 on the implementation of the principle of equal opportunities and equal treatment of men and women in matters of employment and occupation (recast), *available at:* http://eur-lex.europa.eu/LexUriServ/LexUriServ.do? uri=OJ:L:2006:204:0023:01:EN:HTML (last visited 13 April 2009).

²⁶³ Council Directive 76/207/EEC of 9 February 1976 on the implementation of the principle of equal treatment for men and women as regards access to employment, vocational training and promotion, and working conditions, *available at:* http://eur-lex.europa.eu/smartapi/cgi/sga_doc?smartapi!celexapi!prod! CELEXnumdoc&lg=EN&numdoc=31976L0207&model=guichett (last visited 13 April 2009); Council Directive 86/378/EEC of 24 July 1986 on the implementation of the principle of equal treatment for men and women in occupational social security schemes, *available at:* http://eur-

²⁶⁴ Staff Regulations, *supra* note 11, Article 1 d (1). This section was incorporated into the staff regulations by Council Regulation (EC, Euratom) No 723/2004 of 22 March 2004. Therefore, it was incorporated four years after the EC Directive 2000/78/EC.

²⁶⁵ Directive 2000/78/EC, *supra* note 261, Article 2 (1): "For the purposes of this Directive, the "principle of equal treatment" shall mean that there shall be no direct or indirect discrimination whatsoever on any of the grounds referred to in Article 1.". Directive 2006/54/EC, *supra* note 262, prohibits direct and indirect discrimination in regard to equal pay (Title II Chapter 1, Article 4), occupational social security schemes (Title II, Chapter 2, Article 5), access to employment, vocational training and working conditions (Title II, Chapter 3, Article 14).

²⁶⁶ Staff Regulations, *supra* note 11, Article 1 d (5): "Where persons covered by these Staff Regulations, who consider themselves wronged because the principle of equal treatment as set out above has not been applied to them, establish facts from which it may be presumed that there has been direct or indirect discrimination, the onus shall be on the institution to prove that there has been no breach of the principle of equal treatment. This provision shall not apply in disciplinary proceedings." This article was incorporated into the Staff Regulations by Council Regulation (EC, Euratom) No 723/2004 of 22 March 2004.



There is no definition of direct and indirect discrimination in the Staff Regulations, but in Elizabeth Afari v European Central Bank,²⁶⁷ the Court of First Instance applied the definitions from Article 2 of Directive 2000/43/EC.²⁶⁸ The definitions of indirect and direct discrimination in EC law will now be outlined.

3. 1. 2. Definition of Direct Discrimination in EC law

The EC Directives regarding equality²⁶⁹ have defined "direct discrimination" as the situation where, as a result of the prohibited grounds, one person is treated less favourably than another would have been.²⁷⁰ Normally, the comparator will be an individual who has received better treatment, but the event where a comparator is not available is provided for with the use of the words "... has been or would be treated ..." The European Court of Justice (ECJ) has taken a narrow and literal view of direct discrimination in cases which involved the question of whether an action was directly or indirectly discriminatory. In Vergani v Agenzia delle Entrate,²⁷¹ the Court held that a provision which encouraged women to take voluntary redundancy five years earlier than men was held to be directly discriminatory on the grounds of sex. In Schnorbus v Land Hessen,²⁷² the ECJ held that practical legal training that gave preference to those who had done military service was indirectly discriminatory as opposed to directly discriminatory. Even though only men could do military service, this was not held to be direct discrimination as the preferential treatment was not given specifically on the basis of sex.

²⁶⁷ Case T-11/03, Elizabeth Afari v European Central Bank [2004] ECR - Staff Cases I-A-00065, II-00267, *available at:* http://eur-lex.europa.eu/LexUriServ/LexUriServ.do?uri=CELEX:62003A0011:EN:HTML (last visited 13 April 2009), paras. 159–160.

²⁶⁸ Further to this the Civil Servant's Tribunal Case F-120/06, Noémi Dálnoky v Commission [2007] ECR 00000, *available at:* http://curia.europa.eu/jurisp/cgi-bin/form.pl?lang=en (last visited 13 April 2009), para. 28, the applicant argues direct and indirect discrimination within the same definition as is followed in EC law. The court did not subsequently address the issue of discrimination definitions.

²⁶⁹ The Race and Ethnic Origin Directive 2000/43/EC (Council Directive 2000/43/EC of 29 June 2000 implementing the principle of equal treatment between persons irrespective of racial or ethnic origin, *available at:* http://eur-lex.europa.eu/smartapi/cgi/sga_doc?smartapi!celexapi!prod!

CELEXnumdoc&lg=EN&numdoc=32000L0043&model=guichett (last visited 13 April 2009)), Article 2 (2) (a); The Framework Directive 2000/78/EC, *supra* note 261, Article 2 (2) (a); Equal Treatment of Men and Women Directive 2006/54/EC, *supra* note 260, Article 2 (1) (a).

²⁷¹ Case C-207/04, Vergani v Agenzia delle Entrate [2005] ECR I-07453, *available at:* http://curia.europa.eu/jurisp/cgi-bin/form.pl?lang=en (last visited 13 April 2009), para. 35. ²⁷² Case C-79/99, Schnorbus v Land Hessen [2000] ECR I-10997, *available at:*

http://curia.europa.eu/jurisp/cgi-bin/form.pl?lang=en (last visited 13 April 2009), para. 82.



3. 1. 3. Definition of Indirect Discrimination in EC law

The importance of controlling indirect discrimination stems from the fact that indirect discrimination can exist in covert forms while still causing inequalities within the workplace. "Indirect discrimination" has been defined by the EC Directives on equal treatment as any provision, custom or practice which appears to be neutral but which puts a person or persons under a disadvantage as a result of the grounds laid out in the relevant directives. ²⁷³ This is established by comparison with those who do not fall under the same category. However, the measure can be justified if it has a legitimate aim and the means of achieving this are appropriate and necessary. ²⁷⁴ This may involve incentives and affirmative action in favour of disadvantaged groups. The Treaty of Amsterdam involved the insertion of the positive-action provision into Article 141 (4) EC. This states that:

"With a view to ensuring full equality in practice between men and women in working life, the principle of equal treatment shall not prevent any Member State from maintaining or adopting measures providing for specific advantages in order to make it easier for the under-represented sex to pursue a vocational activity or to prevent or compensate for disadvantages in professional careers".

Directive 2002/73/EC of the European Parliament and of the Council of 23 September 2002 amending Council Directive 76/207/EEC on the implementation of the principle of equal treatment for men and women as regards access to employment, vocational training and promotion, and working conditions provides for positive action which would normally be discriminatory when there is an occupational requirement to do so.²⁷⁵ The

²⁷³ Directive 2000/43/EC, *supra* note 269, Article 2 (2) (b); Directive 2000/78/EC, *supra* note 259, Article 2 (2) (b); Directive 2006/54/EC, *supra* note 262, Article 2 (1) (b).

²⁷⁵ Directive 2002/73/EC of the European Parliament and of the Council of 23 September 2002 amending Council Directive 76/207/EEC on the implementation of the principle of equal treatment for men and women as regards access to employment, vocational training and promotion, and working conditions, available at: http://eur-lex.europa.eu/smartapi/cgi/sga_doc?smartapi!celexplus!prod!

CELEXnumdoc&lg=EN&numdoc=32002L0073 (last visited 13 April 2009), Article 2 (6): "Member States may provide, as regards access to employment including the training leading thereto, that a difference of treatment which is based on a characteristic related to sex shall not constitute discrimination where, by reason of the nature of the particular occupational activities concerned or of the context in which they are carried out, such a characteristic constitutes a genuine and determining occupational requirement, provided



ECJ has upheld the importance of this exception in the Lommers case.²⁷⁶ This involved a scheme which tackled the under-representation of women by subsidising the nursery places for its female staff.²⁷⁷ However, the 1995 ECJ Kalanke case took the view that a system which gave women unconditional and absolute priority for appointment or promotion went beyond the accepted positive action exception.²⁷⁸ In the later Marschall case, the ECJ affirmed that 'absolute and unconditional priority' went beyond the limits of positive action, but a quota which considered individual circumstances would be flexible enough to fall within the exception to indirect discrimination.²⁷⁹ In consideration of the ECJ's rulings, it can be derived that for the positive action principle to be compatible with EC law, the gender of the person who is going to benefit must genuinely be under-represented in the relevant sector, the measure must be designed to *de facto* reduce inequalities and compensate for career disadvantages and the criteria must be transparent and objective.²⁸⁰ The Treaty provision for positive action only applies to gender equality but it is still important to look at in the realm of the definition of indirect discrimination in order to understand the possible exceptions to its prohibition.

3. 1. 4. Practical Treatment of Equality Issues in Member States and in the European Institutions

The law on equality appears to be applied to EU civil servants in the same way as other workers in the Member States of the EU. However, one important difference which remains to be noted is that under Article 8 of the Framework Directive (Directive 2000/78/EC), Member States are permitted to implement more favourable regulations for the protection of equal treatment and this is in fact encouraged by the EU Lisbon Strategy for Growth and Jobs.²⁸¹ While the Institutions are not prohibited from implementing more

that the objective is legitimate and the requirement is proportionate."

²⁷⁶ This was previously provided for in Article 2 (1) and (4) of Directive 76/207/EEC, *supra* note 263.

²⁷⁷ Case C-476/99, Lommers [2002] ECR I-02891, *available at:* http://curia.europa.eu/jurisp/cgibin/form.pl?lang=en (last visited 13 April 2009).

²⁷⁸ Case C-450/93, Kalanke v Freie Hansetadt Bremen [1995] ECR I-03051, *available at:* http://eurlex.europa.eu/LexUriServ/LexUriServ.do?uri=CELEX:61993J0450:EN:HTML (last visited 13 April 2009), paras. 22–23.

²⁷⁹ Case C-409/95, Hellmut Marschall v Land Nordhein Westfalen [1997] ECR I-06363, *available at:* http://curia.europa.eu/jurisp/cgi-bin/form.pl?lang=en (last visited 13 April 2009), paras. 32-33. ²⁸⁰ Craig, P. & De Búrca, G., *supra* note 23, page 894.



favourable conditions, they are not encouraged in the same continuous manner as the Member States.

3. 1. 5. Interim Conclusion

Equality has increasingly been defined as a fundamental right and this is evidenced by the increased volume of equality legislation in the EC and subsequently in the internal organisation of the EU institutions. The Staff Regulations have incorporated at least the minimum EC standards in relation to the control of discrimination, but they are not encouraged to continue development of these regulations in the same manner as the Member States of the EU under the EU Lisbon Strategy for growth and jobs. The importance of understanding direct and indirect discrimination is that both can cause inequality in the workplace. However, indirect discrimination is not always prohibited. For instance, in positive action schemes what would otherwise be discriminatory is permitted in a specified sector to even out inequalities.

The development history of anti-discrimination law and the definitions of direct and indirect effect should be kept in mind when dealing with equality regarding physical working conditions for disabled people, pregnant workers, women who have just given birth and people with a religious need to worship during work hours.

²⁸¹ The EU Lisbon Strategy for Growth and Jobs (Communication from the Commission to the European Council Strategic Report on the renewed Lisbon strategy for growth and jobs: launching the new cycle (2008 – 2010) COM (2007) 803 final) is the product of a consensus between Member States to modernise Europe (*More information available at:* http://ec.europa.eu/growthandjobs/index_en.htm, last visited 13 April 2009). It aims at increasing the inclusion of disabled people in the workforce. In line with this, within the ambit of job protection, the European Employment Strategy (EES) guidelines, *available at:* Europa Website, European Commission; Employment, Social Affairs and Equal Opportunities, European Employment Strategy, http://ec.europa.eu/social/main.jsp?catId=101&langId=en, last visited 13 April 2009) set out the employment policies that are to be implemented by the Member States. This will be discussed in more detail in the section on the equality of working conditions regarding workers with disabilities (*See infra*, Section 3. 2.).



3. 2. EQUAL TREATMENT REGARDING PHYSICAL WORKING CONDITIONS: DISABILITY

3. 2. 1. Background to the Inclusion of Disability in Equality Legislation

The development of anti-discrimination law on the basis of disability is relatively recent. Prior to the Council Directive 2000/78/EC, the EC legislation regarding the inclusion of disabled people in the workplace was primarily non-binding in nature or took the form of action programmes which provided for the exchange of information in this field. These programmes were developed with a view to developing the Community Disability Policy. The first major step in the legal protection for those with disabilities came in 1999 with the Treaty of Amsterdam, which included a provision for the development of secondary legislation to combat discrimination, *inter alia*, on the grounds of disability. Any doubt regarding the possible effects of such an imprecise provision were quashed by the quick adoption of a non-discrimination package and non-discrimination directives. This marked a major step in the development of anti-discrimination disability law. Following an increase in the number of soft law measures, the equal treatment of persons with disabilities is included in the Framework Directive (Directive 2000/78/EC). The Preamble to this Directive acknowledges the need to "take appropriate action for the social and economic integration of elderly and disabled people". Furthermore, the

²⁸² Waddington, L., (2006) From Rome to Nice in a Wheelchair, The Development of a European Disability Policy, Groningen: Europa Law Publishing, p. 4.

²⁸⁴ EC Treaty, *supra* note 12, Article 13 (1): "Without prejudice to the other provisions of this Treaty and within the limits of the powers conferred upon it by the Community, the Council acting unanimously on a proposal from the Commission and after consulting the European Parliament, may take appropriate action to combat discrimination based on sex, racial or ethnic origin, religion or belief, disability, age or sexual orientation".

Waddington, L, *supra* note 282, p. 20 – The relevant directives are Directive 2000/43/EC implementing the principle of equal treatment between persons irrespective of racial or ethnic origin and Directive 2000/78/EC establishing a general framework for equal treatment in employment and occupation.

²⁸⁶ Council Proposals, Decisions and Recommendations, which do not have the force of law. In relation to the area of disability, the following soft law measures laid the foundations for the Framework Directive: COM(90) 588 (OJ [1992] C15/21) The proposal for a Council Directive on Transport for Workers with Reduced Mobility designed to enhance disabled worker's mobility and to provide them with safe transport to work. This was withdrawn by the Commission COM (2001) 763; Council Recommendation on the Employment of Disabled People in the Community 86/379/EEC of 24 July 1986 (OJ [1986] L225/43; Resolution of the Council and Representatives of the governments meeting within Council of 20 December 1996 on equality of opportunity for people with disabilities (OJ [1997] C12/1); Resolution 99/702 (OJ [1999] C186/3) on Equal Opportunities for people with Disabilities and the Commission Proposal for a Council Directive on Establishing a General Framework for Equal Treatment in Employment and Education COM (99)565,4.

²⁸⁷ Directive 2000/78/EC, *supra* note 261, Preamble, Recital 6.



importance of physically accommodating disabled people in the workplace is regarded as important in combating discrimination. Disability is included in Article 1 as one of the grounds under which discrimination is prohibited. The Nice Treaty marked another important step towards the protection of disabled people from discrimination with the formulation of the Charter of Fundamental Rights of the European Union. This defined the integration of persons with disabilities as a right. This Charter is not currently legally binding, but if the Lisbon Treaty is ratified, it will have legal standing. According to Blanpain, measures that need to be taken to integrate disabled people into society and the workplace include vocational training, ergonomics and accessibility. Pursuant to the development of law in this area and the Framework Directive (2000/78/EC), discrimination on the basis of disability is contrary to EC law and disabled people are to be reasonably accommodated in the workplace.

Article 1 of the Framework Directive has been incorporated into the Staff Regulations.²⁹² Disability requires special attention under the heading of Equal Treatment regarding Physical Working Conditions, as it differs from the other grounds for discrimination.²⁹³

²⁸⁸ *Ibid.*, Recital 16.

²⁸⁹ Charter of the Fundamental Rights of the European Union, *available at:*

http://www.europarl.europa.eu/charter/pdf/text_en.pdf (last visited 13 April 2009), Article 26, Integration of Persons with Disabilities: "The Union recognises and respects the right of persons with disabilities to benefit from measures designed to ensure their independence, social and occupational integration and participation in the life of the community."

²⁹⁰ Europa Website, Treaty of Lisbon, The Treaty at a glance, A Europe of Rights and Values, *available at:* http://europa.eu/lisbon_treaty/glance/rights_values/index_en.htm (last visited 13 April 2009): "...the Treaty of Lisbon guarantees the enforcement of the Charter of Fundamental Rights. The EU therefore acquires for itself a catalogue of civil, political, economic and social rights, which will be legally binding not only on the Union and its institutions, but also on the Member States as regards the implementation of Union law." ²⁹¹ Blanpain, R., *European Labour Law*, 10th Edition, 2006, The Hague: Kluwer Law International, p. 239.

²⁹² Staff Regulations, *supra* note 11, Article 1 (d): "In the application of these Staff Regulations, any discrimination based on any ground such as sex, race, colour, ethnic or social origin, genetic features, language, religion or belief, political or any other opinion, membership of a national minority, property, birth, disability, age, or sexual orientation shall be prohibited...4. For the purposes of paragraph 1, a person has a disability if he has a physical or mental impairment that is, or is likely to be, permanent. The impairment shall be determined according to the procedure set out in Article 33... A person with a disability meets the conditions laid down in Article 28 (e) if he can perform the essential functions of the job when reasonable accommodation is made.

^{&#}x27;Reasonable accommodation', in relation to the essential functions of the job, shall mean appropriate measures, where needed, to enable a person with a disability to have access to, participate in, or advance in employment, or to undergo training, unless such measures would impose a disproportionate burden on the employer.." This section of the Staff Regulations was incorporated by Council Regulation (EC, Euratom) No 723/2004 of 22 March 2004. Therefore four years after the creation of Directive 2000/78/EC. ²⁹³ Barnard, C., *supra* note 127, p. 393.



One such important difference is that it could inhibit an individual's ability to do his/her job. In certain circumstances, a specifiable amount of accommodation in the workplace could help the worker overcome the difficulty.

In this Section, the accommodation of disabled persons in the work place will be specifically considered. Additionally, the definition of disability will be analysed, along with the question of employee competence and the reasonable accommodation which is expected of the employer. As stated by Whittle, these are two of the core aspects of anti-discrimination which need to be understood before further progress can be made. ²⁹⁴ The situation vis-à-vis EU civil servants in the Staff Regulations will be examined in light of the EC law.

3. 2. 2. Definition of the Term "Disability"

The Framework Directive does not define the term "disability", and therefore recourse needs to be had to case law. The ECJ in <u>Chacón Navas v Eurest Colectividades SA</u>²⁹⁵ favoured the medical definition of disability. This definition was originally adopted in British law under the Disability Discrimination Act 1995 to mean "a physical or mental impairment which has a substantial and long-term adverse effect on [the] … ability to carry out normal day-to-day activities". Wells explains how this "medical model" sees disability as a functional impairment and the alternative "social model" classifies disability in relation to the relationship between the impaired individual and his/her society. The social model takes the view that the difficulties which disabled people face come from the disabling environment and not the individual's own impairment. The implication that society has the responsibility to accommodate a person with a disability

²⁹⁴ Whittle, R., 'The Framework Directive for Equal Treatment in Employment and Occupation: an analysis from a disability rights perspective', 2002, *European Law Review*, Volume 27.

²⁹⁵ Case C-13/05, Chacón Navas v Eurest Colectividades, [2007] SA ECR I-000, *available at*: http://curia.europa.eu/jurisp/cgi-bin/form.pl?lang=en (last visited 13 April 2009).

²⁹⁶ Office of Public Sector Information, Legislation, UK, Acts, Public Acts 1995, Disability Discrimination Act 1995, *available at:* http://www.opsi.gov.uk/acts/acts1995/ukpga_19950050_en_1 (last visited 13 April 2009), Section (1).

²⁹⁷ Wells, K. 'The impact of the Framework Employment Directive on UK Disability Discrimination Law', 2003, *Industrial Law Journal*, volume 32, p. 253.

²⁹⁸ Waddinton, L, *supra* note 282, p. 14.



is stronger under the social model than the medical model.²⁹⁹ In <u>Chacón Navas</u>, the ECJ ruled that a disability is a limitation that results from "physical, mental or psychological impairments" that may hinder a person's ability to partake in professional life for a probable long period of time.³⁰⁰ The ECJ further defined disability to be independent of sickness, and it held that a person who is dismissed as a result of a sickness is not covered by the Framework Directive.³⁰¹ However, the inclusion of a provision for reasonable accommodation in the Framework Directive³⁰² indicates that EC law has embraced the social model as it acknowledges that the environment of the impaired individual can be changed to accommodate them. Therefore, both definitions have a role to play in the development of anti-discriminatory disability policy within the EC.

The Staff Regulations define disability under the medical definition. Article 1d (4) of the Staff Regulations³⁰³ maintains that a person has a disability if he or she has a potentially permanent physical or mental impairment, which has been determined pursuant to the procedure outlined in Article 33.³⁰⁴ This Article sets out the requirement for every potential employee to be medically examined by one of the institutions' medical officers.

305 This is with the aim of confirming that the employees meet the requirements of Article 28 (e), 306 which states that an official has to be deemed physically fit to perform his or her duties. 307 In the event of a negative response to Article 28 (e), Article 33 details the procedure for appeal. 308

²⁹⁹ Ibid.

³⁰⁰ Chacón Navas v Eurest Colectividades Case, *supra* note 295, paras. 43–45.

³⁰¹ *Ibid.*, para. 47.

³⁰² Directive 2000/78/EC, *supra* note 261, Article 5 – Reasonable accommodation for disabled people.

³⁰³ Staff Regulations, *supra* note 11, Article 1d (4). This article was incorporated into the Staff Regulations by Council Regulation (EC, Euratom) No 723/2004 of 22 March 2004.

³⁰⁴ *Ibid.*, Article 33. This article was incorporated into the Staff Regulations by Council Regulation (Euratom, ECSC, EEC) No 912/78 of 2 May 1978.

³⁰⁵ *Ibid.*

³⁰⁶ *Ibid.*, Article 28 (e). This was incorporated into the Staff Regulations by Council Regulation (EC, Euratom) No 723/2004 of 22 March 2004.

³⁰⁷ *Ibid.*, Article 28 (e): "An official may be appointed only on condition that: (e) he is physically fit to perform his duties;"

³⁰⁸ *Ibid.*, Article 33: "...Where a negative medical opinion is given as a result of the medical examination provided for in the first paragraph, the candidate may, within 20 days of being notified of this opinion by the institution, request that his case be submitted for the opinion of a medical committee composed of three doctors chosen by the appointing authority from among the institutions' medical officers. The medical officer responsible for the initial negative opinion shall be heard by the medical committee. The candidate may refer the opinion of a doctor of his choice to the medical committee. Where the opinion of the medical



3. 2. 3. The Duty of the Employer to make "Reasonable Accommodation" for a Person with Disability

The concept of reasonable accommodation comes from the social model definition of a disability.³⁰⁹ This is an example of positive action which is permitted and encouraged to integrate a marginalised group into employment. The importance of an employer's obligation to accommodate disabled people is evident from the fact that a failure to reasonably accommodate a person with a disability can lead to discrimination. It obliges an employer to acknowledge the impairment and to decide whether changes can be made to the work environment to permit the disabled person to carry out the required standard of work.³¹⁰ As a result of the specific characteristics of a disability, EC law has not created a blanket requirement on employers to fully accommodate those with disabilities. The Preamble to the Framework Directive affirms that:

"This Directive does not require the recruitment, promotion, maintenance in employment or training of an individual who is not competent, capable and available to perform the essential functions of the post concerned or to undergo the relevant training, without prejudice to the obligation to provide reasonable accommodation for people with disabilities."

Article 5 of the Framework Directive outlines "reasonable accommodation" as follows:

"In order to guarantee compliance with the principle of equal treatment in relation to persons with disabilities, reasonable accommodation shall be provided. This means that employers shall take appropriate measures, where needed in a particular case, to enable a person with a disability to have access to, participate in, or advance in employment, or to undergo training, unless such measures would impose a disproportionate burden on the employer"

Therefore, the obligation of reasonable accommodation applies to both direct and indirect discrimination. Article 1d (4) of the Staff Regulations transposes this definition of

committee confirms the conclusions of the medical examination provided for in the first paragraph, the candidate shall pay 50 % of the fees and of the incidental costs."

³⁰⁹ Waddinton, L., *supra* note 282, p. 22.

³¹⁰ Ibid

³¹¹ Directive 2000/78/EC, *supra* note 261, Preamble, Recital 17.



"reasonable accommodation" verbatim.³¹² However, a supplementary assessment criterion which applies to Member States is included in Article 5 of the Framework Directive. This is that the burden on the employer shall not be disproportionate where the Member State already sufficiently remedies the inclusion of disabled people by means of a national policy.³¹³ In other words, the reasonable accommodation test considers national policies. This creates another point of reference for the Member States in the interpretation and implementation of the principle of "reasonable accommodation". The reasoning behind such a provision is that one can expect more protection if there are subsidies from elsewhere. For instance, under public access obligations a building would have to have better accessibility for disabled people. Hence, one can expect a higher level of accommodation in such buildings. If there are more finances available to an undertaking, the level of accommodation which would be reasonably expected would be higher.

The EU institutions have adapted the exact definition of "reasonable accommodation", and are therefore, without being under the obligation to do so, in conformity with EC law. However, the institutions do not undergo the same constant evaluation as the Member States. The EU Disability Action Plan (DAP) 2003 – 2010 aims at mainstreaming the issue of disability and integrating this issue into all EU policy areas. ³¹⁴ Member States are encouraged to take further measures pursuant to the Council Conclusions on the follow-up to the European Year of People with Disabilities 15512/03. ³¹⁵ Furthermore, the EU Lisbon Strategy for Growth and Jobs aims at increasing the inclusion of disabled people in the workforce. ³¹⁶ In line with this, within the ambit of job protection, the European Employment Strategy (EES) guidelines set out the employment policies that are to be

(last visited 13 April 2009).

³¹² Staff Regulations, *supra* note 11, Article 4.

³¹³ Directive 2000/78/EC, *supra* note 261, Article 5 - Reasonable accommodation for disabled people:

[&]quot;...This burden shall not be disproportionate when it is sufficiently remedied by measures existing within the framework of the disability policy of the Member State concerned."

³¹⁴ European Commission; Employment, Social Affairs and Equal Opportunities; The EU Disability Action Plan, *available at:* http://ec.europa.eu/social/main.jsp?catId=430&langId=en (last visited 13 April 2009). ³¹⁵ Council Conclusions on the follow-up to the European Year of People with Disabilities 15512/03, *available at:* http://eur-lex.europa.eu/LexUriServ/LexUriServ.do?uri=CELEX:52007DC0738:EN:NOT

³¹⁶ Communication from the Commission to the European Council – Strategic Report on the renewed Lisbon strategy for growth and jobs: launching the new cycle (2008 – 2010) COM (2007) 803 final, para 4.1, Investing in People and Modernising Labour Markets: "...Support for low-skilled workers, migrants and disabled people needs to be reinforced, notably by fostering skills development".



implemented by the Member States.³¹⁷ All Member States have to report back to the Commission annually, outlining their national developments, among others, in the area of employment initiatives for disabled people.³¹⁸ Therefore, despite the fact that the Staff Regulations implement the same definition of "reasonable accommodation" as the Framework Directive, they are not subject to the same constant evaluation as the Member States.

The concept of "reasonable accommodation" merits further analysis. Its underlying aim is to remove barriers without creating undue burdens for an employer. "Reasonable accommodation" can be limited in two respects: firstly, it only applies to what is reasonable; and secondly, it is limited if it creates undue hardship. Recital 21 of the Preamble of the Framework Directive states that "to determine whether the measures in question give rise to a disproportionate burden, account should be taken in particular of the financial and other costs entailed, the scale and financial resources of the organisation or undertaking and the possibility of obtaining public funding or any other assistance." ³²⁰

Therefore, the test of what is reasonable is monetary in nature. The cost which is calculated must only relate to the measures which an employer would have to take for the accommodation of a disabled individual. "Reasonable accommodation" is to be provided if an employee can and should be accommodated to do his function.³²¹ There is no

³¹⁷ Europa Website, European Commission; Employment, Social Affairs and Equal Opportunities, European Employment Strategy, *available at:* http://ec.europa.eu/social/main.jsp?catId=101&langId=en (last visited 13 April 2009).

³¹⁸ The European Employment Strategy, guideline 12, the 'developing entrepreneurship' pillar '...provides that Member States will "promote measures to exploit fully the possibilities offered by job creation at local level and in the social economy, especially in new activities linked to needs not yet satisfied by the market, and examine, with the aim of reducing, any obstacles in the way of such measures. In this respect, the special role and responsibility of local and regional authorities, other partners at the regional and local levels, as well as the social partners, needs to be more fully recognised and supported. In addition, the role of the Public Employment Services in identifying local employment opportunities and improving the functioning of local labour markets, should be fully exploited."

³¹⁹ Barnard, C., *supra* note 127, p. 401.

³²⁰ Directive 2000/78/EC, *supra* note 261, Preamble, Recital 21.

³²¹ Whittle, R., *supra* note 294, sets out an example of a 'reasonable accommodation' scenario in page 314: The requirement to have a driving licence for a specific job would constitute indirect discrimination against a blind person but it would have to be permitted as to outlaw it would be unworkable. However, if being able to drive is an advantage for the employer but not an essential element of the job, under the principle of 'reasonable accommodation', the employer is obliged to take reasonable actions for the blind person (such as swapping some of his/her tasks with another work colleague or providing a taxi on the necessary occasions).



obligation to accommodate those who are not qualified for the employment position. An employer has to assess new employees in light of the accommodations that could reasonably be undertaken.³²² The aim of such provisions is that disabled people are not hindered from participation in working life because of stereotypical assumptions.³²³ EC law provides for the special provisions for disabled individuals by virtue of Article 5 of the Framework Directive.³²⁴

The possibility of teleworking as a means of reasonable accommodation has not been addressed by EC law or the EU institution's staff regulations. However, within the European Commission there is a possibility to telework for up 50% of each working week.³²⁵ In the event that a workplace cannot be adjusted to accommodate for a disabled individual, teleworking could provide a financially viable solution. However, to decide whether teleworking was reasonable in a specific case, it would have to be assessed under the same reasonable accommodation test as any other provision.

3. 2. 4. Interim Conclusion

Further to the EU Lisbon Strategy for Growth and Jobs, a policy of increased inclusion of disabled people in the workforce has emerged in the EU. According to this emerging body of law, disabled people have the right to integrate into society and this is to be facilitated by "reasonable accommodation" at work to overcome these barriers. Both EC law and the Staff Regulations aim at striking a balance between the need to integrate disabled people and the creation of excessive burdens for the employer. The Staff Regulations are notably not bound by EC law and therefore the implementation of rules which coincide with EC law is voluntarily. The Staff Regulations follow the minimum standards as set out in EC law and there has not yet been any case before the Civil

³²² Whittle, R. *supra* note 294, p. 317.

³²³ Collins, H., 'Discrimination, Equality and Social Inclusion' (2003) *Modern Law Review*, Volume 66, p.16.

³²⁴ Directive 2000/78/EC, *supra* note 261, Article 5.

³²⁵ Commission Of The European Communities Brussels, 21 December 2006 C (2006) 6831 Memorandum To The Commission of 21 December 2006 concerning the use of teleworking the Commission services. Adoption of a new "Guidelines for the implementation of teleworking in the European Commission (Memorandum from Mr Kallas), page 4.



Servants Tribunal questioning "reasonable accommodation" by a person with a disability. However, it is worth noting that the EU institutions are not under the same constant scrutiny as the Member States and therefore they are not under the same pressure to improve physical working conditions for disabled people.

- 3. 3. Equal Treatment Regarding Physical Working Conditions: Pregnant Workers and Workers who have Recently Given Birth
- 3. 3. 1. European Community Law Providing for the Equal Treatment of Pregnant Workers and Workers who have Recently Given Birth with regards to the Working Conditions
- 3. 3. 1. 1. General Overview of the European Community Law Regarding the Equal Treatment and Health and Safety of the Pregnant Workers and Workers who have Recently Given Birth

Within secondary European Community legislation, three Directives need to be mentioned with regards to the pregnant workers and workers who have recently given birth, namely the Directive 89/654/EEC on the minimum safety and health requirements for the workplace, 326 the Directive 92/85/EEC on the introduction of measures to encourage improvements in the safety and health at work of pregnant workers and workers who have recently given birth or are breastfeeding 327 and the Directive 2006/54/EC on the implementation of the principle of equal opportunities and equal treatment of men and women in matters of employment and occupation. 328

Directive 89/654/EEC³²⁹ has one sole provision on this topic, stating merely that the pregnant women and nursing mothers must be able to lie down to rest in appropriate

³²⁶Directive 89/654/EEC, *supra* note 15.

³²⁷ Council Directive 92/85/EEC of 19 October 1992 on the introduction of measures to encourage improvements in the safety and health at work of pregnant workers and workers who have recently given birth or are breastfeeding (tenth individual Directive within the meaning of Article 16 (1) of Directive 89/391/EEC), *available at:* http://eur-lex.europa.eu/smartapi/cgi/sga_doc?smartapi!celexapi!prod! CELEXnumdoc&lg=EN&numdoc=31992L0085&model=guichett (last visited 13 April 2009).

³²⁸ Directive 2006/54/EC, *supra* note 262.

³²⁹ Directive 89/654/EEC, *supra* note 15.



conditions.³³⁰ The Directive 92/85/EEC³³¹ is of greater importance, as it focuses specifically on this category of workers. Both Directives formally fall in the group of directives dealing with health and safety requirements. However, with regards to the pregnant workers and workers that have recently given birth, the provisions also have a strong non-discrimination component.³³² While providing for the protection of the health and safety of this category of workers by imposing the obligation to accommodate the working conditions to their needs, the provisions also strive for assuring that the pregnant workers and workers who have recently given birth can perform their jobs as equally as possible to other workers. For this reason, the topic of pregnant workers and workers who have recently given birth is included in the Section on equality regarding physical working conditions rather than in the previous Section dealing exclusively with physical working conditions.

It is acknowledged in the Preamble of the Directive 92/85/EEC³³³ that pregnant workers and workers who have recently given birth or who are breastfeeding are a specific risk group to which certain activities can pose a danger and therefore deserve special attention with regards to their safety and health protection.³³⁴ To achieve this aim, and from the perspective of physical working conditions, the Directive firstly imposes an obligation on the employer to assess the risk of exposure to the certain agents, processes or working conditions; secondly to inform the workers concerned about the outcome of the assessment; and finally to take the necessary measures to ensure that exposure to such risks in avoided.³³⁵ The Directive itself provides a non-exhaustive list of agents (physical, biological and chemical), processes and working conditions that need to be assessed;³³⁶

³³⁰ *Ibid.*, Annex I, Article 17 and Annex II, Article 12.The provisions are identical, the reason for their being stated twice is that Annex I deals with the workplaces used for the first time, whereas Annex II regulates workplaces already in use before 1 January 1993, imposing an obligation that the workplaces satisfy the minimum safety and health requirements laid down in it at the latest three years after that date. ³³¹ Directive 92/85/EEC, *supra* note 327.

³³² Commission's Network of legal experts in the fields of employment, social affairs and equality between men and women, Report on Pregnancy, Maternity, Parental and Paternity Rights, *available at*: http://ec.europa.eu/employment_social/gender_equality/legislation/report_pregnancy.pdf (last visited 13 April 2009), p. 4.

³³³ Directive 92/85/EEC, *supra* note 327.

³³⁴ *Ibid.*, Preamble.

³³⁵ *Ibid.*, Article 4.

³³⁶ *Ibid.*, Annex I.



and furthermore, it regulates the cases in which the exposure is prohibited.³³⁷ In cases where the risk turns out to be present, the employer has a duty to adjust the working conditions and/or working hours of the worker in question, or when such adjustments are not feasible or cannot be reasonably required, the worker shall be moved to another job or, if even that is not possible, she shall be granted leave for the entire period necessary to protect her safety or health.³³⁸

Regarding the functional organisation of work, the Directive pays special attention to the regulation of the night work of pregnant workers and workers who have recently given birth. In accordance with the provision of Article 7, such workers are not obliged to perform night work if they submit a medical certificate stating that this is necessary for their safety and health.³³⁹ The possible measures in such cases must entail a possibility for the worker concerned to be transferred to daytime work, or leave from work or extension of maternity leave where such transfer is not feasible or cannot be reasonably required.³⁴⁰

Finally, the third directive, Directive 2006/54 imposes on the Member States the obligation of equal treatment of pregnant workers and workers who have recently given birth. In the Preamble it is pointed out that according to the case law of the European Court of Justice, unfavourable treatment of a woman because of pregnancy or maternity constitutes direct discrimination on the grounds of sex.³⁴¹ Furthermore, the protection of a woman's biological condition during pregnancy and maternity and the introduction of maternity protection measures as a means to achieve substantive equality are legitimate as regards the principle of equal treatment.³⁴²

In Article 2,³⁴³ which relates to any less favourable treatment of a woman related to pregnancy or maternity leave in the definition of discrimination, the Directive makes explicit reference to the Directive 92/85/EEC. The latter Directive's definitions of pregnant workers and maternity leave are decisive for the personal scope of the

³³⁷ *Ibid.*, Article 6 and Annex II, listing the prohibited agents and working conditions.

³³⁸ *Ibid.*, Article 5.

³³⁹ *Ibid.*, Article 7.

³⁴⁰ *Ibid.*, Article 7.

³⁴¹ Directive 2006/54, *supra* note 262, Preamble, Recital 23.

³⁴² *Ibid.*, Preamble, Recital 24.

³⁴³ *Ibid.*, Article 2 (2) (c).



prohibition of discriminatory treatment under the paragraph 2 (c) of Article 2 of the Directive 2006/54. The most important substantive provision explicitly regarding the workers who have recently given birth is Article 15.³⁴⁴ With respect to the employment rights of women on maternity leave, according to this provision this group of workers are "entitled, after the end of her period of maternity leave, to return to her job or to an equivalent post on terms and conditions which are no less favourable to her and to benefit from any improvement in working conditions to which she would have been entitled during her absence".³⁴⁵ Together with the prohibition of dismissal during pregnancy and maternity leave, ³⁴⁶ this right is constitutive for the protection of the employment status, health and safety of the pregnant workers and workers who have recently given birth.

3. 3. 1. 2. The Prohibition of Dismissal as a Measure to Protect the Health and Safety of Pregnant Workers and Workers who have Recently Given Birth

The Member States are under an obligation to take measures that pregnant workers or workers who have recently given birth cannot be dismissed from the beginning of their pregnancy to the end of the maternity leave pregnant workers.³⁴⁷ The Preamble of the Directive 92/85/EEC justifies such prohibition by the fact that the risk of dismissal for reasons associated with their condition may have harmful effects on their physical and mental state.³⁴⁸ The same is further reiterated by the case law of the European Court of Justice. In the <u>Brown</u> case,³⁴⁹ the Court held that

"It was precisely in view of the harmful effects which the risk of dismissal may have on the physical and mental state of women who are pregnant, women who have recently given birth or women who are breastfeeding, including the particularly serious risk that pregnant women may be prompted voluntarily to terminate their pregnancy, that the Community legislature, pursuant to Article 10 of Council Directive 92/85/EEC ...

³⁴⁴ *Ibid.*, Article 15.

³⁴⁵ *Ibid.*, Article 15.

³⁴⁶ See infra, Section 3.3.1.2..

³⁴⁷ Directive 92/85/EEC, *supra* note 327, Article 10.

³⁴⁸ *Ibid.*, Preamble.

³⁴⁹ See also Case C-109/00, Tele Danmark [2001] ECR I-06993, available at: http://curia.europa.eu/jurisp/cgi-bin/form.pl?lang=en (last visited 13 April 2009), para. 26 and Case C-460/06, Paquay [2007] ECR I-08511, available at: http://curia.europa.eu/jurisp/cgi-bin/form.pl?lang=en (last visited 13 April 2009), para. 30.



provided for special protection to be given to women, by prohibiting dismissal during the period from the beginning of their pregnancy to the end of their maternity leave."³⁵⁰

As stated in Article 10 of the Directive 92/85/EEC,³⁵¹ this provision is meant to guarantee the health and safety protection rights of this group of workers. They can only be dismissed "in exceptional cases not connected with their condition which are permitted under national legislation and/or practice and, where applicable, provided that the competent authority has given its consent".³⁵² Apart from that, no exception to or derogation from the prohibition of dismissal is allowed from the start of worker's pregnancy to the end of her maternity leave.³⁵³

The scope of the protection granted by Article 10 of this Directive is interpreted in a broad manner by the ECJ. In <u>Jiménez Melgar</u>,³⁵⁴ the Court held that the precise obligation imposed by this Article on the Member States afford them no margin of discretion,³⁵⁵ especially when they are acting in their capacity as an employer. Furthermore, regarding this prohibition of dismissal,³⁵⁶ no distinction is made between the employment contracts for an indefinite period and the fixed-term employment contracts.³⁵⁷ In <u>Paquay</u>,³⁵⁸ the Court further expanded the scope of the protection by pointing out that, "in the context of the application of Article 10 of the Directive 92/85, the Member States cannot amend the scope of the concept 'dismissal' thereby negating the extent of the protection which that provision offers and compromising its effectiveness".³⁵⁹ In addition, it was established in

³⁵⁰ Case C-394/96, Brown [1998] ECR I-04185, *available at:* http://curia.europa.eu/jurisp/cgi-bin/form.pl? lang=en (last visited 13 April 2009), para 18.

³⁵¹ Directive 92/85/EEC, supra note 327.

³⁵² *Ibid.*, Article 10, Point 1.

³⁵³ Brown Case, *supra* note 350, para. 18; Tele Danmark Case, *supra* note 349, paras. 26 and 27; Paquay Case, *supra* note 349, para. 31, Case C-506/06, Mayr [2008] ECR I-01017, *available at:* http://curia.europa.eu/jurisp/cgi-bin/form.pl?lang=en (last visited 13 April 2009), para. 35.

³⁵⁴ Case C-438/99, Jiménez Melgar [2001] ECR I-06915, *available at:* http://curia.europa.eu/jurisp/cgibin/form.pl?lang=en (last visited 13 April 2009).

³⁵⁵ *Ibid.*, para. 33.

³⁵⁶ *Ibid.*, para. 44. *See also* Tele Danmark Case, *supra* note 349, para. 31.

³⁵⁷ However, the non-renewal of a fixed-term contract is not contrary to the provision of Article 10 of the Directive 92/85/EEC, *supra* note 327. Nevertheless, it is still prohibited, when such non-renewal is based on the worker's state of pregnancy and therefore constitutes direct discrimination on grounds of sex, contrary to current Article 14(1) of the Directive 2006/54/EC, *supra* note 262, which replaced the Articles 2(1) and 3(1) of the Directive 76/207, *supra* note 261 (*See* Jiménez Melgar Case, *supra* note 354, paras. 45-47). For a general analysis of fixed-term contracts, *see infra*, Section 4. 6..

³⁵⁸ Paquay Case, *supra* note 349.

³⁵⁹ *Ibid.*, para. 32.



the same case that not only the notification of dismissal, but also the steps taken in the preparation of the dismissal are prohibited under the provision of Article 10 of the Directive 92/85/EEC.³⁶⁰ In accordance with the case law, the European Commission's Proposal for the amendment of the Directive 92/85/EEC³⁶¹ includes prohibition of all preparations for a possible dismissal not related to exceptional circumstances, during the maternity leave.³⁶²

In the recent judgement in the <u>Mayr</u>³⁶³ case regarding the *in vitro* fertilisation, the ECJ held that the earliest possible date in the pregnancy must be chosen for the purpose of ensuring the health and safety of pregnant workers.³⁶⁴ The Court ultimately maintained the limits of the scope of Article 10 of the Directive 92/85/EEC³⁶⁵ by holding that the prohibition of dismissal under Article 10 does not extend to "a female worker who is undergoing in vitro fertilisation treatment where, on the date she is given notice of her dismissal, her ova have already been fertilised by her partner's sperm cells, so that in vitro fertilised ova exist, but they have not yet been transferred into her uterus".³⁶⁶

As has been pointed out, the dismissal of a pregnant worker or worker who has recently given birth is allowed in exceptional cases, where the reason of dismissal is not connected with the worker's condition, provided that, where applicable, the competent authority has given its consent.³⁶⁷ According to the case law of the ECJ, the Member States are not under the obligation to compose a specific list of reasons for permitted

³⁶⁰ *Ibid.*, para. 33.

³⁶¹ Proposal for a Directive of the European Parliament and of the Council amending Council Directive 92/85/EEC on the introduction of measures to encourage improvements in the safety and health at work of pregnant workers and workers who have recently given birth or are breastfeeding, COM(2008) 637 final, *available at*: http://eur-lex.europa.eu/LexUriServ/LexUriServ.do?uri=CELEX:52008PC0637:EN:NOT (last visited 13 April 2009).

³⁶² *Ibid.*, the existing Paragraph 1 of Article 10 is replaced with the following:

[&]quot;1. The Member States shall take the necessary measures to prohibit the dismissal *and all preparations for a dismissal of workers* within the meaning of Article 2 during the period from the beginning of their pregnancy to the end of the maternity leave provided for in Article 8(1), save in exceptional cases not connected with their condition which are permitted under national legislation and/or practice and, where applicable, provided that the competent authority has given its consent." (*Emphasis added*).

³⁶³ Mayr Case, *supra* note 353.

³⁶⁴ *Ibid.*, para. 40.

³⁶⁵ Directive 92/85/EEC, supra note 327.

³⁶⁶ Mayr Case, *supra* note 353, para. 53.

³⁶⁷ Directive 92/85/EEC, supra note 327, Article 10.



dismissals.³⁶⁸ Furthermore, the Court established that the provision of Article 10 of the Directive 92/85/EEC³⁶⁹ is to be interpreted as meaning that the consent of a competent authority is necessary where such a procedure had already existed in the Member State and independent of any obligation to introduce such national authority.³⁷⁰ The employer does however have an obligation to substantiate the ground for the dismissal in writing³⁷¹ and the workers must be provided with the necessary protection from the consequences of an unlawful dismissal.³⁷²

Finally, it has to be pointed out that the protection afforded by the Directive 92/85/EEC³⁷³ to the workers who have recently given birth is complemented by the protection of employment rights of women, particularly their right to return to work, under the Directive 2006/54. That right is, as noted in Section 3.3.1.1., explicitly guaranteed to women who have recently given birth.

3. 3. 2. Provisions Regarding European Civil Servants

The Staff Regulations³⁷⁴ have no specific provision dealing with the protection of the health and safety of pregnant workers and workers who have recently given birth with regards to the physical working conditions. The Manual of Standard Building Specifications³⁷⁵ mentions that the first-aid post and rest area may be used to accommodate pregnant women and breastfeeding mothers who may need to lie down.³⁷⁶

³⁶⁸ Jiménez Melgar Case, *supra* note 354, para. 37.

³⁶⁹ Directive 92/85/EEC, supra note 327, Article 10.

³⁷⁰ Jiménez Melgar Case, *supra* note 354, paras. 51 and 52.

³⁷¹ The Proposal for a Directive of the European Parliament and of the Council amending Council Directive 92/85/EEC on the introduction of measures to encourage improvements in the safety and health at work of pregnant workers and workers who have recently given birth or are breastfeeding, COM(2008) 637 final, *supra* note 327, extends this obligation to provide a reasoning in writing to the cases when the worker is dismissed within six months from the end of her maternity leave and requests that the employer does so. The new proposed Paragraph 2 of Article 10 goes as follows: "If a worker within the meaning of Article 2 is dismissed during the period referred to in point 1 the employer must cite duly substantiated grounds for her dismissal in writing. If the dismissal occurs within six months following the end of maternity leave as provided for in Article 8(1), the employer must cite duly substantiated grounds for her dismissal in writing at the request of the worker concerned." (Emphasis added).

³⁷² Directive 92/85/EEC, *supra* note 327, Article 10.

³⁷³ Directive 2006/54/EC, *supra* note 262.

³⁷⁴ Staff Regulations, *supra* note 11.

³⁷⁵ Manual of Standard Building Specifications, *supra* note 49.

³⁷⁶ *Ibid.*, Section 8.1., p. 332.



It has to be stressed, however, that this is not an obligation imposed on the European Commission acting in its capacity as an employer, but merely a guideline that it might follow when establishing the working conditions for the European civil servants.

3. 3. 3. Interim Conclusions

The EC legislation, supported by the jurisprudence of the European Court of Justice, aims at a high level of protection of pregnant workers and workers who have recently given birth. They are seen as a specific risk group and accordingly, special measures need to be taken by the Member States to provide for adequate protection; the workplace has to be adjusted to afford them the possibility to rest; special risk assessment must be performed by the employer and the pregnant workers and workers who have recently given birth may be excluded from the obligation of night work. Any less favourable treatment of women due to their pregnancy or maternity leave is considered discriminatory and maternity protection measures are viewed as legitimate measures to establish equality. Dismissal of a worker during her pregnancy or maternity leave is prohibited and the worker has the right to return to her job or an equivalent post and the right to all the benefits from any improvement in working conditions to which she would have been entitled during her absence.

Staff Regulations do not provide specifically for any protection of this kind and the regulation of the issue seems to be scarce. It appears that the level of protection afforded by EC legislation to EU citizens is higher and more precise than that which is afforded to the European civil servants.

3. 4. EQUAL TREATMENT REGARDING PHYSICAL WORKING CONDITIONS: RELIGION AND PLACE TO WORSHIP

As far as the Staff Regulations are concerned, the topics of religion and a place to worship at work are not mentioned. However, Article 13 (1) of the EC Treaty³⁷⁸ permits

³⁷⁷ Directive 2006/54/EC, *supra* note 262, Preamble, Recital 24.

³⁷⁸ EC Treaty, *supra* note 12.



the EU institutions to take action regarding specific discriminatory grounds.³⁷⁹ Article 1 of Directive 2000/78 EC prohibits, *inter alia*, the discrimination on the basis of religion or belief. ³⁸⁰ The Staff Regulations deal with this matter in Article 1d (5).³⁸¹ Therefore, if an EU official is not provided with a place to worship or sufficient time to reach the place for his or her religious needs, it could be inferred that there is potential discrimination. This could occur between religious employees and employees without religious beliefs in the same position.

3. 4. 1. The Duty of the Employer to Give Reasonable Consideration to the Employees' Religious Needs

Currently,

no legislation exists within the EU framework that obliges an employer to provide a place to worship within the premises of the work place. Therefore this topic creates a certain degree of legal uncertainty within Staff Regulations as well as in EC legislation. As a result of the lack of legislation on this subject, recourse will be made to case law.

The leading authority regarding this topic is the European Court of Human Rights case Ahmad v United Kingdom,³⁸² where the applicant, who was a school teacher employed by a local authority, complained that he was forced to resign from his full-time post because he was refused permission to attend a mosque for the purposes of worship during

³⁷⁹ *Ibid.*, Article 13 (1): "Without prejudice to the other provisions of this Treaty and within the limits of the powers conferred by it upon the Community, the Council, acting unanimously on a proposal from the Commission and after consulting the European Parliament, may take appropriate action to combat discrimination based on sex, racial or ethnic origin, religion or belief, disability, age or sexual orientation." ³⁸⁰ Council Directive 2000/78/EC of 27 November 2000, establishing a general framework for equal treatment in employment and occupation, Chapter 1, Article 1, "The purpose of this Directive is to lay down a general framework for combating discrimination on the grounds of religion or belief, disability, age or sexual orientation as regards employment and occupation, with a view to putting into effect in the Member States the principle of equal treatment.".

³⁸¹ Staff Regulations, *supra* note 11, Article 1d (5): "Where persons covered by these Staff Regulations, who consider themselves wronged because the principle of equal treatment as set out above has not been applied to them, establish facts from which it may be presumed that there has been direct or indirect discrimination, the onus shall be on the institution to prove that there has been no breach of the principle of equal treatment. This provision shall not apply in disciplinary proceedings.".

³⁸²Ahmad v United Kingdom (1982) 4 EHRR 126.



hours of employment.³⁸³ The Commission of the European Court of Human Rights³⁸⁴ found that the case was inadmissible on the basis that, according to the Article 9(1) of the European Convention on Human Rights and Fundamental Freedoms (ECHR),³⁸⁵ freedom of religion³⁸⁶ is not absolute, but subject to the limitations set out by Article 9(2).³⁸⁷ Furthermore, "it may, as regards the modality of a particular religious manifestation, be influenced by the situation of the person claiming that freedom".³⁸⁸ The Commission accepts that the school authorities, in their treatment of the applicant's case on the basis of his contract with the employer, had to regard not only his religious position, but also to the requirements of the education system as a whole.³⁸⁹ In other words, the ECHR is drawn in vague terms presenting high-sounding principles that can be used for all sorts of unreasonable claims and initiate all sorts of litigation.³⁹⁰ These principles needed to be precisely defined and applied in conformity with existing law and the needs and rights of other parties involved.

Still, the case suggests that employers should give genuine and serious consideration to the ways to accommodate their employees' requests, even if they cannot ultimately do so. The importance of this case is that the conclusion was made by the European Commission of Human Rights established by legally binding European Convention of

³⁸³ European Court of Human Rights, Application 8160/78, Decision of 12 March 1981 on the admissibility of the application, p. 33, para 1.

³⁸⁴ This case was examined under old Strasbourg Mechanism of the European Court of Human Rights lasting until 1998. Two organs were initially set up under the European Convention of Human Rights: the European Commission of Human Rights and the European Court of Human Rights. Applications were first examined by the Commission, which established the facts of the case and determined the admissibility of the complaint.

³⁸⁵ Convention for the Protection of Human Rights and Fundamental Freedoms (ECHR) 213 UNTS 222; 312 ETS 5, entered into force 3 September 1953, *available at:*

http://www.echr.coe.int/NR/rdonlyres/D5CC24A7-DC13-4318-B457-

⁵C9014916D7A/0/EnglishAnglais.pdf (last visited 13 April 2009), Article 9 (1): "Everyone has the right to freedom of thought, conscience and religion; this right includes freedom to change his religion or belief and freedom, either alone or in community with others and in public or private, to manifest his religion or belief, in worship, teaching, practice and observance." . 386 Ibid.

³⁸⁷ *Ibid.*, Article 9 (2): "Freedom to manifest one's religion or beliefs shall be subject only to such limitations as are prescribed by law and are necessary in a democratic society in the interests of public safety, for the protection of public order, health or morals, or for the protection of the rights and freedoms of others."

³⁸⁸*Ibid.*, para. 11, p. 35.

³⁸⁹ European Court of Human Rights, Application 8160/78, Decision of 12 March 1981 on the admissibility of the application, para. 19, p. 37.

³⁹⁰ Lord Denning MR, Ahmad v United Kingdom [1978] QB 38.



Human Rights.³⁹¹ The recognition of the Commission's jurisdiction had been made upon separate recognition of the European Convention of Human Rights by individual states. Once states ratify European Convention of Human Rights they are legally bound under Article 46 (1)³⁹² of the Convention to follow decisions of organisations set up by this Convention.

3. 4. 2. Interim Conclusion

Following the principle of the conclusion of the Commission in Ahmad v United Kingdom, it appears that workers covered by EU legislation are entitled under Article 9³⁹³ to the freedom of religion as far as it does not significantly interfere with their duties under the employment contract. Nevertheless, it is essential to mention that for the employer, there is no clear obligation under the EU legislation to provide a physical place to worship. The reasoning behind this is that it could create significant hardship for the employer to accommodate such a request due to a lack of facilities or other reasonable matters. The fact that the EU civil servants are employees of EU institutions created by European Countries, which voluntarily ratified the European Convention of Human Rights, might indicate a very vague relationship between the principle established by judgement in Ahmad v United Kingdom and the EU institutions. However, such a statement is a speculation and not a legal conclusion. In addition, the Staff Regulations do not address this point at all. Therefore, pure reliance on the application of European Court of Human Rights judgments on the EU institutions is too remote. As a result, it cannot be asserted that EU institutions are obliged to take requests for a place to worship into consideration.

³⁹³ *Ibid*.

³⁹¹ Convention for the Protection of Human Rights and Fundamental Freedoms, *supra* note 385.

³⁹² *Ibid.*, Article 46 (1): "Any of the High Contracting Parties may at any time declare that it recognizes as compulsory 'ipso facto' and without special agreement the jurisdiction of the Court in all matters concerning the interpretation and application of the present Convention."



4. FUNCTIONAL ORGANISATION OF WORK

4. 1. Introduction

Functional organisation of work combines two main elements of work management. On one hand, it forms an important part of the protection of workers' health and safety, but on the other hand it also expresses the employer's need to organise the work process appropriate to the employer's needs.

This Section therefore looks at both aspects of the organisation of work, keeping in line with the comparative approach of this report. Firstly, working time and rest periods are dealt with. Falling within this scope, maximum weekly working time, breaks, daily and weekly rests, overtime, shift and night work and part-time work as regulated in EC legislation and Staff Regulations are compared. Further on, maternity and paternity leave, annual leave and sick leave are all looked at individually. Lastly, the issue of the renewal of fixed-term contracts is explored in more detail, presenting both the EC legislation and case law on this topic as well as the applicable law to the EU civil servants regarding the fixed-term contracts.

Interim conclusions are drawn in each subsection to summarise the essential findings.

4. 2. Functional Organisation of Work: Working Time and Rest Periods

4. 2. 1. The Scope of Regulation under the European Community Law

Working time regulation is an important aspect of the protection of workers' health and safety. The main act regulating the working time as regards the working hours and breaks is the Directive 2003/88/EC of the European Parliament and the Council concerning certain aspects of the organisation of working time.³⁹⁴ Apart from that, "the provisions of Council Directive of 12 June 1989 on the introduction of measures to encourage

³⁹⁴ Directive 2003/88/EC of the European Parliament and of the Council of 4 November 2003 concerning certain aspects of the organisation of working time, *available at:* http://eurlex.europa.eu/smartapi/cgi/sga_doc?smartapi!celexapi!prod!

CELEXnumdoc&lg=en&numdoc=32003L0088&model=guichett (last visited 13 April 2009).



improvements in the safety and health of workers at work (89/391/EEC) remain fully applicable to the areas covered by the first Directive, without prejudice to more stringent and/or specific provisions contained therein".³⁹⁵

Already Article 137 of the Treaty establishing the European Community³⁹⁶ aims at improving the working conditions as well as the working environment to protect workers' health and safety. The second paragraph of this article provides legal basis for the Directive 2003/88/EC, which has replaced Council Directive 93/104/EC.³⁹⁷ The Directive 2003/88/EC limits its purpose to lying down the minimum health and safety requirements for the organisation of working time.³⁹⁸ The principle of "humanisation of work" underlies the aim of the Directive, demanding therefore that its provisions are interpreted in the light of adapting the work to the worker.³⁹⁹

In the Preamble, the Directive 2003/88/EC states that all workers are entitled to adequate rest periods⁴⁰⁰ and that a maximum limit on weekly working hours⁴⁰¹ must be enforced. "Working time" is defined as "any period during which the worker is working, at the employer's disposal and carrying out his activity of duties, in accordance with national

³⁹⁵ *Ibid.*, Preamble, Recital 3.

³⁹⁶ EC Treaty, *supra* note 12, Article 137 goes as follows:

[&]quot;1. With a view to achieving the objectives of Article 136, the Community shall support and complement the activities of the Member States in the following fields:

a) improvement in particular of the working environment to protect workers' health and safety;

b) working conditions;...

^{2.} To this end, the Council:

^{...} may adopt, in the fields referred to in paragraph 1(a) to (i), by means of directives, minimum requirements for gradual implementation, having regard to the conditions and technical rules obtaining in each of the Member States. Such directives shall avoid imposing administrative, financial and legal constraints in a way which would hold back the creation and development of small and medium-sized undertakings...

^{5.} The provisions of this article shall not apply to pay, the right of association, the right to strike or the right to impose lock-outs."

³⁹⁷Council Directive 93/104/EC of 23 November 1993 concerning certain aspects of the organization of working time, *available at:* http://eur-lex.europa.eu/smartapi/cgi/sga_doc?smartapi!celexapi!prod! CELEXnumdoc&lg=EN&numdoc=31993L0104&model=guichett (last visited 13 April 2009).

³⁹⁸ Directive 2003/88/EC, *supra* note 394, Article 1.

³⁹⁹ Barnard, C., *supra* note 127, p. 579, *see* footnote 51: "Although Art. 13 is located at the end of Section III on night work there is no evidence that it is confined to this section, particularly since the Article makes express reference to breaks during working time which is found in Section II. Indeed, it would appear from the breadth of Art. 13 that all provisions must be interpreted in the light of the principle of humanization of work."

⁴⁰⁰ Directive 2003/88/EC, *supra* note 394, Preamble, Recital 5.

⁴⁰¹ *Ibid.*, Preamble, Recital 5.



laws and/or practice"; 402 whereas "rest period" means "any period which is not working time". 403 Rest periods, according to the Directive, are therefore divided in four different groups, namely daily rest, breaks, weekly rest period, and annual leave. 404 Additionally, the Directive sets a limit to the maximum allowed weekly working time. 405 In the case law of the European Court of Justice it has, moreover, been established that the "concept [of working time] is placed in opposition to rest periods, the two being mutually exclusive". 406

As far as the European Union civil servants are concerned, the consolidated version of the Staff Regulations sets forth their working conditions under its Title IV.

In the following paragraphs, different aspects of the working time are presented one by one in a comparative mode. Firstly the relevant EU legislation is described and this is followed by an outline of the provisions regulating the European Union civil servants.

4. 2. 2. Maximum Weekly Working Time

4. 2. 2. 1. European Community Law and Case Law Regarding Maximum Weekly Working Time

The reason behind the maximum working hours that workers can do per week is set forth by the Directive, 407 namely to protect their safety and health. The Member States must take measures to ensure that the maximum limit is set by means of laws or agreements and that "the average working time for each seven-day period, including overtime, does

⁴⁰² *Ibid.*, Article 2, Point 1.

⁴⁰³ *Ibid.*, Article 2, Point 2.

⁴⁰⁴ For the purpose of this report, the issue of annual leave will be dealt with separately. *See infra*, Section 4. 4..

⁴⁰⁵ Directive 2003/88/EC, *supra* note 394, Article 6, para. 2 (b).

⁴⁰⁶ Case C-303/98, Simap [2000] ECR I-07963, *available at:* http://curia.europa.eu/jurisp/cgi-bin/form.pl? lang=en (last visited 13 April 2009), para. 47; Case C-151/02, Jaeger [2003] ECR I-08389, *available at:* http://curia.europa.eu/jurisp/cgi-bin/form.pl?lang=en (last visited 13 April 2009), para. 48; Case C-14/04, Dellas and Others [2005] ECR I-10253, *available at:* http://curia.europa.eu/jurisp/cgi-bin/form.pl?lang=en (last visited 13 April 2009), para. 42 (*see also* other cases cited in the paragraph, and a later Order of the Court C-437/05).

⁴⁰⁷ Directive 2003/88/EC, *supra* note 394.



not exceed 48 hours". ⁴⁰⁸ In <u>Pfeiffer and Others</u>, ⁴⁰⁹ the European Court of Justice held that this provision is sufficiently precise and unconditional to have direct effect. ⁴¹⁰ When applying the laws, which aim at transposing the directive, in the proceedings between private individuals, since no direct effect is possible in such horizontal relationships, the national courts are bound to interpret the whole body of relevant national laws in the light of the wording and purpose of the directive, doing what is possible to ensure that the maximum working time limit of 48 hours is not exceeded. ⁴¹¹

In <u>Simap</u>⁴¹² and <u>Jaeger</u>⁴¹³ and <u>Dellas and Others</u>⁴¹⁴ cases, the European Court of Justice dealt extensively with the content of on-call and stand-by duty. It has been established that the defining factor for determining whether on-call duty or stand-by falls under working time or rest period is whether the worker is under the obligation to stay in the workplace, irrespective of the actual work that he does in that time. Regarding the on call duty of doctors, the ECJ held in <u>Simap</u> that:

"... even if the activity actually performed varies according to the circumstances, the fact that such [workers] are obliged to be present and available at the workplace with a view to providing their professional services means that they are carrying out their duties in that instance." [T]he situation is different where doctors in primary care teams are on call by being contactable at all times without having to be at the health centre. Even if they are at the disposal of their employer, in that it must be possible to contact them, in that situation doctors may manage their time with fewer constraints and pursue their own interests. In those circumstances, only time linked to the actual provision of primary care services must be regarded as working time within the meaning of Directive 93/104." 417

⁴⁰⁸ *Ibid.*, Article 6.

⁴⁰⁹ Joined Cases C-397/01 to C-403/01, Pfeiffer and Others, *supra* note 36.

⁴¹⁰ *Ibid.*, paras. 104-106.

⁴¹¹ *Ibid.*, para. 120.

⁴¹² Simap Case, *supra* note 406.

⁴¹³ Jaeger Case, *supra* note 406.

⁴¹⁴ Dellas and Others Case, *supra* note 406.

⁴¹⁵ *See* Dellas and Others Case, *supra* note 406, para. 43: "The conclusion must be in this context, first, that Directive 93/104 does not provide for any intermediate category between working time and rest periods and, second, that the intensity of the work done by the employee and his output are not among the characteristic elements of the concept of 'working time' within the meaning of that directive."

⁴¹⁶ Simap Case, *supra* note 406, para. 48; Jaeger Case, *supra* note 406, para. 49.

⁴¹⁷ Simap Case, *supra* note 406, para. 50; Jaeger Case, *supra* note 406, para. 51.



The Court employs in all instances the concept of 'on-call' duty and not of 'stand-by' duty, ⁴¹⁸ but as seen from the judgement, it is the content of the duty that plays the decisive role with regards to the working time and the Court established that on-call duty of a doctor, who is obliged to stay in the hospital, constitutes working time. Following these judgments of the Court, the European Commission issued a proposal for the amendment of the Directive 2003/88/EC, ⁴¹⁹ which was later amended. ⁴²⁰ According to the European Commission, one of the aims of the Directive was to "provide legislative definitions relating to 'on-call' time, and to distinguish between different types of on-call time, in response to recent decisions of the Court of Justice (Simap, Jaeger...) which have

On-call time

The inactive part of on-call time shall not be regarded as working time unless national law or, in accordance with national law and/or practice, a collective agreement or an agreement between the social partners decides otherwise.

The inactive part of on-call time may be calculated on the basis of an average number of hours or a proportion of on-call time, taking account of experience in the sector concerned, by collective agreement or agreement between the social partners or following consultation of the social partners.

The inactive part of on-call time may not be taken into account in calculating the rest periods laid down in Articles 3 (daily rest period) and 5 (weekly rest period)."

The period during which the worker effectively carries out his activity or duties during on-call time shall always be regarded as working time.«

(Amended proposal for a Directive of the European Parliament and of the Council amending Directive 2003/88/EC concerning certain aspects of the organisation of working time COM (2005)246 final of 31.05.2005, last visited 3 April 2009:

http://ec.europa.eu/employment_social/labour_law/docs/w_t_310505_en.pdf).

⁴¹⁸ 'Stand-by' duty is mentioned in Jaeger Case, *supra* note 406, with respect to German national law, which makes a distinction between 'Bereitschaftsdienst' or 'on-call duty' and 'Rufbereitschaft' or 'stand-by service' (paras. 15 and 16). On-call duty in this context means that the worker is "obliged to be present at a place determined by the employer, on or outside the latter's premises, and to keep himself available to answer his employer's call, but he is authorised to rest or to occupy himself as he sees fit as long as his services are not required" (para. 15), whereas the stand-by service "is characterised by the fact that the employee is not obliged to remain waiting in a place designated by the employer but it is sufficient for him to be reachable at any time so that he may be called upon at short notice to perform his professional tasks" (para. 16).

⁴¹⁹ Proposal for a Directive of the European Parliament and of the Council amending the Directive 2003/88/EC of the European Parliament and of the Council of 4 November 2003 concerning certains aspects of the organisation of working time, *available at*:

http://ec.europa.eu/employment_social/news/2004/sep/working_time_directive_proposal_en.pdf (last visited 13 April 2009).

⁴²⁰ The amended proposal of the Directive 2003/88/EC with regards to the on-call time goes as follows: "In Article 2, paragraphs 1a, 1aa and 1b shall be added:

[&]quot;1a. "on-call time": period during which the worker has the obligation to be available at the workplace in order to intervene, at the employer's request, to carry out his activity or duties.

¹aa. "workplace": the place or places where the worker normally carries out his activities or duties and which is determined in accordance with the terms laid down in the relationship or employment contract applicable to the worker.

¹b. "inactive part of on-call time": period during which the on-call worker is on call within the meaning of Article 1a but is not required by his employer to effectively carry out his activity or duties."

^{2.} The following Article 2a shall be added:

[&]quot;Article 2a



had a profound effect on the organisation of working time in public services."⁴²¹ At the present stage, the Commission, the Council and the European Parliament are divided with regards to the content of 'inactive part of on-call time'. The Commission, as well as the Council⁴²² defend the position that active periods of on-call time always constitute a part of working time, whereas the inactive periods do not, unless national law or collective agreements provide so, while the European Parliament on the other hand argues that both active and inactive periods should be considered as constituting working time. ⁴²³ The issue is therefore still somewhat disputed and at this point, the case law of the European Court of Justice remains the main point of reference with regards to the contents of the on-call duty. Considering this case law, however, the position of the European Parliament seems to be closer to the interpretation of the concept as established by the Court. ⁴²⁴

4. 2. 2. Staff Regulations' Provisions Regarding Maximum Weekly Working Time

The main provision regarding the EU officials is laid down in Article 55 of the Staff Regulations, and it stresses that the officials shall be at disposal of their institution at all

⁴²¹ Communication from the Commission to the European Parliament pursuant to the second subparagraph of Article 251 (2) of the EC Treaty concerning the common position of the Council on the adoption of a proposed Directive of the European Parliament and of the Council amending Directive 2003/88/EC concerning certain aspects of the organisation of working time, *available at:* http://eurlex.europa.eu/LexUriServ/LexUriServ.do?uri=COM:2008:0568:FIN:EN:PDF (last visited 13 April 2009), p. 3.

⁴²² See The Common Position adopted by the Council on 15 September 2008 with a view to the adoption by the European Parliament and the Council of a Directive amending Directive 2003/88/EC concerning certain aspects of the organisation of working time - statement of the Council's reasons and the legislative acts and other instruments, *available at*:

http://www.europarl.europa.eu/meetdocs/2004_2009/organes/empl/empl_20081020_2100.htm (last visited 13 April 2009).

⁴²³ Opinion of the Commission pursuant to Article 251 (2), third subparagraph, point (c) of the EC Treaty on the European Parliament's amendments to the Council's common position regarding the proposal for a Directive of the European Parliament and of the Council amending Directive 2003/88/EC concerning certain aspects of the organisation of working time amending the proposal of the Commission pursuant to Article 250 (2) of the EC Treaty (04/02/2009), *available at*:

http://ec.europa.eu/employment_social/labour_law/docs/2009/avis_en.pdf (last visited 13 April 2009). ⁴²⁴ In Dellas and Others Case, *supra* note 406, paras. 46 and 47, the ECJ held that "it is settled case-law that on-call duty performed by a worker where he is required to be physically present on the employer's premises must be regarded in its entirety as working time within the meaning of Directive 93/104, regardless of the work actually done by the person concerned during that on-call duty [...]" (para. 46) and that "[t]he fact that on-call duty includes some periods of inactivity is thus completely irrelevant in this connection" (para 47.).



times.⁴²⁵ The hours of the working day are nevertheless to be determined by the appointing authority, where the normal working week must not exceed 42 hours.⁴²⁶ However, an official may be required to remain on standby duty at his or her place of work or at home outside normal working hours.⁴²⁷ In the latter case, the official is entitled to a special allowance.⁴²⁸

4. 2. 2. 3. Interim Conclusion

The main difference between the European Community law and the Staff Regulations is in the approach itself. The EU legislation not only sets a maximum weekly working time that the Member States have to transpose to national legislation, but also clearly states that this maximum (calculated as a weekly average): (a) includes overtime, which is not the case for the Staff Regulations, and (b) includes the time when the worker is at the employer's disposal;⁴²⁹ whereas the Staff Regulations explicitly provide for a possibility of a stand-by duty outside the normal working hours.

4. 2. 3. Breaks, Daily and Weekly Rest Periods

4. 2. 3. 1. European Community Law Regarding Breaks, Daily and Weekly Rest Periods

According to Article 4 of the Directive 2003/88/EC, ⁴³⁰ Member States have the obligation to "take measures necessary to ensure that, where the working day is longer than six hours, every worker is entitled to a rest break". ⁴³¹ The details, including duration and the

⁴²⁵ Staff Regulations, *supra* note 11, Article 55, para. 1. This Article has been amended by Regulation (Euratom, ECSC, EEC) No 1369/72 of the Council of 27 June 1972, Regulation (Euratom, ECSC, EEC) No 1473/72 of the Council of 30 June 1972 and last by Regulation (Euratom, ECSC, EEC) No 1601/75 of the Council of 24 June 1975.

⁴²⁶ *Ibid.*, Article 55, para. 2.

⁴²⁷ *Ibid.*, Article 55, para. 3.

⁴²⁸ *Ibid.*, Article 56 (b), para. 1. In accordance 1 with Article 56b, para 2, the categories of officials entitled to such allowances, the conditions for granting the allowances and also the rates thereof are laid down in a separate document, namely in Council Regulation (EEC, EURATOM, ECSC) No 495/77, *available at:* http://eur-lex.europa.eu/LexUriServ/LexUriServ.do?uri=CONSLEG:1977R0495:20061223:EN:PDF (last visited 13 April 2009).

⁴²⁹ As laid down in Article 2, Point 1 of the Directive 2003/88/EC, *supra* note 394.

⁴³⁰ Directive 2003/88/EC, *supra* note 394.

⁴³¹ *Ibid.*, Article 4.



terms on which the break is granted, are to be laid down in collective agreements or agreements between the two sides of industry or, if failing that, by national legislation. 432

Article 3 of the Directive states that the "Member States shall take the measures necessary to ensure that every worker is entitled to a minimum daily rest period of 11 consecutive hours per 24-hour period". Furthermore, regarding the weekly rest, the Member States must "take the measures necessary to ensure that, per each seven-day period, every worker is entitled to a minimum uninterrupted rest period of 24 hours plus the 11 hours' daily rest referred to in Article 3". Moreover, "if the objective, technical or work organisation conditions so justify, a minimum rest period of 24 hours may be applied". Asset the desired to the d

4. 2. 3. 2. Staff Regulations' Provisions on Breaks, Daily and Weekly rest Periods

As far as the EU civil servants are concerned, there are no provisions in the Staff Regulations regulating their right to breaks, or daily or weekly rests.

4. 2. 4. Overtime, Shift and Night Work

4. 2. 4. 1. Overtime

4. 2. 4. 1. 1. European Community Law Regarding Overtime

As stated in Article 2, Point 1 of the Directive 2003/88/EC, the allowed amount of overtime depends on the regular working time, since together they must not exceed the prescribed 48 hours' weekly maximum.⁴³⁶ The Member States do, however, have an option to lay down reference periods, provided that these do not exceed four months, for the application of the maximum weekly working time.⁴³⁷ Consequently, on a shorter basis

⁴³² *Ibid*.

⁴³³ *Ibid.*, Article 3.

⁴³⁴ *Ibid.*, Article 5.

⁴³⁵ *Ibid*.

⁴³⁶ *Ibid.*, Article 6, para. 2 (b).

⁴³⁷ *Ibid.*, Article 16, Point a.



overtime is not prohibited, as long as the reference-period based average satisfies the maximum weekly working time criterion laid down in the Directive.

4. 2. 4. 1. 2. Staff Regulations' Provisions Regarding Overtime

The Staff Regulations state that "an official may not be required to work overtime except in cases of urgency or exceptional pressure of work". The maximum overtime which an official may be asked to work is set at 150 hours in any six months. Whether an official has a right to a compensation or remuneration depends on the administrators' (AD) or assistants' (AST) function group to which they belong; but generally speaking, only lower ranking civil servants are entitled to a compensation or remuneration when obliged to work overtime.

4. 2. 4. 2. Shift Work and Night Work

4. 2. 4. 2. 1. European Community Law on Shift Work and Night Work

⁴³⁸ Staff Regulations, *supra* note 11, Article 56, Para. 1. This provision of the Staff Regulations was amended by Regulation (Euratom, ECSC, EEC) No 1473/72 (OJ L 160, 16.7.1972, p. 1), which added the 150 hours limit.

⁴³⁹ Staff Regulations, *supra* note 11, Article 56, Paras. 2 and 3 go as follows: "Overtime worked by officials in function group AD, and in function group AST 5 to 11 shall carry no right to compensation or remuneration. As provided in Annex VI, overtime worked by officials in grade AST 1 to AST 4 shall entitle them either to compensatory leave or to remuneration where requirements of the service do not allow compensatory leave during the month following that in which the overtime was worked." These two paragraphs were last amended by Council Regulation (EC, Euratom) No 723/2004 of 22 March 2004, which amended the names of the function groups.

See also Annex VI, Article 1 of the Staff Regulations: "Within the limits laid down in Article 56 of the Staff Regulations, overtime worked by an official in grade AST 1 to AST 4 shall entitle him to compensatory leave or to remuneration as follows:

⁽a) For each hour of overtime, he shall be entitled to one hour and a half off as compensatory leave; if the hour of overtime is worked between 2200 hours and 0700 hours or on a Sunday or on a public holiday, the entitlement to compensatory leave shall be two hours off; in the granting of compensatory leave, account shall be taken of the requirements of the service and the preference of the official concerned.

⁽b) Where the requirements of the service do not permit compensatory leave to be taken during the month following that during which the overtime was worked, the appointing authority shall authorise remuneration for uncompensated hours of overtime at the rate of 0.56% of the monthly basic salary for each hour of overtime on the basis set out in subparagraph (a).

⁽c) To qualify for compensatory leave or remuneration for one hour's overtime, the extra time worked must have been more than thirty minutes".



The level of safety and the protection of health of the night and shift workers must be adapted to the nature of their work.⁴⁴⁰ Therefore, the Directive 2003/88/EC⁴⁴¹ sets forth a few provisions dealing specifically with shift and night work. It defines shift work as:

"... any method of organising work in shifts whereby workers succeed each other at the same work stations according to a certain pattern, including a rotating pattern, and which may be continuous or discontinuous, entailing the need for workers to work at different times over a given period of days or weeks".⁴⁴²

In this context, "shift worker" means "any worker whose work schedule is part of shift work". 443 The definition of a 'night worker' is, according to the Directive, twofold: on one hand, it refers to "any worker, who, during night time, works at least three hours of his daily working time as a normal course"; 444 and on the other hand, the definition includes "any worker who is likely during night time to work a certain proportion of his annual working time". 445 The definition of 'night time' is laid down in the Directive as well; it refers to "any period of not less than seven hours, as defined by national law, and which must include, in any case, the period between midnight and 5.00". 446

The Directive puts the Member States under the obligation to take the necessary measures with regards to the length of the night work to ensure both that "normal hours of work for night workers do not exceed an average of eight hours in any 24-hour period", 447 and also that "night workers whose work involves special hazards or heavy physical or mental strain do not work more than eight hours in any period of 24 hours during which they perform night work". 448 The reference period for calculation of this average occurs after consultation of the two sides of industry or by collective agreements

⁴⁴⁰ See Directive 2003/88/EC, supra note 394, Preamble, Recital 10.

⁴⁴¹ Directive 2003/88/EC, *supra* note 394.

⁴⁴² *Ibid.*, Article 2, Point 5.

⁴⁴³ *Ibid.*, Article 2, Point 6.

⁴⁴⁴ *Ibid.*, Article 2, Point 4.

⁴⁴⁵ *Ibid.*, Article 2, Point 4: "As defined at the choice of the Member State concerned: (i) by national legislation, following consultation with the two sides of industry; or (ii) by collective agreements or agreements concluded between the two sides of industry at national or regional level."

⁴⁴⁶ *Ibid.*, Article 2, Point 3.

⁴⁴⁷ *Ibid.*, Article 8 (a).

⁴⁴⁸ *Ibid.*, Article 8 (b).



or agreements concluded between the two sides of industry at national or regional level.

449 It is obligatory for the Member States to ensure that the night workers are provided with regular free health assessments;

450 and they are obliged to take all the necessary measures to ensure that the health and safety protection of the night and shift workers is appropriate to the nature of their work, and that they have at all times at their disposal the relevant appropriate prevention services or facilities, equivalent to those applicable to other workers.

451

4. 2. 4. 2. 2. Staff Regulations' Provisions on Shift Work and Night Work

Regarding the shift work done by the EU employees, the Staff Regulations state that such civil servants are, when expected to work regularly at night, on Saturdays, Sundays or public holidays, "entitled to special allowances when doing shift work which is required by the institution because of the exigencies of the service or safety rules and which is regarded by it as a regular and permanent feature". ⁴⁵² An additional requirement set forth by the Staff Regulations is that "the normal working hours of an official on shiftwork must not exceed the annual total of normal working hours [sic]". ⁴⁵³

4. 2. 4. 2. 3. Interim Conclusion

The night work and shift work are more precisely defined and the matter is regulated in more detail on the European community level. Both bodies of law do however set a maximum amount of night or shift work. The EC law provides for the average of 8 hours in any 24-hour period as a limit which must not be exceeded, therefore leaving the Member States with the discretion to determine the reference period for the calculation at

⁴⁴⁹ *Ibid.*, Article 16 (c).

⁴⁵⁰ *Ibid.*, Article 9.

⁴⁵¹ *Ibid.*, Article 12.

⁴⁵² Staff Regulations, *supra* note 11, Article 56a (1). In para. 2 of the same Article, it is stated that "acting on a proposal from the Commission submitted after consulting the Staff Regulations Committee, the Council shall determine the categories of officials entitled to such allowances, and the rates and conditions thereof".

⁴⁵³ *Ibid.*, Article 56 a, para. 3.

⁴⁵⁴ Directive 2003/88/EC, *supra* note 394, Article 8 (a).



a national level.⁴⁵⁵ The Staff Regulations, on the other hand, set the annual total number of normal working hours as the maximum limit for the normal working hours of the official on shift work.⁴⁵⁶ The difference in the regulation lies in the additional provisions dedicated specifically to the protection of health and safety of the night and shift workers (such as obligatory free health assessment, necessary measures for protection of health and safety to be taken), which are incorporated in the Directive 2003/88/EC⁴⁵⁷ but not in the Staff Regulations.⁴⁵⁸

4. 2. 5. Part Time Work

4. 2. 5. 1. European Community Law on Part Time Work

The provisions regarding the part-time work, applicable to the workers in the European Union, are enacted in a separate Directive, namely Council Directive 97/81/EC concerning the Framework Agreement on part-time work concluded by UNICE, CEEP and the ETUC. The Framework Agreement sets out the general principles and minimum requirements relating to the part-time work and its purpose is the elimination of the discrimination against the part-time workers as well as the promotion of the flexible organisation of working time. It defines the "part-time worker" as "an employee whose normal hours of work, calculated on a weekly basis or on average over a period of employment of up to one year, are less than the normal hours of work of a comparable full-time worker".

⁴⁵⁵ *Ibid.*, Article 16 (c).

⁴⁵⁶ Staff Regulations, *supra* note 11, Article 56a (3).

⁴⁵⁷ Directive 2003/88/EC, *supra* note 394.

⁴⁵⁸ Staff Regulations, *supra* note 11. It must be noted, however, that under Article 59 of the Staff Regulations, all the officials of the EU (and not specifically those performing night or shift work) are subject to obligatory annual medical check-up by the institution's medical officer or by a medical practitioner chosen by them.

⁴⁵⁹ Council Directive 97/81/EC of 15 December 1997 concerning the Framework Agreement on part-time work concluded by UNICE, CEEP and the ETUC with Annex: Framework agreement on part-time work, *available at*: http://eur-lex.europa.eu/LexUriServ/LexUriServ.do?uri=CELEX:31997L0081:EN:HTML (last visited 13 April 2009).

⁴⁶⁰ Framework Agreement, *supra* note 459, Preamble.

⁴⁶¹ *Ibid.*, Clause 1.

⁴⁶² *Ibid.*, Clause 2, Pt. 1.



4. 2. 5. 2. Staff Regulations' Provisions on Part Time Work

According to the Staff Regulations, the authorisation to work part time may be granted upon the official's request. The official is entitled to authorisation in certain cases related to family life, further training or gradual adjustment to the retirement. In these circumstances, either the option to refuse the authorisations of request is subject to stricter conditions or the period of the part time work itself is limited by the Staff Regulations.

What is specific for the Staff Regulations is that they make a distinction between the parttime work as described above, and half-time work as regulated in Article 55b.⁴⁶⁶ The reason behind the half-time work is to provide the officials with the opportunity of jobsharing.⁴⁶⁷ This possibility is limited by the official's post, which must be appropriate for such purpose; but once authorised, the right to work half-time must generally not be limited in time.⁴⁶⁸

4. 2. 5. 3. Interim Conclusion

Both the EC law and the Staff Regulations offer a possibility of part time work. With respect to half time work, however, considering that no such concept is included in the provisions of the Directive 97/81/EC,⁴⁶⁹ it can be noted that in this respect, the Staff Regulations even exceed the protection afforded by the European Community legislation.

⁴⁶³ Staff Regulations, *supra* note 11, Article 55a, para. 1. This Article was last amended by Council Regulation (EC, Euratom) No 723/2004 of 22 March 2004, therefore shortly after the Directive 2003/88/EC.

⁴⁶⁴ *Ibid.*, Article 55a, para. 2.

⁴⁶⁵ See Staff Regulations, *supra* note 11, Article 55 (a), para. 2: "Where part-time is requested in order to take part in further training, or as of the age of 55, the Appointing Authority may refuse authorisation or postpone its date of effect *only in exceptional circumstances and for overriding service-related reasons*. Where such entitlement to authorisation is exercised to care for a seriously ill or disabled spouse, relative in the ascending line, relative in the descending line, brother or sister, or to take part in further training, *the total of all such periods shall not exceed five years over the official's career.*"

 $^{^{466}}$ *Ibid.*, Article 55b, para. 1. This Article was last amended by Council Regulation (EC, Euratom) No 723/2004 of 22 March 2004 .

⁴⁶⁷ Ibid.

⁴⁶⁸ According to Article 55b, the authorisation may be withdrawn by the Appointing Authority in the interests of the service giving the official six months' notice, or on application of the official concerned and giving at least six months' notice.

⁴⁶⁹ Directive 97/81/EC, *supra* note 459.



4. 2. 6. Interim Conclusion

The EC legislation and the Staff Regulations deal with certain aspects of the working time with a different approach. The first difference appears already in defining the maximum weekly working time. Contrary to the EC legislation, which limits the maximum working hours and includes in this scope also the overtime⁴⁷⁰ to protect the workers in the EU, the Staff regulations put stress on the official's duty to be at the disposal of the organisation at all times,⁴⁷¹ adding only after that that the normal working hours are to be determined by the appointing authority.⁴⁷² With regards to the breaks, daily and weekly rests, no such right is explicitly afforded to the EU civil servants.

The regulation of night and shift work in EC law focuses on providing the necessary protection of workers in the Member States; whereas with regards to the civil servants, the approach seems to be more lenient, providing the officials with the right to special allowances and setting the permitted yearly limit of shift work.

On the issue of part time work, which is regulated both under the EC legislation and the Staff Regulations, the latter offers an additional opportunity for the EU civil servants, which is not provided for within the scope of the Directive 2003/88/EC, namely the possibility to work half- time in the form of job sharing.⁴⁷³

⁴⁷⁰ Directive 2003/88/EC, *supra* note 394, Article 6.

⁴⁷¹ Staff Regulations, *supra* note 11, Article 55, para. 1. It must be noted that this requirement can hardly be regarded as a peculiarity of the Staff Regulations, on the contrary, it is a general characteristic of the system of civil service.

⁴⁷² *Ibid.*, Article 55, para. 2.

⁴⁷³ *Ibid.*, Article 55 (b), para. 1.



4. 3. Functional Organisation of Work: Maternity and paternity leave 96/34/EC, Special directive for United Kingdom 97/75/EC

The entitlement for parental leave is covered by EC Directive 96/34/EC,⁴⁷⁴ which has the purpose of putting the annexed Framework Agreement on parental leave concluded on 14 December 1995 between the general cross-industry organisations (Unice, CEEP and the ETUC) into effect.⁴⁷⁵ This Directive is applicable to all Member States with the exception to United Kingdom of Great Britain and Northern Ireland, where Directive 97/75/EC is applicable⁴⁷⁶ without prejudice to Article 2 of the Directive 96/34/EC.⁴⁷⁷ The only difference is the date for implementation.

The main section of the consolidated version of the Staff Regulations dealing with the parental leave is Chapter 2, Section 6, Article 42a, and the main body of EU legislation on the same topic is the Council Directive 96/34/EC of 3 June 1996. ⁴⁷⁸

The aim of this Section is to compare the Staff Regulations with the Council Directive in order to find out whether EU civil servants are being treated equally under the Staff Regulations as other EU employees under the Council Directive. 479

⁴⁷⁴ Council Directive 96/34/EC of 3 June 1996 on the framework agreement on parental leave concluded by UNICE, CEEP and the ETUC, *available at:* http://eur-lex.europa.eu/smartapi/cgi/sga_doc?smartapi! celexapi!prod!CELEXnumdoc&lg=EN&numdoc=31996L0034&model=guichett (last visited 13 April 2009).

⁴⁷⁵ *Ibid.*, Article 1.

⁴⁷⁶ Council Directive 97/75/EC of 15 December 1997 amending and extending, to the United Kingdom of Great Britain and Northern Ireland, Directive 96/34/EC on the framework agreement on parental leave concluded by UNICE, CEEP and the ETUC, *available at:* http://eur-lex.europa.eu/smartapi/cgi/sga_doc? smartapi!celexapi!prod!CELEXnumdoc&lg=EN&numdoc=31997L0075&model=guichett (last visited 13 April 2009).

⁴⁷⁷*Ibid.*, Article 2: 'The following paragraph shall be inserted in Article 2 of Directive 96/34/EC: " As regards the United Kingdom of Great Britain and Northern Ireland, the date of 3 June 1998 in paragraph 1 shall be replaced by 15 December 1999. "

⁴⁷⁸ Council Directive 96/34/EC, *supra* note 474.

⁴⁷⁹ *Ibid.*, Annex, Clause 1: Purpose and Scope 1: "all workers, men and women, who have an employment contract or employment relationship as defined by the law, collective agreements or practices in force in each Member State".



4. 3. 1. European Community Law on Parental Leave

The Council Directive 96/34/EC applies to all workers, men and women, who have an employment contract or employment relationship as defined by the law, collective agreements or practices in force in each Member State.⁴⁸⁰ As far as parental leave is concerned, under Council Directive 96/34/EC EU workers are granted leave, on non-transferable basis.⁴⁸¹ According to the Council Directive, men and women workers have an individual right to parental leave on the grounds of the birth or adoption of a child to enable them to take care of that child, for at least three months until the child is eight years old.⁴⁸² EU legislation decides whether parental leave is granted on a full-time or part-time basis, in a piecemeal way or in the form of a time-credit system.⁴⁸³ The remuneration during parental leave is left to be determined by domestic legislation of the Member States.

EU workers keep their rights which they have already acquired up until the start of the period of parental leave. Those rights shall be maintained as they remain until the end of the parental leave period. At the end of parental leave, these rights, including any changes arising from national law, collective agreements or practice, shall apply. For EU workers this involves, "all matters relating to social security in relation to this agreement are for consideration and determination by Member States according to national law, taking into account the importance of the continuity of the entitlements to social security cover under the different schemes, in particular health care." At the end of the parental leave, workers shall have the right to return to the same job or, if that is not possible, to an equivalent or similar job consistent with their employment contract or employment relationship. Health care.

⁴⁸⁰*Ibid.*, Annex, Clause 1: Purpose and Scope 1.

⁴⁸¹ *Ibid.*, Annex, Clause 2 (2).

⁴⁸² *Ibid.*, Annex, Clause 2 (1).

⁴⁸³ *Ibid.*, Annex, Clause 2 (3) (a).

⁴⁸⁴ *Ibid.*, Annex, Clause 2 (6).

⁴⁸⁵ *Ibid.*, Clause 2 (8)

⁴⁸⁶*Ibid.*, Annex, Clause 2. 5.



4. 3. 2. Staff Regulations' Provisions on Parental Leave

In comparison, the Staff Regulations do not address transferability of parental leave. Officials of EU institutions⁴⁸⁷ are entitled to a maximum of six months of parental leave which is to be taken during the first twelve years after the birth or adoption of the child.⁴⁸⁸ The officials of the EU institutions are entitled to their parental leave without their basic salary; instead they shall receive EUR 822, 06 or 50 % of such sum if on half-time leave but may not engage in any other gainful employment. 489 During parental leave, the official's membership of the social security scheme shall continue; the acquisition of pension rights, dependent child allowance and education allowance shall be maintained. ⁴⁹⁰ Furthermore, EU civil servants enjoy the full contribution to the social security scheme which shall be borne by the institution and calculated on the basis of the basic salary of the official.⁴⁹¹ An EU civil servant shall retain his or her post, and shall continue to be entitled to advancement or promotion in grade.⁴⁹²

4. 3. 3. Interim Conclusion

In general, it is possible to say that the Staff Regulations by their nature are more detailed than EC legislation concerning parental leave. It must be noted that this area is largely left to the Member States to regulate. This means that differing protection exists in different Member States. Nevertheless, as regards the EC provisions outlined above, it appears that EU Civil Servants' entitlements in many cases exceed the requirements imposed by the EC legislation.

 $^{^{487}}$ The Staff Regulations apply to any person who has been appointed, as provided for in these Staff Regulations, to an established post on the staff of one of the institutions of the Communities by an instrument issued by the Appointing Authority of that institution. (Staff Regulations, supra note 11, Article 1a, para. 1) This definition in paragraph 1 shall also apply to persons appointed by Community bodies to whom these Staff Regulations apply under the Community acts establishing them (hereinafter 'agencies'). Any references to 'institutions' in these Staff Regulations shall apply to agencies, save as otherwise provided in these Staff Regulations." (Article 1a, para. 2.)

⁴⁸⁸ Staff Regulations, *supra* note 11, Section 6, Article 42a on Parental Leave.

⁴⁸⁹ Amended by Council Regulation (EC, Euratom) No 420/2008 of 14 May 2008 at 15.5.2008 ⁴⁹⁰ *Ibid*.

⁴⁹¹ *Ibid*.



4. 4. Functional Organisation of Work: Annual Leave

4. 4. 1. European Community Law and its Application in the Staff Regulations

The general right to take annual leave, which applies to all employees regardless of their contracts, is regulated by Article 7 of the Organisation of Working Time Directive 2003/88/EC.⁴⁹³ The basis of this legal principle falls within the ambit of "adequate rest periods".⁴⁹⁴ Article 7(1)⁴⁹⁵ provides that "every worker is entitled to paid annual leave of at least four weeks in accordance with the conditions for entitlement to, and granting of, such leave laid down by national legislation and/or practice".⁴⁹⁶ Further to this, Article 22 (2) of the same Directive sets out permissible differing treatment towards those who are in the transitional period which cannot exceed three years. This provides that these workers are entitled to three weeks paid annual leave.⁴⁹⁷

The Staff Regulations differentiate between transitional workers⁴⁹⁸ and permanent staff⁴⁹⁹ in Annex V Article 2.⁵⁰⁰ This provides that annual leave can only be permitted in the initial three months of employment if the circumstances are compelling.⁵⁰¹ For all other employees, Article 57 sets out the minimum number of annual leave days to be twenty-four.⁵⁰² This same provision is to apply to temporary workers and contract workers by

⁴⁹³ Directive 2003/88, *supra* note 394.

⁴⁹⁴ *Ibid.*, Preamble, Recital 5.

⁴⁹⁵ *Ibid.*, Article 7 (1).

⁴⁹⁶ *Ibid*.

⁴⁹⁷ *Ibid.*, Article 22 (2): "Member States shall have the option, as regards the application of Article 7, of making use of a transitional period of not more than three years from 23 November 1996, provided that during that transitional period: (a) every worker receives three weeks' paid annual leave in accordance with the conditions for the entitlement to, and granting of, such leave laid down by national legislation and/or practice"

⁴⁹⁸ Those who are in their first three months of employment.

⁴⁹⁹ Those who have a permanent employment contract.

⁵⁰⁰ Staff Regulations, *supra* note 11, Annex V, Article 2. This was part of the original Staff Regulations: Regulation No 31 (EEC), 11 (EAEC), laying down the Staff Regulations of Officials and the Conditions of Employment of Other Servants of the European Economic Community and the European Atomic Energy Community (OJ P 45, 14.6.1962, p. 1385).

⁵⁰¹ *Ibid.*, Annex V Article 2: "...An official entering the service shall be granted annual leave only after completing three months' duty; leave may be approved earlier than this in exceptional cases for reasons duly substantiated."

⁵⁰² *Ibid.*, Article 57: "Officials shall be entitled to annual leave of not less than twenty-four working days nor more than thirty working days per calendar year, in accordance with rules, to be laid down by common accord of the institutions of the Communities after consulting the Staff Regulations Committee." This was



analogy.⁵⁰³ Article 1 of Annex V states that the leave is to be calculated by two working days per completed month of service in the event that an official does not complete a full year, i.e. the year in which he or she commences or ceases employment.⁵⁰⁴ Both of these provisions conform to the standards in the Organisation of Working Time Directive.⁵⁰⁵ This is despite the fact that the internal functioning of the EU institutions is governed by the Staff Regulations and not by EC law.⁵⁰⁶

4. 4. 2. Restriction on "Carry-Over Days" as Provided in the Staff Regulations

A point that EC law does not elaborate upon is the possibility to carry over unused annual leave days from one year to the next. This is covered in the Staff Regulations Annex V Article 4, according to which the amount of permitted "carry over days" is a maximum of twelve, unless the reason for the carry over is the requirement of service. The Civil Servants' Tribunal judges have held that sick leave cannot be included with a view to increasing the possible number of "carry-over days". However, the Staff Regulations

part of the original Staff Regulations: REGULATION No 31 (EEC), 11 (EAEC), laying down the Staff Regulations of Officials and the Conditions of Employment of Other Servants of the European Economic Community and the European Atomic Energy Community (OJ P 45, 14.6.1962, p. 1385).

⁵⁰³ *Ibid.*, Conditions of Employment of other servants of the European Communities; Temporary Workers, Chapter 4, Working Conditions, Article 16: "Articles 55 to 61 of the Staff Regulations, concerning hours of work, overtime, shiftwork, standby duty at place of work or at home, leave and public holidays, shall apply by analogy [sic]."; Contract Workers; Chapter, Working Conditions, Article 91: "Articles 16 to 18 are to apply by analogy".

⁵⁰⁴ *Ibid.*, Annex V Article 1: "In the year in which an official enters or leaves the service, he shall be entitled to two working days' leave per complete month of service, to two working days for an incomplete month consisting of more than fifteen days and to one working day for an incomplete month of fifteen days or less." This was part of the original Staff Regulations: Regulation No 31 (EEC), 11 (EAEC), laying down the Staff Regulations of Officials and the Conditions of Employment of Other Servants of the European Economic Community and the European Atomic Energy Community (OJ P 45, 14.6.1962, p. 1385). ⁵⁰⁵ Directive 2003/88/EC, *supra* note 394.

⁵⁰⁶ *See* Section 1. 1. for a further analysis of the relationship between EC law and the EU Institutions.

⁵⁰⁷ Staff Regulations, *supra* note 11, Annex V Article 4: "Where an official, for reasons other than the requirement of the service, has not used up all his annual leave before the end of the calendar year, the amount of leave which may be carried over to the following year shall not exceed twelve days…" This was part of the original Staff Regulations: Regulation No 31 (EEC), 11 (EAEC), laying down the Staff Regulations of Officials and the Conditions of Employment of Other Servants of the European Economic Community and the European Atomic Energy Community (OJ P 45, 14.6.1962, p. 1385).

⁵⁰⁸ Case T-80/04, Castets v Commission [2005] ECR - Staff Cases I-A-00161, II-00729, *available at:* http://eur-lex.europa.eu/SuiteJurisprudence.do?

T1=V100&T3=V1&RechType=RECH_jurisprudence&Submit=Search (last visited 13 April 2009); Case T-368/04, Verheyden v Commission [2007] ECR 00000, *available at:* http://eurlex.europa.eu/SuiteJurisprudence.do?

T1=V100&T3=V1&RechType=RECH_jurisprudence&Submit=Search (last visited 13 April 2009). See



do provide that if an official contracts an illness during annual leave, his or her annual leave can be extended for the duration of his or her incapacity.⁵⁰⁹

4. 4. 3. Monetary Payment for Annual Leave not used prior to Termination of Employment.

The Organisation of Working Time Directive provides that "the minimum period of paid annual leave may not be replaced by an allowance in lieu, except where the employment relationship is terminated".⁵¹⁰ The Staff Regulations include this provision with specifics as to the money to be given in Annex V Article 4 of the Staff Regulations.⁵¹¹

4. 4. 4. Interim Conclusion

In sum, annual leave provisions laid down in the Working Time Directive have been included in the Staff Regulations and they apply to all employees, regardless of their specific employment contracts.⁵¹² A noteworthy difference is that the Staff Regulations include a supplementary regulation that the carrying over of annual leave days from one year to the next is restricted.

Section 4. 5. for further analysis of sick leave.

⁵⁰⁹ Staff Regulations, *supra* note 11, Annex V Article 3: "If, during annual leave, an official contracts an illness which would have prevented him from attending for duty if he had not been on leave, his annual leave shall be extended by the duration of his incapacity, subject to production of a medical certificate." This was part of the original Staff Regulations: Regulation No 31 (EEC), 11 (EAEC), laying down the Staff Regulations of Officials and the Conditions of Employment of Other Servants of the European Economic Community and the European Atomic Energy Community (OJ P 45, 14.6.1962, p. 1385). ⁵¹⁰ Directive 2003/88, *supra* note 394, Article 7 (2).

⁵¹¹ Staff Regulations, *supra* note 11, Annex V Article 4: "...Where an official at the time of leaving the service has not used up all his annual leave, he shall be paid compensation equal to one-thirtieth of his monthly remuneration at the time of leaving the service for each day's leave due to him. A sum calculated in the manner provided for in the preceding paragraph shall be deducted from payment due to an official who at the time of leaving the service has drawn annual leave in excess of his entitlement up to that date." ⁵¹² The relevance here is that there is no differentiation between permanent and contract staff.



4. 5. SICK LEAVE

4. 5. 1. Introductory remarks

At the time of writing this paper there was no EC legislation dealing with this matter. However, sick leave is dealt with in a great detail in Chapter 2 of the Staff Regulations.⁵¹³ This Chapter provides precise guidelines from practical arrangements to the entitlements of sickness benefits.⁵¹⁴ Moreover, there are further subsections referring to different aspects of sickness benefits to which an EU worker is entitled, while on sick leave. Those categories include the amount of days off from work, benefits in cash and benefits in kind of which the worker is entitled.

4. 5. 2. Benefits in Cash

Benefits in cash are normally intended to replace income suspended because of illness.⁵¹⁵ The benefits provided in a specific situation (dependence) can be considered as sickness benefits in cash.⁵¹⁶

As a general rule, they are provided for in the legislation of the country where the EU worker is insured, regardless of the country in which the worker is resident. Domestic legislation also provides for the amount and duration of this cash benefit and, in general, they will be directly provided by the institution with which a worker is insured.⁵¹⁷

⁵¹³ Staff Regulations, *supra* note 11, Article 59. The Article was amended last by Council Regulation (EC, Euratom) No 723/2004 of 22 March 2004.

⁵¹⁴ Ibid.

⁵¹⁵ European Commission, Your Europe, Citizens, Living in Europe: Social security, Sickness and maternity leave, *available at:* http://ec.europa.eu/youreurope/nav/en/citizens/living/social-security/sickness/index_en.html (last visited 13 April 2009).

⁵¹⁷ *Ibid.*, Benefits in cash, *available at:* http://ec.europa.eu/youreurope/nav/en/citizens/living/social-security/sickness/index_en.html#26_3 (last visited 13 April 2009).



4. 5. 3. Sickness Benefits in Kind

Sickness benefits in kind include the direct payments to reimburse the cost of medical and dental care, medication and hospital stays.⁵¹⁸ As a general rule, they are provided in application of the legislation from worker's country of residence or temporary stay, if worker was insured in that country. This could give rise to a situation that is more or less favourable than that provided under the legislation where the worker is in fact insured.

Staff regulations deal with this issue extensively in the system of pensions and system of insurances provided by the EU organisations.

4. 5. 4. Interim Conclusion

It is possible to conclude that the vast majority of rules regarding this topic are left upon consideration of Member States. Staff Regulations, on the other hand, provide very detailed and extensive attention to this area. As a result, the apparent lack of EC legislation on this subject matter makes it impossible to undertake a comparative analysis.

4. 6. THE RENEWAL OF FIXED-TERM CONTRACTS IN THE FUNCTIONAL ORGANISATION OF WORK

4. 6. 1. European Community Law Governing the Renewal of Contracts

4. 6. 1. 1. European Community Law Governing Fixed-Term Contract Workers

The EC legislation governing fixed-term contract workers⁵¹⁹ is the Council Directive 1999/70/EC. This Directive sets out the general principles and minimum requirements for fixed-term employment contracts and employment relationships. The Directive applies to

⁵¹⁸Sickness and maternity leave, *supra* note 515.

⁵¹⁹ Council Directive 1999/70/EC of 28 June 1999 concerning the framework agreement on fixed-term work concluded by ETUC, UNICE and CEEP, *available at:* http://eur-lex.europa.eu/smartapi/cgi/sga_doc? smartapi!celexapi!prod!CELEXnumdoc&lg=EN&numdoc=31999L0070&model=guichett (last visited 13 April 2009), Annex, Clause 3: "…a person having an employment contract or a relationship entered into directly between an employer and a worker where the end of the employment contract or relationship is determined by objective conditions such as reaching a specific date, completing a specific task, or the occurrence of a specific event".



"fixed-term workers who have an employment contract or employment relationship as defined in law, collective agreements or practise in each member state." The aim is to improve the quality of fixed-term work by ensuring the application of the principle of non-discrimination, and to establish a framework to prevent abuse arising from the use of successive fixed-term employment contracts or relationships. It binds the Member States as to the result to be achieved, whilst leaving them the choice of form and methods. This directive prescribes measures in accordance with the principles of subsidiarity and proportionality as set out in Article 5 of the EC Treaty. This directive limits itself to the minimum standard required for the attainment of those objectives and does not go beyond what is necessary for that purpose.

There are certain exceptions which this directive does not cover. The Preamble to the directive makes it clear that the "agreement applies to fixed term workers with the exception of those placed by a temporary work agency at the disposition of a user enterprise". Furthermore, Member States, after consultation with the national social partners, can exclude, first, initial vocational training relationships and apprenticeship schemes and, second, employment contracts and relationships which have been concluded within the framework of a specific public or publicly supported training,

⁵²⁰ Ibid., Annex, Clause 2.

⁵²¹ *Ibid.*, Preamble, Recital 14.

⁵²² *Ibid.*, Preamble, Recital 15.

⁵²³ This principle specifies that in areas that are not within the Community's exclusive powers the Community shall only take action where objectives can best be attained by action at Community rather than at national level. *See* EUROPA, Summaries of Legislation, Treaty of Maastricht on European Union, *available at:* http://europa.eu/scadplus/treaties/maastricht_en.htm#SUBSIDIARITY (last visited 13 April 2009).

⁵²⁴ Under this rule, the institutions' involvement must be limited to what is necessary to achieve the objectives of the Treaties. In other words, the extent of the action must be in keeping with the aim pursued. This means that when various forms of intervention are available to the Union, it must, where the effect is the same, opt for the approach which leaves the greatest freedom to the Member States and individuals. *See EUROPA*, Glossary, *available at:* http://europa.eu/scadplus/glossary/proportionality_en.htm (last visited 13 April 2009).

⁵²⁵ EC Treaty, *supra* note 12, Article 5: "The Community shall act within the limits of the powers conferred upon it by this Treaty and of the objectives assigned to it therein. In areas which do not fall within its exclusive competence, the Community shall take action, in accordance with the principle of subsidiarity, only if and in so far as the objectives of the proposed action cannot be sufficiently achieved by the Member States and can therefore, by reason of the scale or effects of the proposed action, be better achieved by the Community. Any action by the Community shall not go beyond what is necessary to achieve the objectives of this Treaty."

⁵²⁶ Directive 1999/70/EC, *supra* note 519, Preamble, Recital 16.

⁵²⁷ *Ibid.*,, Preamble, para. 4.



integration and vocational retraining programme.⁵²⁸ Therefore, the State is able to exempt itself and its contractors entirely where projects are linked with the employability and adaptability criteria which underpin the European Employment Strategy.⁵²⁹

The directive contains three main rights for fixed term workers. First, and consistent with the principle of non-discrimination, it provides that in respect of employment conditions, fixed term workers are not to be treated in a less favourable manner than comparable permanent workers solely because they have a fixed term contract or relationship unless justified on objective grounds. 530 Where appropriate, the principle of pro rata temporis applies.⁵³¹ The term "comparable permanent worker" means a worker with an employment contract or relationship of indefinite duration, in the same establishment, engaged in the same or similar work/occupation, due regard being given to qualifications/skills.⁵³² Where there is no comparable permanent worker in the establishment, the comparison is to be made to the applicable collective agreement, or where there is no applicable collective agreement, in accordance with national law, collective agreements or practice. 533 The arrangements for the application of Clause 4 (1)⁵³⁴ are to be defined by the Member States after consultation with the Social Partners, and/or the Social Partners, having regard to Community law, national law, collective agreements and practice.⁵³⁵ Additionally, Clause 4 (4)⁵³⁶ provides that the: "period of service qualifications relating to particular conditions of employment are to be the same for fixed term workers and for permanent workers except where different length of service qualifications are justified on objective grounds."

Second, another source of protection provided for by the Directive⁵³⁷ concerns the prevention of abuse of fixed term contracts. The idea is to ban the abuse of number of

⁵²⁸ Ibid., Annex, Clause 2 (2).

⁵²⁹ Kenner, J., EU Employment Law, From Rome to Amsterdam and Beyond, Hart Publishing, 2003, p. 287

⁵³⁰ Directive 1999/70/EC, *supra* note 519, Annex, Clause 4 (1).

⁵³¹ *Ibid.*, Annex, Clause 4 (2).

⁵³² *Ibid.*, Annex, Clause 3 (2).

⁵³³ *Ibid.*, Annex, Clause 3 (2), para. 2.

⁵³⁴ *Ibid.*, Annex, Clause 4 (1): "In respect of employment conditions, fixed-term workers shall not be treated in a less favourable manner than comparable permanent workers solely because they have a fixed-term contract or relation unless different treatment is justified on objective grounds."

⁵³⁵ *Ibid.*, Annex, Clause 4 (3).

⁵³⁶ *Ibid.*, Annex, Clause 4 (4): Principle of non-discrimination.

⁵³⁷ Directive 1999/70/EC, *supra* note 519.



renewals of fixed term contracts in countries which did not have any limits on the number of occasions on which fixed term contracts could be renewed.⁵³⁸ Clause 5 (1)⁵³⁹ provides that:

"To prevent abuse arising from the use of successive fixed-term employment contracts or relationships, Member States, after consultation with social partners in accordance with national law, collective agreements or practice, and/or the social partners, shall, where there are no equivalent legal measures to prevent abuse, introduce in a manner which takes account of the needs of specific sectors and/or categories of workers, one or more of the following measures:

- (a) objective reasons justifying the renewal of such contracts or relationships;
- (b) the maximum total duration of successive fixed-term employment contracts or relationships; 540
- (c) the number of renewals of such contracts or relationships."

There is no definition of "abuse" in this context, although such workers are often placed in a vulnerable position under national law.⁵⁴¹ Furthermore, courts appear to be reluctant to intervene in matters concerning construction and termination of the contract of employment or employment relationship under national law.⁵⁴²

Furthermore, in the Clause 5 (1) it says that *one or more* measures listed in this clause should be introduced. This is very flexible provision. In case only measure 5 (1) (b) would be adopted, fixed-term contracts would be allowed to be renewed for many years without limiting the number of renewals or providing for objective justification.

⁵³⁸ Barnard, C., *supra* note 126, p. 482.

⁵³⁹ Directive 1999/70/EC, *supra* note 519, Annex, Clause 5 (1): Measures to prevent abuse.

Member States after consultation with the Social Partners, and/or the Social Partners, shall, where appropriate, determine under what conditions fixed-term employment contracts or relationships: a) shall be regarded as 'successive'; b) shall be deemed to be contracts or relationships of an indefinite duration (Clause 5 (2)). *See* Barnard, C., *supra* note 127, p. 481.

⁵⁴¹ Kenner, J., *supra* note 529, p. 288.

⁵⁴² In the Case C-438/99, Jiménez Melgar, *supra* note 354, non-renewal of the contract of a pregnant worker who had been employed under successive fixed-term contracts was deemed not to be a "dismissal" for the purposes of the protective provisions in Article 10(1) of the Directive 92/85/EEC (*see supra* note 327). In this case, however, there still might be a violation of the Equal Treatment Directive, but it is not sure whether such treatment would amount to "abuse" under the Fixed-term Work Directive and what responsibility, if any, would fall on the state to take preventive action. Clause 5 of the Fixed-term directive does little to moderate any doubts that this Directive would be of limited use in such circumstances. *See* Kenner, J., *supra* note 529, p. 288. *See also* Section 3.3.1.2. of this report.



Therefore, the extent to which the abuse is prevented is almost entirely dependent upon the approach taken by Member States.⁵⁴³ As Kenner makes reference to Murray's note, Clause 5 amounts to little more than a platform for national bargaining around loosely defined terms.⁵⁴⁴

The issue of Clause 5 has been addressed in the <u>Adeneler</u> case,⁵⁴⁵ which established that the concept of objective reasons required recourse to fixed-term work agreements to be justified "by the presence of specific factors relating in particular to the activity in question and the conditions under which it is carried out."⁵⁴⁶ The mere fact that the use of fixed contracts was provided for in national law could not be an objective reason. Furthermore, the Court held that a national rule, which did not deem fixed term contracts that were separated from one another by a minimum period of 20 working days to be successive, was not compatible with the Fixed-Term Working Directive.⁵⁴⁷

The third right guaranteed for fixed-term contract workers by the directive ⁵⁴⁸ is related to information. In Clause 6 (1) it is mentioned that the employer has to inform fixed term workers about "vacancies which become available in the undertaking or establishment to ensure that they have the same opportunity to secure permanent positions as other workers. Such information may be provided by way of a general announcement at a suitable place in the undertaking or establishment." Additionally, Clause 6 (2) says that "as far as possible, employers should facilitate access by fixed-term workers to appropriate training opportunities to enhance their skills, career development and occupational mobility." Furthermore, according to Clause 7 (1) "fixed-term workers shall be taken into consideration in calculating the threshold above which workers' representative bodies provided for in national and Community law may be constituted in

⁵⁴³ Kenner, J., *supra* note 529, p. 289.

⁵⁴⁴ *Ibid*, Murray, (1999, *Industrial Law Journal*) n 525 above at 275 (as in Kenner 2003).

⁵⁴⁵ Adeneler and Others, s*upra* note 37. For further information on the case law on fixed-term contract *see infra*, Section 4. 6. 1. 2..

⁵⁴⁶ *Ibid.*, para. 75.

⁵⁴⁷ *Ibid.*, para. 84.

⁵⁴⁸ Directive 1999/70/EC, *supra* note 519.

⁵⁴⁹ *Ibid.*, Annex, Clause 6 (1).

⁵⁵⁰ *Ibid.*, Annex, Clause 6 (2).



the undertaking as required by national provisions."⁵⁵¹ According to Clause 7 (2), "the arrangements for the application of Clause 7 (1) shall be defined by Member States after consultation with the Social Partners in accordance with national law, collective agreements or practice and having regard to clause 4.1."⁵⁵² This is concluded by Clause 7 (3) which states that: "as far as possible, employers should give consideration to the provision of appropriate information to existing workers' representative bodies about fixed-term work in the undertaking."⁵⁵³

4. 6. 1. 2. European Community Case Law on Fixed-Term Contracts

The European Court of Justice has on several occasions dealt with the question of fixed-term contracts, providing insight into the scope of the Directive 1999/70/EC⁵⁵⁴ and explaining the meaning of its individual provisions. In this Section, certain relevant decisions of the ECJ will be presented.

With regard to the renewal of fixed-term contracts, the ECJ's judgment from 2006 in the Adeneler and Others case⁵⁵⁵ provides a good starting point. Firstly, the Court reiterated that the scope of the Framework Agreement⁵⁵⁶ extends to both the private and public sectors.⁵⁵⁷ However, in a subsequent judgement in the Marrosu and Sardino case,⁵⁵⁸ the ECJ held that "the Framework agreement does not preclude, as such, a Member State from treating the misuse of successive fixed-term employment contracts or relationships

⁵⁵¹ *Ibid.*, Annex, Clause 7 (1).

⁵⁵² *Ibid.*, Annex, Clause 7 (2). Clause 4 (1) goes as follows: "In respect of employment conditions, fixed-term workers shall not be treated in a less favourable manner than comparable permanent workers solely because they have a fixed-term contract or relation unless different treatment is justified on objective grounds."

⁵⁵³ *Ibid.*, Annex, Clause 7 (3).

⁵⁵⁴ Directive 1999/70/EC, *supra* note 519.

⁵⁵⁵ Adeneler and Others Case, *supra* note 37.

⁵⁵⁶ The Framework Agreement on Fixed-Term Work Concluded by ETUC, UNICE and CEEP, as incorporated in the Directive 1999/70/EC, *supra* note 517.

⁵⁵⁷ Adeneler and Others Case, *supra* note 37, paras. 54-57. *See also* the subsequent judgments: Case C-53/04, Marrosu and Sardino [2006] ECR I-07213, *available at:* http://curia.europa.eu/jurisp/cgibin/form.pl?lang=en (last visited 13 April 2009), paras. 40-43; Case C-180/04 Vassallo [2006] ECR I-07251, *available at:* http://curia.europa.eu/jurisp/cgi-bin/form.pl?lang=en (last visited 13 April 2009), paras. 32-35; Case C-307/05, Del Cerro Alonso [2007] ECR I-07109, *available at:* http://curia.europa.eu/jurisp/cgi-bin/form.pl?lang=en (last visited 13 April 2009), para. 25.

⁵⁵⁸ Marrosu and Sardino Case, *supra* note 557.



differently according to whether those contracts or relationships were entered into with a private-sector or public-sector employer", ⁵⁵⁹ as long as effective measures are available in each sector to prevent the misuse of the fixed-term employment contracts. ⁵⁶⁰

Furthermore, in Adeneler and Others, ⁵⁶¹ the Court then proceeded to address in great detail the issues of "objective reasons" ⁵⁶² and "successive" ⁵⁶³ contracts. The Court held that the purpose of the Framework agreement is to limit the successive use of fixed-term contracts ⁵⁶⁴ and to that end, the Directive 1999/70/EC imposes on the Member States the obligation to introduce measures to prevent the misuse of this type of employment relationship. ⁵⁶⁵ In this respect, the requirement of "objective reasons justifying the renewal of such contracts or relationships" represents such measure. ⁵⁶⁶ It was established in Adeneler and Others that "a national provision which merely authorises recourse to successive fixed-term employment contracts in a general and abstract manner by a rule of statute or secondary legislation" ⁵⁶⁷ does not satisfy the criterion of "objective reasons". Instead, "precise and concrete circumstances characterising a given activity, which are therefore capable in that particular context of justifying the use of successive fixed-term employment contracts" ⁵⁶⁸ must be provided, and furthermore, "[...] those circumstances may result, in particular, from the specific nature of the tasks for the performance of which such contracts have been concluded and from the inherent characteristics of those

⁵⁵⁹ *Ibid.*, para. 48. The same was later reaffirmed in Vassalo Case, *supra* note 557, para. 33.

⁵⁶⁰ *Ibid.*, para. 49.

⁵⁶¹ Adeneler and Others Case, *supra* note 37.

⁵⁶² Directive 1999/70/EC, *supra* note 519, Annex, Clause 5 (1), which goes as follows:

[&]quot;To prevent abuse arising from the use of successive fixed-term employment contracts or relationships, Member States, after consultation with social partners in accordance with national law, collective agreements or practice, and/or the social partners, shall, where there are no equivalent legal measures to prevent abuse, introduce in a manner which takes account of the needs of specific sectors and/or categories of workers, one or more of the following measures:

⁽a) *objective reasons* justifying the renewal of such contracts or relationships;

⁽b) the maximum total duration of successive fixed-term employment contracts or relationships;

⁽c) the number of renewals of such contracts or relationships." (*Emphasis added*)

⁵⁶³ *Ibid.*, Annex, Clause 5 (2) (a) which goes as follows:

[&]quot;Member States after consultation with the social partners and/or the social partners shall, where appropriate, determine under what conditions fixed-term employment contracts or relationships: (a) shall be regarded as "successive"

⁽b) shall be deemed to be contracts or relationships of indefinite duration." (*Emphasis added*).

⁵⁶⁴ Adeneler and Others Case, *supra* note 37, para. 63.

⁵⁶⁵ *Ibid.*, para. 65.

⁵⁶⁶ *Ibid.*, para. 66.

⁵⁶⁷ *Ibid.*, para. 71.

⁵⁶⁸ *Ibid.*, para. 69.



tasks or, as the case may be, from pursuit of a legitimate social-policy objective of a Member State."⁵⁶⁹

The reasoning behind such specified required justification lies in the risk of misusing the concept of fixed-term contracts to the detriment of the workers if an authorisation of fixed-term contracts in a general and abstract manner was to be allowed.⁵⁷⁰

Regarding the meaning of "successive" fixed-term employment contracts, the Court noted that the Member States have a certain margin of appreciation at determining what is considered to be a successive fixed-term employment contract, but that at the same time, this competence is not unlimited, since the sole objective⁵⁷¹ of the Framework Agreement must not be compromised.⁵⁷² In the case at hand, the ECJ held that the provisions under which only fixed-term contracts that are separated by 20 days or less fall under the definition of 'successive' contracts, clearly presents a case where "the object, the aim and the practical effect of the Framework Agreement" is compromised. Therefore such successive contracts are precluded by Clause 5 of the Framework Agreement.⁵⁷⁴

Finally, the ECJ also addressed the issue of the conversion of the fixed-term employment contracts into a contract of indefinite duration.⁵⁷⁵ It based its decision on the preliminary observation that; "the Framework Agreement neither lays down a general obligation on the Member States to provide for the conversion of fixed-term employment contracts into contracts of indefinite duration nor prescribes the precise conditions under which fixed-term employment contracts may be used,"⁵⁷⁶ But, at the same time, the Member States are still under the obligation to effectively prevent the misuse of successive fixed-term

⁵⁶⁹ *Ibid.*, para. 70.

⁵⁷⁰ *Ibid.*, paras. 71 and 72.

⁵⁷¹ *Ibid.*, para 68: ECJ held in the same judgement that »while the Member States ... have a margin of appreciation in the matter, the fact remains that they are required to guarantee the result imposed by Community law..."

⁵⁷² *Ibid.*, paras. 81 and 82.

⁵⁷³ *Ibid.*, para. 83.

⁵⁷⁴ *Ibid.*, para. 89.

⁵⁷⁵ *Ibid.*, paras. 90-105.

⁵⁷⁶ *Ibid.*, para. 91.



contracts by adopting at least one of the measures listed in Clause 5 (1) of the Framework agreement, ⁵⁷⁷ if national law does not already include equivalent measures. ⁵⁷⁸ Apart from the objective reasons justifying the renewal of such contracts or relationships ⁵⁷⁹ described above, the Member States can opt for two other measures, namely the maximum total duration of successive fixed-term employment contracts or relationships, ⁵⁸⁰ or the number of renewals of such contracts or relationships. ⁵⁸¹ The question presented to the Court in the <u>Adeneler and Others</u> case ⁵⁸² was whether the national legislation may prohibit absolutely the conversion of the fixed-term contracts into the contracts of indefinite duration in the public sector. In accordance with its findings described above, the ECJ held that such prohibition does constitute an abuse of fixed-term employment contracts as long as and only if the national law of the Member State does not include any other effective measure to prevent and punish the misuse. ⁵⁸³ Similarly, in <u>Marrosu and Sardino</u>, ⁵⁸⁴ the Court concluded that

"the framework agreement must be interpreted as not in principle precluding national legislation which, where there is abuse arising from the use of successive fixed-term employment contracts or relationships by a public-sector employer, precludes their being converted into contracts of indeterminate duration, even though such conversion is provided for in respect of employment contracts and relationships with a private-sector employer, where that legislation includes another effective measure to prevent and, where relevant, punish the abuse of successive fixed-term contracts by a public-sector employer."

Generally, the judgments in the cases subsequent to the <u>Adeneler and Others</u>, ⁵⁸⁶ namely in <u>Marrosu and Sardino</u>, ⁵⁸⁷ <u>Vassallo</u> and <u>Del Cerro Alonso</u>, ⁵⁸⁹ were to a great extent based

⁵⁷⁷ Directive 1999/70/EC, *supra* note 519, Annex, Clause 5 (1).

⁵⁷⁸ Adeneler and Others Case, *supra* note 37, paras. 92 and 101.

⁵⁷⁹ Directive 1999/70/EC, *supra* note 519, Annex, Clause 5 (1) (a).

⁵⁸⁰ *Ibid*, Annex, Clause 5 (1) (b).

⁵⁸¹ *Ibid*, Annex, Clause 5 (1) (c).

⁵⁸² Adeneler and Others Case, *supra* note 37.

⁵⁸³ *Ibid.*, para. 105.

⁵⁸⁴ Marrosu and Sardino Case, *supra* note 557.

⁵⁸⁵ *Ibid.*, para. 57.

⁵⁸⁶ Adeneler and Others Case, *supra* note 37.

⁵⁸⁷ Marrosu and Sardino Case, *supra* note 557.

⁵⁸⁸ Vassallo Case, *supra* note 557.

⁵⁸⁹ Del Cerro Alonso Case, *supra* note 557.



on the first one. In the latter case, ⁵⁹⁰ however, the issue presented to the Court was not the misuse of the fixed-term contracts with regards to their renewal, but rather the difference in treatment and the principle of non-discrimination applicable to the fixed-term contract workers. According to the Directive 1999/70/EC, ⁵⁹¹ the difference in treatment of fixed-term workers and comparable permanent workers is only permitted when the different treatment is justified on objective grounds. ⁵⁹² In explaining the concept of "objective grounds", the Court referred to its decision in <u>Adeneler and Others</u>, ⁵⁹³ and held that by analogy with the term of "objective reasons", ⁵⁹⁴ relying on a general, abstract national norm as a justified basis for the difference in treatment does not satisfy the criterion of the objective grounds. ⁵⁹⁵ Instead, the existence of precise and concrete factors is needed to justify the unequal treatment, which itself must correspond to a genuine need, must be appropriate for achieving the objective pursued and must be necessary for that purpose. ⁵⁹⁶

Some of the issues addressed in <u>Adeneler and Others</u>⁵⁹⁷ and the subsequent judgments, especially in the <u>Del Cerro Alonso</u> case, were further explored in the ECJ <u>Impact</u> case⁵⁹⁹ of 2008. The ECJ reiterated its findings from the <u>Adeneler and Others</u> case that the Framework Agreement seeks to limit the successive use of the fixed-term employment contracts, which represent a potential source of abuse to the disadvantage of workers and to that end lays down certain protective provisions, preventing the status of employees from being insecure. It then goes further by saying that such protection would be ineffective if the Member States, acting in their capacity as public employers were allowed to renew contracts for unusually long term in the period between the date which the directive entered into force and the deadline for its transposition. Because of this, such measures which are contrary to the objective pursued by that directive and the

⁵⁹⁰ *Ibid*.

⁵⁹¹ Directive 1999/70/EC, *supra* note 519.

⁵⁹² *Ibid.*, Annex, Clause 4.

⁵⁹³ Adeneler and Others Case, *supra* note 37.

⁵⁹⁴ See supra.

⁵⁹⁵ Del Cerro Alonso Case, *supra* note 557, para. 57.

⁵⁹⁶ *Ibid.*, para. 57.

⁵⁹⁷ Adeneler and Others Case, *supra* note 37.

⁵⁹⁸ Del Cerro Alonso Case, *supra* note 557.

⁵⁹⁹ Case C-268/06, Impact [2008] ECR I-02483, *available at:* http://curia.europa.eu/jurisp/cgi-bin/form.pl? lang=en (last visited 13 April 2009).

⁶⁰⁰ *Ibid.*, para. 88. *See also* Adeneler and Others Case, *supra* note 37, para. 63.

⁶⁰¹ *Ibid.*, para. 91.



framework agreement in the period between the deadline for transposing Directive 1999/70 and the date on which it entered into force are prohibited. ⁶⁰²

The <u>Impact</u> case⁶⁰³ also dealt extensively with the principle of non-discrimination of fixed-term workers as was ruled upon in the <u>Del Cerro Alonso</u> case.⁶⁰⁴ With regards to the principle of non-discrimination as applicable to pay, the Court of Justice in both cases noted that indeed, the establishment of the level of the various constituent parts of the pay of a worker is a matter for the Member States and falls outside the competence of the Community legislature.⁶⁰⁵ Nevertheless, the Member States must take into consideration the Community law even when dealing with policy areas in which the EC does not have competence. The national authorities must exercise their discretion in such a way that is compatible with the EC law. Consequently, the principle of non-discrimination of fixed-term workers as laid down in Clause 4 of the Framework agreement⁶⁰⁶ must be applied by them when establishing the constituent parts of pay and level of these constituent parts.⁶⁰⁷

From the case law of the ECJ on the fixed-term employment contracts, it can be noted that the Court approached the issue in the light of the purpose of the Framework agreement to improve the quality of the fixed-term workers and to prevent the abuse of successive use of this particular type of employment relationship. As held in the cases Mangold, Adeneler and Others and Impact, the benefit of stable employment constitutes a major element in the protection of workers, whereas only in certain circumstances that fixed-term employment contracts are liable to respond to the needs of both employers and workers. When the fixed-term contracts are nevertheless in use, the Court applies the principle of non-discrimination of the fixed-term workers extensively,

⁶⁰² *Ibid.*, para. 92.

⁶⁰³ Impact Case, *supra* note 599.

⁶⁰⁴ Del Cerro Alonso Case, *supra* note 557.

⁶⁰⁵ Impact Case, *supra* note 599, para. 129; and Del Cerro Alonso Case, *supra* note 557, paras. 40 and 46.

⁶⁰⁶ Directive 1999/70/EC, supra note 519, Annex, Clause 4.

⁶⁰⁷ Impact Case, *supra* note 599, paras. 129 and 130.

⁶⁰⁸ Directive 1999/70/EC, supra note 519, Annex, Clause 1.

⁶⁰⁹ Case C-144/04, Mangold [2005] ECR I-09981, *available at:* http://curia.europa.eu/jurisp/cgibin/form.pl?lang=en (last visited 13 April 2009).

⁶¹⁰ Adeneler and Others Case, *supra* note 37.

⁶¹¹ Impact, *supra* note 599.

⁶¹² Mangold Case, *supra* note 609, para. 64; Adeneler and Others Case, *supra* note 37, para. 62; Impact Case, *supra* note 599, para. 87.



assuring the purpose of the Framework agreement to improve the quality of fixed-term work. Moreover, in cases of renewal of fixed-term employment contracts the Court recognises the obligation of Member States to ensure effective measures that such renewals do not lead to abuse of successive fixed-term contracts.

4. 6. 2. Applicable Law to EU Civil Servants on a Fixed-Term Contract

The renewal of fixed-term contracts within the European Institutions is governed by the Staff Regulations. This Section will look at contract workers within the meaning of Article 3a (1) of the Staff Regulations section on the Conditions of Employment of other Servants in the Community. These employees are different from the body of staff that are hired for temporary periods of time to cover permanent roles. It can be derived from this definition that fixed-term contract employees should not undertake positions of a permanent nature and that fixed-term contracts should only be used to undertake tasks which are temporary

Within the sphere of fixed-term contract workers this Section will restrict itself to an analysis of the termination and renewal of fixed-term contracts within the EU

⁶¹³ Staff Regulations, *supra* note 11, Conditions of Employment of other Servants in the Community; Article 3a (1): "For the purposes of these Conditions of Employment, 'contract staff' means staff not assigned to a post included in the list of posts appended to the section of the budget relating to the institution concerned and engaged for the performance of full-time or part-time duties:

⁽a) in an institution to carry out manual or administrative support service tasks,

⁽b) in the agencies referred to in Article 1a(2) of the Staff Regulations,

⁽c) in other entities inside the European Union created, after consultation of the Staff Regulations Committee, by specific legal act issued by one or more institutions allowing for the use of such staff,

⁽d) in Representations and Delegations of Community institutions,

⁽e) in other entities situated outside the European Union."

⁶¹⁴ Staff Regulations, *supra* note 11, Conditions of Employment of other Servants in the Community; Article 2: "For the purposes of these Conditions of Employment, 'temporary staff' means:

⁽a) staff engaged to fill a post which is included in the list of posts appended to the section of the budget relating to each institution and which the budgetary authorities have classified as temporary;

⁽b) staff engaged to fill temporarily a permanent post included in the list of posts appended to the section of the budget relating to each institution;

⁽c) staff, other than officials of the Communities, engaged to assist either a person holding an office provided for in the Treaties establishing the Communities or the Treaty establishing a Single Council and a Single Commission of the European Communities or the elected President of one of the institutions or organs of the Communities, or one of the political groups in the European Parliament or the Committee of the Regions, or a group in the European Economic and Social Committee;

⁽d) Staff engaged to fill temporarily a permanent post paid from research and investment appropriations and included in the list of posts appended to the budget relating to the institution concerned."



Institutions. Both the Staff Regulations and the current and previous case law will be analysed with an aim to outlining the legal basis of the organisation of fixed-term contracts within the EU Institutions.

4. 6. 2. 1. Termination of a Fixed-Term Contract⁶¹⁵

Previous case law regarding the termination of a fixed-term contract in the EU Institutions has been based on Article 47 of the Staff Regulations section on Conditions of Employment of Other Servants of the Communities. The sub-topics of such cases will be looked at in this Section, but first it is worth noting that there are differences in the termination procedure for fixed-term contract workers and other categories of employees. The main difference between the termination of fixed-term and indefinite term contracts is that the notice period for employees under an indefinite term contract shall be a minimum of one month for every years service with a minimum of one month and a maximum of ten months. The maximum period is limited to three months for

⁶¹⁵ For the purpose of analysis in this section, termination relates to the termination of the contract when the full period of the contract has not been fulfilled. Much of the case law in this section concerns contracts for an indefinite period, but the principles which apply are the same. The situation where a contract has reached its end will be dealt with in the next section on the renewal of fixed term contracts.

⁶¹⁶ Staff Regulations, *supra* note 11; Conditions of Employment of Other Servants of the Communities; Chapter 9 Termination of Employment; Article 47: "Apart from cessation on death, the employment of temporary staff shall cease:

⁽b) where the contract is for a fixed period:

⁽i) on the date stated in the contract;

⁽ii) at the end of the period of notice specified in the contract giving the servant or the institution the option to terminate earlier. The period of notice shall not be less than one month per year of service, subject to a minimum of one month and a maximum of three months. For temporary staff whose contracts have been renewed the maximum shall be six months. The period of notice shall not, however, commence to run during maternity leave or sick leave, provided such sick leave does not exceed three months. It shall, moreover, be suspended during maternity or sick leave subject to the limits aforesaid. If the institution terminates the contract, the servant shall be entitled to compensation equal to one third of his basic salary for the period between the date when his duties end and the date when his contract expires;

⁽iii) where the servant no longer satisfies the conditions laid down in Article 12(2), point (a), subject to the possibility of authorising an exception under that provision. Should the exception not be authorised, the period of notice referred to in subpoint (ii) of this point (b) shall apply."

⁶¹⁷ Staff Regulations, *supra* note 11, Conditions of Employment of Other Servants of the Communities; Chapter 9 Termination of Employment; Article 47 (c): "where the contract is for an indefinite period:

⁽i) at the end of the period of notice stipulated in the contract; the length of the period of notice shall not be less than one month for each completed year of service, subject to a minimum of three months and a maximum of 10 months. The period of notice shall not, however, commence to run during maternity leave or sick leave, provided such sick leave does not exceed three months. It shall, moreover, be suspended during maternity or sick leave subject to the limits aforesaid; or



those under a fixed-term contract. ⁶¹⁸ Both forms of contract are subject to the conditions of employment which all temporary members of staff are subject to under Article 12 of the aforementioned section of the Staff Regulations. ⁶¹⁹ This sets out the qualifications which are necessary for attainment of a temporary post in the European Institutions. Furthermore, both types of contract worker may have their contracts terminated during or at the end of a probation period or if an employee is not able to resume duties after a period of sick leave. ⁶²⁰ The termination on the grounds that these qualities are no longer present is broader for fixed-term contract workers than the termination of permanent positions as there is a wider variety of methods for finishing a fixed-term contract workers employment in the case of such a change in qualities ⁶²¹ Permanent employees are subject to a more onerous procedure for the dismissal. ⁶²² The Court of First Instance held in Karatzoglou v European Agency for Reconstruction (EAR) ⁶²³ that the reason for this

⁽ii) where the servant no longer satisfies the conditions laid down in Article 12(2), point (a), subject to the possibility of authorising an exception under that provision. Should the exception not be authorised, the period of notice referred to in subpoint (i) of this point (c) shall apply."

⁶¹⁸ Staff Regulations, supra note 11, Article 47 (b) (ii).

⁶¹⁹ Staff Regulations, *supra* note 11, Conditions of Employment of Other Servants of the Communities; Chapter 3 Conditions of Employment; Article 12 (2): "A member of the temporary staff may be engaged only on condition that:

⁽a) he is a national of one of the Member States of the Communities, unless an exception is authorised by the authority referred to in the first paragraph of Article 6, and enjoys his full rights as a citizen;

⁽b) he has fulfilled any obligations imposed on him by the laws concerning military service;

⁽c) he produces the appropriate character references as to his suitability for the performance of his duties;

⁽c) he is physically fit to perform his duties; and

⁽e) he produces evidence of a thorough knowledge of one of the languages of the Communities and of a satisfactory knowledge of another language of the Communities to the extent necessary for the performance of his duties."

⁶²⁰ Staff Regulations, *supra* note 11, Conditions of Employment of Other Servants of the Communities; Chapter 9 Termination of Employment; Article 48: "Employment, whether for a fixed or for an indefinite period, may be terminated by the institution without notice:

⁽a) during or at the end of the probationary period in accordance with Article 14;

⁽b) if the servant is unable to resume his duties at the end of a period of paid sick leave as provided for in Article 16. In such case, the servant shall receive an allowance equal to this basic salary, plus family allowances at the rate of two days per month of service completed."

⁶²¹ Staff Regulations, *supra* note 11, Chapter 4 Termination of Service; Article 47: "Services shall be terminated by: (a) resignation; (b) compulsory resignation; (c) retirement in the interests of the service; (d) dismissal for incompetence; (e) removal from post; (f) retirement; or (g) death."

⁶²² Staff Regulations, *supra* note 11, Chapter 4 Termination of Service, Articles 48–53. A further analysis of the different termination procedures applicable for different categories of employees under the Staff Regulations will not be dealt with in any more detail here.

⁶²³ Case T-471/04, Karatzoglou v European Agency for Reconstruction (EAR) [2008] ECR 00000, para 36. *Note* that this case relates to the termination of an indefinite term contract. *Also in* Case C-18/91 P V v Parliament [1992] ECR I-3997, para. 39; Case T-256/01, Pyres v Commission [2005] ECR – Staff Cases I-A-23 and II-99, para. 43; Case T-10/02, Girardot v Commission [2004] ECR – Staff Cases I-A-000 and II-0000, para. 72.



difference is that the nature of the duties is temporary. The different procedures will not be dealt with in further detail here but the different questions under which a termination of a contract have been dealt with by the Court of First Instance and the Civil Servant's Tribunal will be analysed.

Firstly, the termination of contracts has previously been questioned on the basis of a failure to state adequate reasons for the termination. In <u>Karatzoglou</u>⁶²⁴ the Court held that the competent authorities have a broad discretion which '…is recognised by the member of staff at the time of his recruitment' which therefore means that justification of a decision to dismiss is to be found within the contract of employment and the reasons do not have to be stated. ⁶²⁵ In <u>Landgren v ETF</u>, ⁶²⁶ the Court held that reasons must be given. The difference between this case and that of <u>Karatzoglou</u> is that in <u>Karatzoglou</u>, termination of this kind was inherent in the contract of the employee and therefore there was no need for disclosure. ⁶²⁷

Secondly, the principle of sound administration has been raised to question decisions to terminate a contract. As outlined in case-law concerning the dismissal of contract workers under the Staff Regulations, 628 the administration must take into account all of the possible consequences of its decision when they take a decision concerning them. This should include the interests of the services and the members of staff. However, it must be noted that the administration of an office or operation retains a large discretion in the organisation of its staff.

⁶²⁴ Karatzoglou Case, *supra* note 623.

⁶²⁵ *Ibid*, para 35. This followed the previous rulings of Case 25/68, Schertzer v Parliament [1977] ECR 1729, para 39; Case T-45/90, Speybrouck v Parliament [1992] ECR II-33, para 93; and Case T-51/91, Hoyer v Commission [1994] ECR-SC I-A-103 and II-341, para 27.

⁶²⁶ Case F-1/05, Landgren v ETF [2001] ECR-SC I-A-000 and II-000, para. 61. *Note* that this case relates to an indefinite term contract.

⁶²⁷ Karatzoglou, *supra* note 623, paras. 35 and 41.

⁶²⁸ Case T-11/03, Afari v ECB, *supra* note 267, para. 42; Case F-28/06, Sequeira Wandschneider v Commission [2007] ECR-SC I-A-000 and II-000, para. 150; Karatzoglou Case, *supra* note 623, para. 56.



4. 6. 2. 2. Renewal of Fixed-Term Contracts in the Staff Regulations

To avoid abuse of the fixed term contract by employers, Article 85 of the Staff Regulations section on the Conditions of Service for other Servants of the Community outlines the number of times that a fixed-term contract can be renewed⁶²⁹ and provides for access to training in a third language for those under a fixed-term contract.⁶³⁰ The very specific renewal criteria limit the maximum period of a fixed-term contract to 5 years. It must be noted that there is no explicit burden on the employer to renew a fixed-term contract once it has been completed and the contract worker "...must have served a probationary period in accordance with Article 84 before renewal of a contract for an indefinite duration".⁶³¹ The employers are limited in the amount of time under which a fixed-term contract can last. Therefore if they want to retain an employee, they are obliged to change the contract to one of indefinite duration or to employ them in a permanent capacity.

Currently there are two cases before the Court of First Instance regarding the renewal of fixed term contracts. The <u>Reiner</u> case concerns the requested annulment of a Commission decision to limit the duration of a contract and the <u>Adjemian</u> case concerns a request for the annulment of a decision to refuse to renew fixed-term contracts. The judgments in these cases will clarify the position of fixed-term contract employees in the EU Institutions. ⁶³³

⁶²⁹ Staff Regulations, *supra* note 11, Conditions of Service for other Servants of the Communities; Chapter 4 Special Provisions of the Contract Staff Referred to in Article 3A; Article 85; (1) The contracts of contract staff referred to in Article 3a may be concluded for a fixed period of at least three months and not more than five years. They may be renewed not more than once for a fixed period of not more than five years. The initial contract and the first renewal must be of a total duration of not less than six months for function group I and not less than nine months for the other function groups. Any further renewal shall be for an indefinite period. Periods covered by a contract as a member of the contract staff referred to in Article 3b shall not be counted for the purposes of the conclusion or renewal of contracts under this Article. (2) By way of derogation from the last sentence of the first subparagraph of paragraph 1, the Appointing Authority may decide that only the fourth renewal of a contract for a member of function group I shall be for an indefinite period, provided that the total duration of his engagement for a fixed period does not exceed ten years...

⁶³⁰ *Ibid*, Article 85 (3): "Contract staff in function group IV shall before renewal of a contract for an indefinite period be required to demonstrate the ability to work in a third language among those referred to in Article 314 of the EC Treaty. The common rules on access to training and the modalities of the assessment mentioned in Article 45 (2) of the Staff Regulations shall apply by analogy." ⁶³¹ *Ibid*, Article 85 (4).

⁶³² Case F-8/08, Reiner v Commission of the European Communities and Case F-134/07, Adjemian e.a v Commission of the European Communities.

⁶³³ *Note* that at the time of writing this report the judgments in these cases had not yet been handed down.



Employees under a fixed-term contract are not subject to the same protection against dismissal as other categories of workers. However, this is explained by the nature of such contracts and their function within the functional organisation of work. This Section outlined the internal regulations of the termination and renewal of fixed term contracts under the Staff Regulations and the previous case-law regarding these provisions. The extent to which the Court will take into consideration EC law which is applicable to Member States will be addressed in the next Section, which will discuss the similarities and the *lacunae* between the EC law and the internal Staff Regulations of the EC Institutions.⁶³⁴

4. 6. 3. Interim Conclusion

While a comparative analysis of the Staff Regulations regarding EU Institution employees and the law applicable at an EC level is useful at this point in time⁶³⁵ a full comparative study will be largely dependent on the outcomes of the Reiner and Adjemian cases. However, one aspect of the comparison which can currently be fully addressed is the obligation upon Member States by EC law to define the maximum total duration of fixed-term contracts⁶³⁶ and the limit the number of renewals of such contracts⁶³⁷ in precise and concrete terms.⁶³⁸ The Staff Regulations are in conformity with the EC obligations in this sense as there are very specific terms on the maximum duration of contracts and the maximum number of renewals.⁶³⁹

Under EC law there is a necessity to provide an objective reason for hiring people under successive fixed-term contracts and the obligation that such renewal is appropriate and necessary for the functioning of the workplace.⁶⁴⁰ The specificities of the Staff

 $^{^{634}}$ It must be kept in mind that EC law is not legally applicable to the EC Institutions and any inference of such laws is on a voluntary basis.

⁶³⁵ April 2009.

⁶³⁶ Directive 1999/70/EC, *supra* note 519, Annex, Clause 5 (1) (b).

⁶³⁷ *Ibid.*, Clause 5 (1) (c).

⁶³⁸ Adeneler and Others Case, *supra* note 37, para. 71.

⁶³⁹ Staff Regulations, *supra* note 11, Conditions of Service for other Servants of the Communities; Chapter 4 Special Provisions of the Contract Staff Referred to in Article 3A; Article 85 (1) and (2).

⁶⁴⁰ Del Cerro Alonso Case, *supra* note 557, para. 57.



Regulations do not provide the background and the justification of such measures; however the upcoming rulings in <u>Reiner</u> and <u>Adjemian</u> will clarify whether the successive use of fixed-term contracts is appropriate to the functioning of the European Commission.

Finally, previous case law on the termination of contracts of EU civil servants held that the reason for differences in treatment was justified as it was inherent in the contract type. ⁶⁴¹ The upcoming rulings on the successive use of contracts will address this issue by defining whether such terminations and the use of successive contracts comply with the principles of non-discrimination and prevention of abuse of fixed term contracts.

⁶⁴¹ Karatzoglou Case, *supra* note 623, para. 35.



5. GENERAL CONCLUSIONS

This report has considered the specificities of health and safety regulations governing the EU civil servants, the question of equality regarding employees who necessitate further assistance to undertake their functions and the functional organisation of work. This has all been done in a comparative manner between the Staff Regulations governing the staff of the EU Institutions and the equivalent EC law.

Section 2 of the report compared the specifications of health and safety measures for European Commission employees under the Manual of Building Specifications with the EC law on health and safety in the workplace as outlined in Directive 89/654/EEC. An interesting point which was established from this Manual is that in the introduction to the section on building systems, it is explicitly stated that "installations must be fully compliant with the relevant standards and regulations, in particular the relevant EU directives..." The use of imperative language here leaves no doubt to the fact that Community law governing this area is accepted as the basis within the European Commission. However, the Commission Manual on Building Specifications is not a legal document and any statement therein, even if it appears to be a legal assertion, does not have the force of law. This is further evidenced from its explicit description of itself as a reference point. 642 This is nevertheless of importance as it is evidence that the Commission accepts that there is a high level of protection offered by EC law. On comparison of these documents, the Manual globally provided more specifics as to how health and safety would be protected than comparable EC law. However, as this is only a manual and cannot be and is not a legally binding document, the extent to which these specifications are followed in reality cannot be affirmed in this report.

In Section 3 the issue of equality regarding physical working conditions was addressed. It was established that on a European level, equality is increasingly being viewed as a right. Accordingly, EC law has increasingly provided for equality in the workplace, but primarily regarding disabled people. There is a requirement on an employer to reasonably

⁶⁴² Manual of Standard Building Specifications, *supra* note 49, Section A. General, Preamble, p. 4.



accommodate those with disabilities to join the workforce. The test of reasonableness is in monetary terms. Interestingly, with regard to equality in general and the specific provisions on disability, the Staff Regulations have directly incorporated the measures as outlined in EC law. The only difference regarding disability is that the EU Institutions are not part of the European Employment Strategy (EES) and are therefore not encouraged to the same extent to integrate those with disabilities. In comparison to EC law, the treatment of pregnant women and women who have just given birth is largely neglected in the Staff Regulations in respect to discrimination and dismissal. In the Staff Regulations the issue is not regulated while in EC law there is a high level of protection for this category of worker. Finally in this Section it was discovered that the obligation to provide a place to worship for those with religious needs is not enshrined in EC law or the Staff Regulations. Therefore the generally anti-discriminatory provisions which are part of both EC law and the Staff Regulations are the only point of reference.

In Section 4 the functional organisation of work was the basis of the comparative study between EC law and the Staff Regulations. With regard to the organisation of working time, it was found that there is often a different approach by EC legislation and the Staff Regulations but that the ultimate result is generally the same. This is with the notable exception of the right to breaks which is missing from the Staff Regulations but present in EC legislation. On the other hand, the Staff Regulations provide more leniency than EC legislation regarding shift work and night work and they also provide the supplementary possibility of working half-time. The area of parental leave is notably more extensively addressed in the Staff Regulations than EC legislation. An interesting point is that the Staff Regulations do not provide for the protection of pregnant employees. An area where the Staff Regulations are more extensive than EC legislation is the provision of sick leave. There is no regulation of this at an EC level and it is therefore left to the Member States to govern this by national measures. The Staff Regulations however, specify the amount of days which can be taken for sick leave and the possibility of benefits in cash or benefits in kind is provided. Finally, the Staff Regulations organise annual leave differently to EC legislation but they produce the same result.



The last part of Section 4 addressed the renewal of fixed-term contracts within the frame of the functional organisation of work. This is a developing issue within Institutional law regarding the EU Institutions due to the Reiner and Adjemian cases which are currently before the Court of First Instance. The possible scope to use fixed-term contracts within the EU Institutions will be clarified by the judgment of this case which at the time of writing this paper has not yet been handed down. The EU Institutions have specific guidelines regarding the renewal of fixed-term contracts from the Staff Regulations which specifies the maximum duration of successive fixed-term contracts and therefore in this respect are in conformity with EC legislation in this area. The aforementioned cases will clarify whether the EU Institutions are justified in their use of fixed-term contracts and in clarifying the role which the principle of non-discrimination plays in this field.

The research for this report was concluded on 23 April 2009.

⁶⁴³ April 2009.

6. BIBLIOGRAPHY

- Barnard, C. (2006) *EC Employment Law* 3rd Edition, Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- Blanpain, R. (2006), *European Labour Law*10th Edition, The Hague: Kluwer Law International.
- Brun, N., (2004), 'The New Legal Framework for Equality in the European Union', *The Changing Face of European Labour Law and Social Policy* The Hague: Kluwer Law International.
- Commission Manual on Building Specifications, available at Europa website,
 Office for infrastructure and logistics in Brussels, Reference Documents. Last visited 3 April 2009: http://ec.europa.eu/oib/pdf/mit2004_en.pdf.
- Commission of the European Communities Brussels, 21 December 2006 C (2006) 6831 Memorandum to the Commission of 21 December 2006 concerning the use of teleworking the Commission services. Adoption of a new "Guidelines for the implementation of teleworking in the European Commission (Memorandum from Mr Kallas).
- Communication from the Commission to the European Parliament pursuant to the second subparagraph of Article 251 (2) of the EC Treaty concerning the common position of the Council on the adoption of a proposed Directive of the European Parliament and of the Council amending Directive 2003/88/EC concerning certain aspects of the organisation of working time, page 3. Last visited 3 April 2009: http://eur-lex.europa.eu/LexUriServ/LexUriServ.do? uri=COM:2008:0568:FIN:EN:PDF.
- Constantin, S. and Jørgensen, N, (2007) Application of European Community
 Law to (Staff Members of) The European Patent Organisation, Amsterdam
 International Law Clinic: Amsterdam.



- Craig, P. And De Búrca G, (2003) *EU Law Texts*, *Cases and Materials* 3rd *Edition*, Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- Craig, P. And De Búrca G, (2007) EU Law Texts, Cases and Materials 4th
 Edition, Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- Europa Website, Eur-lex, Council Conclusions on the follow-up to the European Year of People with Disabilities 15512/03. Last visited 3 April 2009: http://eur-lex.europa.eu/LexUriServ/LexUriServ.do?uri=CELEX:52007DC0738:EN:NOT.
- Europa Website, European Commission, Employment and Social Affairs,
 Commission's Network of legal experts in the fields of employment, social affairs and equality between men and women, Report on Pregnancy, Maternity, Parental and Paternity Rights, p. 4. Last visited April 7th 2009;
 http://ec.europa.eu/employment_social/gender_equality/legislation/report_pregnancy.pdf.
- Europa Website, European Commission; Employment, Social Affairs and Equal Opportunities, European Employment Strategy, last visited 3 April 2009 http://ec.europa.eu/social/main.jsp?catId=101&langId=en.
- Europa Website, European Commission, Employment, Social Affairs and Equal Opportunities; The EU Disability Action Plan. Last visited 3 April 2009: http://ec.europa.eu/social/main.jsp?catId=430&langId=en.
- Europa website, European Commission, Office for Infrastructure and Logistics
 Brussels, Manual of standard building specifications (2004 Edition) Version of 29
 June 2004. Last visited 3 April 2009: http://ec.europa.eu/oib/pdf/mit2004_en.pdf.
- Europa Website, European Commission, Your Europe. Citizens, Living in
 Europe: Social Security, Sickness and maternity leave, last visited April 7th 2009:
 http://ec.europa.eu/youreurope/nav/en/citizens/living/social-security/sickness/index_en.html.



- Europa Website, Press Office, Communication from the Press RAPID, Memo
 Questions and Answers Commission buildings policy. Last visited 3 April 2009:
 http://europa.eu/rapid/pressReleasesAction.do?
 reference=MEMO/07/341&format=HTML&aged=1&language=EN&guiLanguag
 e=fr.
- Europa website, Treaty of Lisbon, The Treaty at a glance, A Europe of Rights and Values: Last visited 3 April 2009: http://europa.eu/lisbon_treaty/glance/rights_values/index_en.htm.
- Kenner, J., (2003) *EU Employment Law, from Rome to Amsterdam and Beyond*, Oxford: Hart Publishing.
- The EU Lisbon Strategy for Growth and Jobs (Communication from the
 Commission to the European Council Strategic Report on the renewed Lisbon
 strategy for growth and jobs: launching the new cycle (2008 2010) COM (2007)
 803 final) last visited 3 April 2009:
 http://ec.europa.eu/growthandjobs/index_en.htm.
- Waddington, L. From Rome to Nice in a Wheelchair, The Development of a European Disability Policy, 2006, Groningen: Europa Law Publishing.
- Wells, K. (2003) 'The impact of the Framework Employment Directive on UK Disability Discrimination Law' *Industrial Law Journal*, volume 32.
- Whittle, R., (2002) 'The Framework Directive for Equal Treatment in Employment and Occupation: an analysis from a disability rights perspective', *European Law Review*.

7. TABLE OF LEGISLATION

- Charter of the Fundamental Rights of the European Union (2000/C 364/01)
 Official Journal of the European Communities C 364/1 18.12.2000.
- Communication from the Commission, Draft, Commission Decision
 Establishing a Harmonised Policy for Health and Safety at Work for all
 Commission Staff.
- Consolidated version of the Treaty on European Union PROTOCOLS -Protocol (No 7) on the privileges and immunities of the European Union, Official Journal 115, 09/05/2008 P. 0266 – 0272.
- **Council Directive 75/117/EEC** of 10 February 1975 on the approximation of the laws of the Member States relating to the application of the principle of equal pay for men and women.
- **Council Directive 76/207/EEC** of 9 February 1976 on the implementation of the principle of equal treatment for men and women as regards access to employment, vocational training and promotion, and working conditions.
- **Council Directive 77/576/EEC** of 25 July 1977 on the approximation of the laws, regulations and administrative provisions of the Member States relating to the provision of safety signs at places of work.
- **Council Directive 86/378/EEC** of 24 July 1986 on the implementation of the principle of equal treatment for men and women in occupational social security schemes.
- **Council Directive 89/391/EEC** of 12 June 1989 on the introduction of measures to encourage improvements in the safety and health of workers at work.
- **Council Directive 89/655/EEC** of 30 November 1989 concerning the minimum safety and health requirements for the use of work equipment by workers at work (second individual Directive within the meaning of Article 16 (1) of Directive 89/391/EEC).
- **Council Directive 89/656/EEC** of 30 November 1989 on the minimum health and safety requirements for the use by workers of personal protective equipment



at the workplace (third individual directive within the meaning of Article 16 (1) of Directive 89/391/EEC).

- **Council Directive 90/269/EEC** of 29 May 1990 on the minimum health and safety requirements for the manual handling of loads where there is a risk particularly of back injury to workers (fourth individual Directive within the meaning of Article 16 (1) of Directive 89/391/EEC).
- **Council Directive 90/270/EEC** of 29 May 1990 on the minimum safety and health requirements for work with display screen equipment.
- **Council Directive 92/85/EEC** of 19 October 1992 on the introduction of measures to encourage improvements in the safety and health at work of pregnant workers and workers who have recently given birth or are breastfeeding.
- **Council Directive 93/104/EC** of 23 November 1993 concerning certain aspects of the organization of working time.
- **Council Directive 96/34/EC** of 3 June 1996 on the framework agreement on parental leave concluded by UNICE, CEEP and the ETUC.
- Council Directive 97/75/EC of 15 December 1997 amending and extending, to the United Kingdom of Great Britain and Northern Ireland, Directive 96/34/EC on the framework agreement on parental leave concluded by UNICE, CEEP and the ETUC.
- **Council Directive 97/80/EC** of 15 December 1997 on the burden of proof in cases of discrimination based on sex.
- **Council Directive 97/81/EC** of 15 December 1997 concerning the Framework Agreement on part-time work concluded by UNICE, CEEP and the ETUC.
- **Council Directive 98/24/EC** of 7 April 1998 on the protection of the health and safety of workers from the risks related to chemical agents at work (fourteenth individual Directive within the meaning of Article 16(1) of Directive 89/391/EEC).
- **Council Directive 1999/70/EC** of 28 June 1999 concerning the framework agreement on fixed-term work concluded by ETUC, UNICE and CEEP.



- Commission Directive 2000/39/EC of 8 June 2000 establishing a first list of indicative occupational exposure limit values in implementation of Council Directive 98/24/EC on the protection of the health and safety of workers from the risks related to chemical agents at work.
- **Council Directive 2000/43/EC** of 29 June 2000 implementing the principle of equal treatment between persons irrespective of racial or ethnic origin.
- **Council Directive 2000/78/EC** of 27 November 2000 establishing a general framework for equal treatment in employment and occupation.
- **Directive 2002/44/EC** of the European Parliament and of the Council of 25 June 2002 on the minimum health and safety requirements regarding the exposure of workers to the risks arising from physical agents (vibration) (sixteenth individual Directive within the meaning of Article 16(1) of Directive 89/391/EEC) Joint Statement by the European Parliament and the Council.
- **Directive 2003/10/EC** of the European Parliament and of the Council of 6 February 2003 on the minimum health and safety requirements regarding the exposure of workers to the risks arising from physical agents (noise) (Seventeenth individual Directive within the meaning of Article 16(1) of Directive 89/391/EEC).
- Directive 2003/18/EC of the European Parliament and of the Council of 27
 March 2003 amending Council Directive 83/477/EEC on the
 protection of workers from the risks related to exposure to
 asbestos at work.
- **Directive 2003/88/EC** of the European Parliament and of the Council of 4 November 2003 concerning certain aspects of the organization of working time.
- **Directive 2004/40/EC** of the European Parliament and of the Council of 29 April 2004 on the minimum health and safety requirements regarding the exposure of workers to the risks arising from physical agents (electromagnetic fields) (18th individual Directive within the meaning of Article 16(1) of Directive 89/391/EEC).



- **Directive 2006/25/EC** of the European Parliament and of the Council of 5 April 2006 on the minimum health and safety requirements regarding the exposure of workers to risks arising from physical agents (artificial optical radiation) (19th individual Directive within the meaning of Article 16(1) of Directive 89/391/EEC).
- **Directive 2006**/54/EC of the European Parliament and of the Council of 5 July 2006 on the implementation of the principle of equal opportunities and equal treatment of men and women in matters of employment and occupation (recast).
- **Council Regulation** (EC, Euratom) No 420/2008 of 14 May 2008 adjusting with effect from 1 July 2007 the remuneration and pensions of officials and other servants of the European Communities.
- **European Patent Convention**, Protocol on Privileges and Immunities of the European Patent Organisation of 5 October 1973.
- Regulation No 31 (EEC), 11 (EAEC), laying down the Staff Regulations of Officials and the Conditions of Employment of Other Servants of the European Economic Community and the European Atomic Energy Community (OJ P 45, 14.6.1962, p. 1385), last amended by Council Regulation (EC, Euratom) No 420/2008 of 14 May 2008 adjusting with effect from 1 July 2007 the remuneration and pensions of officials and other servants of the European Communities.
- Treaty Establishing the European Community (25 March 1957) EU
 Consolidated Treaties, entered into force 1 January 1958.
- Treaty Establishing the European Community (consolidated version) E.
 Protocol annexed to the Treaties establishing the European Community and the European Atomic Energy Community Protocol (No 36) on the privileges and immunities of the European Communities (1965) Official Journal C 321 E , 29/12/2006 P. 0318 0324.



8. TABLE OF LEGISLATION

8. 1. European Court of Justice

- Case C-26/62, Van Gend en Loos [1963] ECR 13
- Case C-148/78, Ratti [1979] ECR 1629
- Case C-80/86, Kolpinghuis [1987] ECR 3969
- Case C-18/91 P V v Parliament [1992] ECR I-3997
- Case C-91/92, Facini Dori [1994] ECR I-3325
- Case C-450/93, Kalanke v Freie Hansetadt Bremen, ECR I-3051
- Joined Cases C-74/95 and C-129/95, Criminal Proceedings against X [1996] ECR I-6609
- Case C-409/95, Hellmut Marschall v Land Nordhein Westfalen [1997] ECR I-06363
- Case C-394/96, Brown [1998] ECR I-04185
- Case C-303/98, Simap [2000] ECR I-07963
- Case C-79/99, Schnorbus v Land Hessen [2000] ECR I-10997
- Case C-438/99, Jiménez Melgar [2001] ECR I-06915
- Case C-476/99, Lommers [2002] ECR I-02891
- Case C-49/00 Commission v Italy [2001], ECR I-08575
- Case C-109/00, Tele Danmark [2001] ECR I-06993
- Case C-455/00, Commission v Italy [2002] ECR I-9231
- Joined Cases C-397/01 to C-403/01, Pfeiffer and Others [2004] ECR I-08835
- Case C-60/02, Rolex [2004] ECR I-00651
- Case C-151/02, Jaeger [2003] ECR I-08389
- Case C-180/03 P, Latino v Commission, Order of the Court [2004] ECR I-01587
- Case C-181/03 P, Nardone v Commission [2005] ECR I-00199
- Case C-14/04, Dellas and Others [2005] ECR I-10253
- Case C-53/04, Marrosu and Sardino [2006] ECR I-07213
- Case C-144/04, Mangold [2005] ECR I-09981
- Case C-180/04 Vassallo 2006] ECR I-07251
- Case C-207/04, Vergani v Agenzia delle Entrate [2005] ECR I-07453,
- Case C-212/04, Adeneler and Others [2006] ECR I-06057
- Case C-13/05, Chacón Navas v Eurest Colectividades [2007] SA ECR I-000
- Case C-307/05, Del Cerro Alonso [2007] ECR I-07109
- Case C-268/06, Impact [2008] ECR I-02483
- Case C-460/06, Paquay [2007] ECR I-08511
- Case C-506/06, Mayr [2008] ECR I-01017



- Case F-1/05, Landgren v ETF [2001] ECR-SC I-A-000 and II-000
- Case F-28/06, Sequeira Wandschneider v Commission [2007] ECR-SC I-A-000 and II-000
- Case F-120/06, Noémi Dálnoky v Commission [2007] ECR 00000
- Case F-134/07, Adjemian e.a v Commission of the European Communities
- Case F-8/08, Reiner v Commission of the European Communities
- Case 25/68, Schertzer v Parliament [1977] ECR 1729
- Case T-45/90, Speybrouck v Parliament [1992] ECR II-33
- Case T-51/91, Hoyer v Commission [1994] ECR-SC I-A-103 and II-341
- Case T-256/01, Pyres v Commission, [2005] ECR Staff Cases I-A-23 and II-99
- Case T-10/02, Girardot v Commission [2004] ECR Staff Cases I-A-000 and II-0000
- Case T-11/03, Elizabeth Afari v European Central Bank [2004] ECR Staff Cases I-A-00065, II-00267
- Case T-394/03, Angeletti v. Commission [2006] ECR Staff Cases I-A-2-00095, II-A-2-00441
- Case T-471/04, Karatzoglou v European Agency for Reconstruction (EAR)
 [2008] ECR 00000
- Case T-80/04, Castets v Commission [2005] ECR Staff Cases I-A-00161, II-00729
- Case T-368/04, Verheyden v Commission [2007] ECR 00000

8. 2. European Court of Human Rights

• Ahmad v United Kingdom (1982) 4 EHRR 126

8. 3. Administrative Tribunal of the International Labour Organisation (ILOAT)

- Mr. J.M.W. (No 14) v. EPO, ILOAT, Judgment No. 2292
- Mr. J.M.W. v. EPO, ILOAT, Judgment No. 2237
- Miss E.E. H. (No 4) v. EPO, ILOAT, Judgment No. 2236





ANNEX I: A BRIEF ANALYSIS OF ARTICLE 1E (2) OF THE EU STAFF REGULATIONS

The purpose of this Section is to *briefly* address the meaning of Article 1(e) (2) of the EU Staff Regulations and the analysis is by no means exhaustive.⁶⁴⁴

On the face of the wording of this Article, it is unclear whether it is meant to apply to all relevant EC legislation, especially when there is a higher level of protection for officials. Article 1(e), paragraph 2 of the Staff Regulations reads as follows:

"Officials in active employment shall be accorded working conditions complying with appropriate health and safety standards *at least equivalent* to the minimum requirements *applicable* under measures adopted in these areas pursuant to the Treaties."

The words "at least equivalent" mean that officials should be afforded the same or higher protection than that which is afforded by "minimum requirements *applicable* under measures adopted in health and safety pursuant to Treaties" [emphasis added]. However, it is uncertain what is the meaning of word 'applicable' within the meaning of this sentence. The Article itself does not provide for any further clarification of this matter. In such a case the *travaux préparatoires* of the Staff Regulations need to be explored in order to attain further understanding of what the drafters of the Article intended. However, at the time of writing this report, these documents were not available to the Amsterdam International Law Clinic; therefore this step could not be undertaken.

More specifically, the wording of this Article raises two issues. First, "the minimum requirements applicable under measures adopted in these areas pursuant to Treaties" is unclear. Second, it is uncertain when "the minimum requirements" should be applicable. Possibly, it is when the Staff Regulations are not in conformity with "the minimum requirements" and where minimal requirements offer a better standard of protection. In

⁶⁴⁴ This section has been written following the direct request of the SUEPO. The purpose is to summarise points which arose during the conversation which took place during a meeting in the European Patent Office in The Hague concerning Article 1(e) (2).

⁶⁴⁵ Staff Regulations, *supra* note 11, Article 1 (e) (2), *emphasis added*.



such a situation, however, "the minimum requirements applicable under measures adopted in these areas pursuant to Treaties" could be perceived as a superior source of law to the Staff Regulations. In regard to conflicts concerning human rights norms, the interpretation which more favourably protects interests would normally be held to apply. At least derogation to the detriment of the beneficiaries would appear to be precluded. 646

The second alternative would be to give the minimum requirements a supplementary position to the Staff Regulations. Therefore "the minimum requirements" mentioned by Article 1(e) (2) would act as a gap-filler when the Staff Regulations fail to address a specific issue.

The third way to identify "applicable minimum standards", as mentioned by this Article, is to explore the procedure adopted by the EU Civil Servants' Tribunal and its jurisprudence. It is important to establish whether this Court allows for the adoption of elements or judgements of other jurisdictions, in particular, the principles of *jus cogens* and international customary law or judgements of the European Court of Human Rights. Even if the EPO is not a party to human rights treaties, ⁶⁴⁷ the Organisation is bound to the extent to which such rights constitute customary international law. ⁶⁴⁸ It is possible to argue that the EC Treaty and the European Convention on Human Rights (ECHR) together constitute customary international law on a regional level in Europe. ⁶⁴⁹

⁶⁴⁶ *See* Fragmentation of International Law: Difficulties Arising from the Diversification and Expansion of International Law, Report of the Study Group of the international Law Commission at its 58th Session (finalized by M. Koskenniemi), para. 108, A/CN.4/L.682, April 13, 2006, *available at:* http://daccessdds.un.org/doc/UNDOC/LTD/G06/610/77/PDF/G0661077.pdf?OpenElement (last visited 24 March 2009) [footnote omitted]; Constantin, S. & Jørgensen, N. N., *supra* note 10, p. 28.

⁶⁴⁷ See Mr. J.M.W. (No 14) v. EPO, ILOAT, Judgment No. 2292, available at: http://www.ilo.org/public/english/tribunal/fulltext/2292.htm (last visited 10 April 2009): "The EPO notes that it is not a party to the European Convention on Human Rights, so that it is doubtful whether that Convention is directly applicable to it."; Mr. J.M.W. v. EPO, ILOAT, Judgment No. 2237, available at: http://www.ilo.org/public/english/tribunal/fulltext/2237.htm (last visited 10 April 2009): in its reply, the EPO "rejects the complainant's arguments resting on the European Convention on Human Rights. The EPO is not bound by the Convention or any protocol thereto."; Miss E.E. H. (No 4) v. EPO, ILOAT, Judgment No. 2236, available at: http://www.ilo.org/public/english/tribunal/fulltext/2236.htm (last visited 10 April 2009). See also Constantin, S. & Jørgensen, N. N., supra note 10.

⁶⁴⁸ The applicability of human rights to the EPO is supported by the Organisation itself. In the case of Mr. J.M.W. v. EPO, "it points out that the Administrative Council adopted a declaration in 1994 whereby the Office undertakes to abide by general legal principles, including those concerning human rights." Mr. J.M.W. (No. 14) v. EPO, Constantin, S. & Jørgensen, N. N., *supra* note 10. ⁶⁴⁹ *Ibid.* p. 26.



The fourth, and more controversial interpretation, is the possibility of application of EC legislation and the findings of the European Court of Justice and the European Court of Human Rights by the Civil Servants' Tribunal in matters which are not covered by the Staff Regulations. Previous jurisprudence of the Civil Servants' Tribunal would have to be examined in order to establish whether there is such a tendency. The latter could arguably be seen as a logical step since the European Patent Organisation (EPO) is a European institution on the European territory, ⁶⁵⁰ and therefore, it could be reasoned, subject to regional customary law built up by a combination of EC legislation and the European Court of Human Rights jurisprudence. ⁶⁵¹

The applicability of the domestic law of EC Member States should be examined as well. For this topic, reference may be had to a previous report by the Amsterdam International Law Clinic report concerning the applicability of European Community Law to the European Patent Office.⁶⁵²

⁶⁵⁰ *Ibid.*, p. 25.

⁶⁵¹ See, e.g., E.T. Swaine, Rational Custom, 52 DUKE L.J. 559, 622 (2002) (defining regional customary international law as "custom forged between a small number of relatively homogenous states, binding among them only"). See also Right of Passage Over Indian Territory, (Portugal v. India) 1960 I.C.J. 39.See also *ibid.*, p. 26.

⁶⁵² Ibid